Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: October 18, 2021 REVISED: February 28, 2022 ACCEPTED: March 15, 2022 PUBLISHED: April 1, 2022

# Systematics of type IIB moduli stabilisation with odd axions

Michele Cicoli,<sup>*a,b*</sup> Andreas Schachner<sup>*c*</sup> and Pramod Shukla<sup>*d*</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Dipartimento di Fisica e Astronomia, Università di Bologna, via Irnerio 46, 40126 Bologna, Italy

- viale Berti Pichat 6/2, 40127 Bologna, Italy
- <sup>c</sup>Department of Applied Mathematics and Theoretical Physics, Centre for Mathematical Sciences, Wilberforce Road, Cambridge, CB3 0WA, U.K.

<sup>d</sup>Abdus Salam International Centre for Theoretical Physics, Strada Costiera 11, Trieste 34151, Italy E-mail: michele.cicoli@unibo.it, as2673@maths.cam.ac.uk,

pramodmaths@gmail.com

ABSTRACT: Moduli stabilisation in superstring compactifications on Calabi-Yau orientifolds remains a key challenge in the search for realistic string vacua. In particular, odd moduli arising from the reduction of 2-forms  $(B_2, C_2)$  in type IIB are largely unexplored despite their relevance for inflationary model building. This article provides novel insights into the general structure of 4D  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  *F*-term scalar potentials at higher orders in the  $\alpha'$  and  $g_s$  expansion for arbitrary Hodge numbers. We systematically examine superpotential contributions with distinct moduli dependences which are induced by fluxes or non-perturbative effects. Initially, we prove the existence of a no-scale structure for odd moduli in the presence of  $(\alpha')^3$  corrections to the Kähler potential. By studying a partially  $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ -completed form of the Kähler potential, we derive the exact no-scale breaking effects at the closed string 1-loop and non-perturbative D-instanton level. These observations allow us to present rigorous expressions for the *F*-term scalar potential applicable to arbitrary numbers of moduli in type IIB Calabi-Yau orientifold compactifications. Finally, we compute the Hessian for odd moduli and discuss potential phenomenological implications.

**KEYWORDS:** Flux Compactifications, Superstring Vacua

ARXIV EPRINT: 2109.14624





<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup>INFN, Sezione di Bologna,

## Contents

1	Introduction	2
<b>2</b>	Preliminaries	4
3	No-scale properties, odd moduli and $lpha'$ corrections	6
	3.1 Exact inverse Kähler metrics at order $(\alpha')^3$	7
	3.2 No-scale structure and useful identities	10
	3.3 No-scale breaking effects from $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ invariance	11
4	Expressions for $\alpha'$ - and $g_s$ -corrected F-term scalar potentials	15
	4.1 Three master formulae for general CY orientifold compactifications	15
	4.2 Supersymmetric moduli stabilisation	18
	4.3 Non-supersymmetric moduli stabilisation	20
5	Analysing the scalar potential for $W = W(U^i, S)$	22
	5.1 An apparent mismatch in the standard approach	23
	5.2 BBHL-corrected flux scalar potential	26
	5.3 Axio-dilaton mass splitting via the BBHL correction	28
6	Analysing the scalar potential for $W = W(U^i, S, T_{lpha})$	30
	6.1 General remarks on moduli stabilisation	30
	6.2 Non-perturbative superpotentials	32
	6.3 A tree level superpotential from the non-geometric fluxes	34
	6.4 Tachyons in SUSY and non-SUSY odd moduli stabilisation	35
7	Analysing the scalar potential for $W = W(U^i, S, T_{lpha}, G^a)$	38
	7.1 Geometric flux superpotential	39
	7.2 D5-brane gaugino condensates	41
	7.3 Fluxed E3-instanton superpotential	43
8	Phenomenological implications	44
9	Conclusions and future directions	45
$\mathbf{A}$	Useful relations for intermediate computations	47

## 1 Introduction

The landscape of string vacua encompasses an immensely rich and diverse structure of Effective Field Theories (EFTs) arising from compactifications of critical superstring theory. It is the result of a plethora of degeneracies involved in choosing compact geometries and suitable backgrounds of generalised electromagnetic fluxes, D-branes and O-planes. In recent years, investigations into the properties of EFTs from string compactifications have brought enormous advances in our capacity to engineer realistic string models. However, it is widely known that achieving arbitrary good control over quantum corrections in string theory is impossible due to the absence of freely tunable parameters. This is the so-called Dine-Seiberg problem [1] which complicates the construction of fully trustable string vacua. Although it is an unavoidable string theory condition, computational control is fortunately attainable through the presence of extra parameters such as the plenty of integer fluxes and ranks of condensing gauge groups. Notwithstanding, a major challenge continues to be a unifying framework for stabilising moduli in well-controlled de Sitter minima.<sup>1</sup>

In this context, we provide innovative methods to computing F-term scalar potentials for type IIB orientifold compactifications with  $h_{-}^{1,1} \neq 0$  signalling the presence of odd moduli  $G^a$ . To this day, they remain largely unexplored as compared to the simpler set-ups with  $h_{-}^{1,1} = 0$  such as KKLT [4], LVS [5] and their plethora of variants. Notwithstanding, these moduli are ubiquitous in the string landscape and play a prominent role in the context of axion monodromy [6, 7]. Over the years, aspects of moduli stabilisation and inflationary model building have for instance been discussed in [7–18]. Similarly, explicit constructions including orientifold-odd 2-cycles in concrete Calabi-Yau (CY) threefolds are available in the literature [19–24]. In addition, odd moduli appear in the tree-level superpotential from generalised flux in (non-)geometric set-ups as analysed in [25–35].

This paper concerns a systematic treatment of the  $(\alpha')^3$ -corrected *F*-term scalar potential in 4D  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  supergravity (SUGRA) theories obtained from general type IIB CY orientifold compactifications. We begin our endeavours by computing exact expressions for derivatives of the Kähler potential for complex structure moduli  $U^i$ , axio-dilaton *S*, Kähler (or even) moduli  $T_{\alpha}$  and odd moduli  $G^a = c^a + Sb^a$  in terms of the NS-NS  $B_2$ -axions  $b^a$ and R-R  $C_2$ -axions  $c^a$ . In particular, we prove explicitly that the no-scale identity<sup>2</sup>

$$K_A K^{AB} K_{\overline{B}} = 4, \quad A, B \in \{S, T_\alpha, G^a\}$$

$$(1.1)$$

holds for the  $(\alpha')^3$ -corrected Kähler potential derived by BBHL [38]. This can be anticipated from homogeneity arguments which hold not only at tree level [42], but also in the presence of tree level  $(\alpha')^3$  corrections, while being broken at higher order in the loop expansion. Indeed, we derive the precise coefficient from the breaking of the above no-scale result from a partially SL(2, Z)-completed Kähler potential depending on the non-holomorphic Eisenstein series of weight 3/2. In this way, we are able to write down the exact *F*-term scalar potential including closed string loop and non-perturbative D-instanton corrections.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>See also [2, 3] for recent swampland conjectures.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>This identity was observed at tree level in [36] for  $A, B \in \{S, T_{\alpha}, G^a\}$ , but already in [37–41] for models without odd moduli.

Our results lead us to the general master formula for the  $(\alpha')^3$ -corrected  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  F-term scalar potential

$$V = V_{\rm cs} + e^{\mathcal{K}} \left( |W|^2 + W_A \, K^{A\overline{B}} \, \overline{W}_{\overline{B}} + \sum_{A \in \{S, G^a, T_\alpha\}} (A - \overline{A}) \, (W \, \overline{W}_{\overline{A}} - \overline{W} \, W_A) \right)$$
(1.2)

where  $A, B \in \{S, G^a, T_\alpha\}$  and where all quantities are known exactly without resorting to any approximation in a large volume or small coupling expansion in 4D. This form of the scalar potential is well suited for investigating moduli stabilisation aspects in (non-)SUSY (A)dS<sub>4</sub> minima in the presence of odd moduli. We illustrate its usefulness by analysing a variety of superpotentials.

We begin with the simplest models with superpotentials  $W = W(U^i, S)$  induced by 3-form fluxes [37, 43] for arbitrary numbers of  $(U^i, T_\alpha, G^a)$  moduli. Here, we show explicitly that the shift symmetry of NS-NS axions  $b^a$  remains intact even after including the BBHL correction, due to an exact cancellation of terms at sub-leading order in the volume. This is clearly expected given that shift symmetries are protected against perturbative corrections which makes them sensitive to non-perturbative effects only. However, whenever the supersymmetric stabilisation of the axio-dilaton is enforced by hand, terms of the form  $(t^\alpha b^a b^b)^2 / \mathcal{V}^4$  remain as traces in the effective scalar potential as observed e.g. in [11, 16]. Although such pieces usually get nullified at the minimum  $\langle b^a \rangle = 0$ , they are potentially misleading when studying fluctuations around the minimum such as in inflationary model building. We argue that, in the presence of odd moduli, the stabilisation of the axio-dilaton and the complex structure moduli  $U^i$  should be treated together with the  $T_\alpha$  and  $G^a$ , especially since odd moduli may have masses heavier than the overall volume modulus [13].

As another direct application of our results, we examine superpotentials of the form  $W = W(U^i, S, T_\alpha)$  which are commonly studied in the context of even-sector moduli stabilisation with  $h_{-}^{1,1} = 0$ . Due to the way the chiral fields  $T_\alpha$  and  $G^a$  are coupled in the Kähler potential, the  $B_2$ -axions  $b^a$  receive a potential, while the  $C_2$ -axions  $c^a$  remain flat. In this context, we explicitly compute the exact Hessian for  $b^a$  axions and general superpotentials  $W(U^i, S, T_\alpha)$ . At SUSY AdS<sub>4</sub> minima,  $h_{-}^{1,1}$  tachyons arise due to the unfixed axionic superpartners  $c^a$ , thereby reproducing the results of [44]. Further, we derive the Hessian for non-SUSY vacua from non-perturbative D3/D7-brane superpotentials where the presence and number of tachyons can be identified directly from properties of the model dependent triple intersection numbers.

Lastly, we discuss superpotentials with explicit  $G^a$  dependences which induce a potential for the R-R axions  $c^a$ . We provide explicit formulae for the scalar potential from D5-brane gaugino condensation [45, 46] as well as geometric fluxes [25–30]. These results will lead to novel insights into full moduli stabilisation in  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  CY orientifold compactifications. Indeed, previous investigations for set-ups with  $h_{-}^{1,1} = 0$  in [47] already obtained hybrid vacua sharing certain characteristics with KKLT and LVS type solutions. Given that cases with  $h_{-}^{1,1} \neq 0$  introduce additional axionic modulations to the potential, our systematic framework gives rise to a much richer structure of string vacua which are highly attractive for phenomenological model building. This paper is organised as follows. After defining our conventions in section 2, we analyse the Kähler potential and its derivatives in section 3. The main results of this paper are the three master formulae for the *F*-term scalar potential which are derived in section 4. The remainder of the paper is devoted to successively including more and more moduli couplings in the superpotential and applying the aforementioned formulae for advancing our ability to stabilise moduli. We begin with the simple scenario of superpotentials induced by 3-form flux in section 5. Subsequently, section 6 provides an extensive analysis for  $T_{\alpha}$ dependent superpotentials where the scalar potential develops a dependence on the NS-NS axions  $b^a$ . To generate a scalar potential for R-R axions  $c^a$ , we study superpotentials depending on odd moduli  $G^a$  in section 7. Lastly, we briefly comment on phenomenological implications in section 8 before summarising our results in section 9.

## 2 Preliminaries

We focus on type IIB string theory compactified on CY threefolds  $X_3$  which gives rise to  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  SUGRA theories in 4D. Including D-branes and O-planes reduces the supersymmetry of the EFTs to  $\mathcal{N} = 1$ , see e.g. [42] for details. The massless states in the 4D effective theory are in one-to-one correspondence with harmonic forms which are either even or odd under the action of an isometric, holomorphic involution  $\sigma$  acting on the internal CY threefold  $X_3$ , thereby generating the equivariant cohomology groups  $H^{p,q}_+(X_3)$ .

We denote the bases of even/odd 2-forms as  $(\mu_{\alpha}, \nu_{a})$  and of 4-forms as  $(\tilde{\mu}_{\alpha}, \tilde{\nu}_{a})$  where  $\alpha \in h^{1,1}_{+}(X_{3})$  and  $a \in h^{1,1}_{-}(X_{3})$ . In addition, the bases for the even/odd cohomologies of 3-forms  $H^{3}_{\pm}(X_{3})$  are denoted as the symplectic pairs  $(a_{K}, b^{J})$  and  $(\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}, \mathcal{B}^{\Delta})$  respectively. Using the conventions of [26], we fix the normalisation in the various cohomology bases as

$$\int_{X_3} \mu_{\alpha} \wedge \mu_{\beta} \wedge \mu_{\gamma} = k_{\alpha\beta\gamma}, \qquad \int_{X_3} \mu_{\alpha} \wedge \nu_a \wedge \nu_b = \hat{k}_{\alpha ab}, 
\int_{X_3} \mu_{\alpha} \wedge \tilde{\mu}^{\beta} = \delta_{\alpha}^{\ \beta}, \qquad \int_{X_3} \nu_a \wedge \tilde{\nu}^b = \delta_a^{\ b}, \qquad (2.1) 
\int_{X_3} a_K \wedge b^J = \delta_K^{\ J}, \qquad \int_{X_3} \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda} \wedge \mathcal{B}^{\Delta} = \delta_{\Lambda}^{\ \Delta}.$$

Here, depending on the orientifold choice, we have two possibilities:

- O3/O7-planes:  $K \in \{1, \dots, h^{2,1}_+(X_3)\}$  and  $\Lambda \in \{0, \dots, h^{2,1}_-(X_3)\},\$
- O5/O9-planes:  $K \in \{0, \dots, h^{2,1}_+(X_3)\}$  and  $\Lambda \in \{1, \dots, h^{2,1}_-(X_3)\}.$

Now, the various *p*-form fields can be expanded in appropriate bases of the equivariant cohomologies. Specifically, the Kähler form J, the 2-forms<sup>3</sup>  $B_2$ ,  $C_2$  and the R-R 4-form  $C_4$  can be expanded as [36]

$$J = t^{\alpha} \mu_{\alpha}, \quad B_2 = b^a \nu_a, \quad C_2 = c^a \nu_a,$$
  
$$C_4 = \rho_{\alpha} \tilde{\mu}^{\alpha} + V^K \wedge a_K - V_K \wedge b^K + D_2^{\alpha} \wedge \mu_{\alpha}, \qquad (2.2)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Note that the even component of the Kalb-Ramond field  $B_+ = b^{\alpha} \mu_{\alpha}$ , though not a continuous modulus, can take the two discrete values  $b^{\alpha} \in \{0, 1/2\}$ .

where  $t^{\alpha}$  denotes the 2-cycle volume moduli and  $b^{a}$ ,  $c^{a}$ ,  $\rho_{\alpha}$  are various axions which inherit their shift symmetry from 10D *p*-form gauge symmetries. Further,  $(V^{K}, V_{K})$  forms a dual pair of space-time 1-forms and  $D_{2}^{\alpha}$  are space-time 2-forms dual to the scalars  $\rho_{\alpha}$ . Due to the self-duality of  $C_{4}$ , half of the degrees of freedom of  $C_{4}$  are removed.

Further, since  $\sigma^*$  reflects the holomorphic three-form  $\Omega_3$ , there are  $h_{-}^{2,1}(X_3)$  complex structure deformations parametrised by complex moduli  $U^i$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, h_{-}^{2,1}$ . In fact, the three-form  $\Omega_3$  can be written as

$$\Omega_3 \equiv \mathcal{X}^\Lambda \,\mathcal{A}_\Lambda - \,\mathcal{F}_\Lambda \,\mathcal{B}^\Lambda \tag{2.3}$$

where the periods  $\mathcal{X}^{\lambda}$ ,  $\mathcal{F}_{\lambda}$  are obtained from

$$\mathcal{X}^{\Lambda} = \int_{X_3} \Omega_3 \wedge \mathcal{B}^{\Lambda}, \quad \mathcal{F}_{\Lambda} = \int_{X_3} \Omega_3 \wedge \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}.$$
(2.4)

Since the complex structure moduli space is equipped with a special Kähler structure, we can compute Kähler and superpotential from a pre-potential  $\mathcal{F} = (\mathcal{X}^0)^2 f(\mathcal{X}^i)$ , cf. section 3.1.

Apart from the complex structure moduli, the spectrum of the 4D N = 1 effective theory is encoded in the chiral variables  $(U^i, S, G^a, T_\alpha)$  defined as [25],

$$U^{i} = v^{i} + i u^{i}, \qquad S = C_{0} + i e^{-\phi} = c_{0} + i s,$$
  

$$G^{a} = c^{a} + S b^{a}, \qquad T_{\alpha} = \left(\rho_{\alpha} + \hat{k}_{\alpha a b} c^{a} b^{b} + \frac{1}{2} S \hat{k}_{\alpha a b} b^{a} b^{b}\right) - \frac{i}{2} k_{\alpha \beta \gamma} t^{\beta} t^{\gamma}. \qquad (2.5)$$

It will be convenient to also define

$$\hat{c}^{a} = c^{a} + c_{0} b^{a} ,$$

$$\tilde{\rho}_{\alpha} = \rho_{\alpha} + \hat{k}_{\alpha a b} c^{a} b^{b} + \frac{1}{2} c_{0} \hat{k}_{\alpha a b} b^{a} b^{b} , \quad \sigma_{\alpha} = -\frac{1}{2} s \hat{k}_{\alpha a b} b^{a} b^{b} + \frac{1}{2} k_{\alpha \beta \gamma} t^{\beta} t^{\gamma}$$
(2.6)

so that

$$G^a = \hat{c}^a + isb^a$$
,  $T_\alpha = \tilde{\rho}_\alpha - i\sigma_\alpha$ . (2.7)

The sign in front of  $\sigma_{\alpha}$  arises from the way the chiral variables  $T_{\alpha}$  are defined in eq. (2.5) which follows from consistently fixing the signs in various coordinates in a manifestly *T*-dual manner [35].

The  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  *F*-term scalar potential is determined from the Kähler potential  $\mathcal{K}$  and superpotential *W* via

$$V = e^{\mathcal{K}} \left( \mathcal{K}^{\mathcal{A}\bar{\mathcal{B}}} D_{\mathcal{A}} W \,\overline{D}_{\overline{\mathcal{B}}} \overline{W} - 3 \,|W|^2 \right), \quad D_{\mathcal{A}} W = \partial_{\mathcal{A}} W + \mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{A}} \,W, \tag{2.8}$$

where the covariant derivatives are defined with respect to all the chiral variables  $\mathcal{A} \in \{U^i, S, T_\alpha, G^a\}$ . At the perturbative level, the Kähler potential receives corrections from the  $\alpha'$  and string-loop  $(g_s)$  expansion. Using appropriate chiral variables and the leading order  $\alpha'$  corrections of [38], the Kähler potential splits in two pieces from their underlying  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  special Kähler and quaternionic structure such that

$$\mathcal{K} = \mathbb{K}(U^i, \overline{U}^i) + K(S, G^a, T_\alpha; \overline{S}, \overline{G}^a, \overline{T}_\alpha)$$
(2.9)

where

$$\mathbb{K}(U^{i},\overline{U}^{i}) = -\ln\left(i\int_{X}\Omega_{3}\wedge\overline{\Omega}_{3}\right) = -\ln\left[i\left(\overline{\mathcal{X}}^{\Lambda}\mathcal{F}_{\Lambda}-\mathcal{X}^{\Lambda}\overline{\mathcal{F}}_{\Lambda}\right)\right],\qquad(2.10)$$

$$K(S, G^{a}, T_{\alpha}; \overline{S}, \overline{G}^{a}, \overline{T}_{\alpha}) = -\ln\left(-i(S - \overline{S})\right) - 2\ln\mathcal{Y}.$$
(2.11)

Here,  $\mathcal{Y}$  denotes the  $\alpha'$ -corrected volume of the CY threefold [38],

$$\mathcal{Y}(S, G^{a}, T_{\alpha}; \overline{S}, \overline{G}^{a}, \overline{T}_{\alpha}) \equiv \mathcal{V} + \frac{\xi}{2} \left(\frac{S - \overline{S}}{2i}\right)^{3/2}$$

$$= \frac{1}{6} k_{\alpha\beta\gamma} t^{\alpha} t^{\beta} t^{\gamma} + \frac{\xi}{2} \left(\frac{S - \overline{S}}{2i}\right)^{3/2}, \quad \xi = -\frac{\zeta(3) \chi(X_{3})}{2(2\pi)^{3}},$$
(2.12)

where the 2-cycle moduli  $t^{\alpha}$  are implicitly functions of all the complexified chiral variables  $S, G^a$  and  $T_{\alpha}$  and their complex conjugates. In the absence of any open-string moduli, the additive structure within the Kähler potential (2.9) results in the block-diagonal nature of the Kähler metric, and its inverse.

Throughout this paper, we investigate scalar potentials for a great variety of superpotential couplings. A prominent example for non-trivial 3-form flux backgrounds is the tree level Gukov-Vafa-Witten (GVW) flux superpotential [37, 43]

$$W_0(U^i, S) = \int_X (F_3 + S H_3) \wedge \Omega_3 = e_\Lambda \mathcal{X}^\Lambda + m^\Lambda \mathcal{F}_\Lambda.$$
(2.13)

Here the periods are defined in (2.4) and the components of the symplectic vectors  $e_{\Lambda}$  and  $m^{\Lambda}$  are

$$e_{\Lambda} = (F_{\Lambda} + S H_{\Lambda}) , \quad m^{\Lambda} = (F^{\Lambda} + S H^{\Lambda}) , \qquad (2.14)$$

where the fluxes are obtained from integrals over 3-cycles, i.e.,  $F_{\Lambda} = \int_{X_3} F_3 \wedge \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}$  etc. Beyond 3-form fluxes, W is protected against perturbative corrections by non-renormalisation theorems [48–51]. However, there can be other terms in the superpotential induced by non-perturbative effects [52] or (non-)geometric fluxes [25–35, 53–57]. For example, nonperturbative contributions can arise from Euclidean D3-instantons [52] or gaugino condensations effects on stacks of D7-branes [58–60] wrapping suitable 4-cycles. Introducing fluxes on top of these corrections gives rise to "fluxed-instantons" or magnetised gaugino condensation effects with a more intricate moduli dependence [46]. We are going to study these choices of superpotentials in more detail throughout the paper.

## 3 No-scale properties, odd moduli and $\alpha'$ corrections

In this section, we derive exact expressions for the Kähler metric in the presence of  $(\alpha')^3$  corrections [38]. We show that certain tree level identities hold even at this order in  $\alpha'$ . Beyond that, we argue that they are broken once 1-loop and D-instanton effects are taken into account. These results will be applied in the subsequent section to deriving master formulae for  $(\alpha')^3$ -corrected *F*-term scalar potentials.

## **3.1** Exact inverse Kähler metrics at order $(\alpha')^3$

Given that the full Kähler potential  $\mathcal{K}$  in (2.9) contains two decoupled pieces with  $\mathbb{K}$  depending only on the complex-structure moduli  $U^i$ , and K on all other moduli  $S, G^a$  and  $T_{\alpha}$ , one arrives at a block-diagonal structure for the inverse Kähler metric,

$$\mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{A}\overline{\mathcal{B}}} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{K}_{i\overline{j}} & \mathcal{O} \\ \\ \mathcal{O} & K_{A\overline{B}} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \mathcal{K}^{\mathcal{A}\overline{\mathcal{B}}} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{K}^{i\overline{j}} & \mathcal{O} \\ \\ \mathcal{O} & K^{A\overline{B}} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(3.1)

In the remainder of this subsection, we compute exact expressions for the inverse metric in set-ups with arbitrary Hodge numbers  $h^{p,q}_{\pm}$ . They are subsequently utilised to compute identities for  $K_A K^{A\overline{B}}$  and  $K_A K^{A\overline{B}} K_{\overline{B}}$  that dramatically facilitate the computation of *F*-term scalar potentials in section 4.1.

**Complex structure moduli sector.** Let us first consider the complex structure moduli sector where the periods (2.4) can be computed from solving Picard-Fuchs equations [61–63] or using asymptotic Hodge theory [64]. Throughout this paper, we restrict to the large complex structure regime where the pre-potential is given by [62, 65, 66],

$$\mathcal{F} = \frac{l_{ijk} \,\mathcal{X}^i \,\mathcal{X}^j \,\mathcal{X}^k}{6 \,\mathcal{X}^0} + \frac{1}{2} \,p_{ij} \,\mathcal{X}^i \,\mathcal{X}^j + \,p_i \,\mathcal{X}^0 \,\mathcal{X}^i + \frac{i}{2} \,\tilde{\xi} \,(\mathcal{X}^0)^2 + (\mathcal{X}^0)^2 \,\mathcal{F}_{\text{inst}} \,. \tag{3.2}$$

This is a homogeneous function of degree two in the symplectic coordinates  $\mathcal{X}^{\Lambda}$ , and one can use  $\mathcal{X}^0 = 1$  and  $\mathcal{X}^i = U^i$  to write it in terms of the non-homogeneous complex variables  $U^i$ . Further, the parameters  $l_{ijk}$  are the triple intersection numbers on the mirror threefold  $\tilde{X}_3$  which, along with the other real parameters, are defined as [67, 68]

$$l_{ijk} = \int_{\tilde{X}_3} J_i \wedge J_j \wedge J_k , \qquad p_{ij} = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\tilde{X}_3} J_i \wedge J_j \wedge J_j \mod \mathbb{Z} ,$$
  
$$p_j = \frac{1}{4 \, 3!} \int_{\tilde{X}_3} c_2(\tilde{X}_3) \wedge J_j , \qquad \tilde{\xi} = -\frac{\zeta(3) \, \chi(\tilde{X}_3)}{(2 \, \pi)^3} . \qquad (3.3)$$

Let us note that  $\tilde{\xi} = -2\xi$  as the Euler characteristics satisfy  $\chi(\tilde{X}_3) = -\chi(X_3)$ . Finally, the string worldsheet corrections on the mirror dual side give rise to [62, 66]

$$\mathcal{F}_{\text{inst}}(U^i) = \sum_{\beta \in H_2^-(\tilde{X}_3, \mathbb{Z}) \setminus \{0\}} n_\beta \operatorname{Li}_3(q^\beta), \quad \operatorname{Li}_3(x) = \sum_{m=1}^\infty \frac{x^m}{m^3}, \quad q^\beta = e^{2\pi i d_i U^i}$$
(3.4)

in terms of Gopakumar-Vafa invariants  $n_{\beta}$  [69, 70] which naively count the number of rational (oriented) curves  $\Sigma_g$  of genus g and of class  $\beta = d_i \beta^i$  that can be holomorphically mapped into  $\tilde{X}_3$ . Now, the first derivatives of the prepotential  $\mathcal{F}$  are given by

$$\mathcal{F}_{0} = -\frac{1}{6} l_{ijk} U^{i} U^{j} U^{k} + p_{i} U^{i} + i \tilde{\xi} + \left( 2 \mathcal{F}_{inst} - U^{i} \partial_{i} \mathcal{F}_{inst} \right), \qquad (3.5)$$
$$\mathcal{F}_{i} = \frac{1}{2} l_{ijk} U^{j} U^{k} + p_{ij} U^{j} + p_{i} + (\partial_{i} \mathcal{F}_{inst})$$

For simplicity, we ignore  $\mathcal{F}_{inst}$  in the subsequent analysis which we will explore in the future.

Now using (2.10), the complex structure moduli dependent part of the Kähler potential is simplified as,

$$\mathbb{K} = -\ln\left[-\frac{i}{6}l_{ijk}\left(U^{i}-\overline{U}^{i}\right)\left(U^{j}-\overline{U}^{j}\right)\left(U^{k}-\overline{U}^{k}\right)-2\,\tilde{\xi}\right].$$
(3.6)

Further, we define  $U^i = v^i + i u^i$  so that

$$\mathbb{K}_{i} = \frac{3 \, i \, l_{i}}{2 \, l + 3 \, \tilde{\xi}}, \qquad \mathbb{K}_{i\bar{j}} = \frac{9}{(2 \, l + 3 \, \tilde{\xi})^{2}} \left( l_{i} \, l_{j} - \frac{2 \, l + 3 \, \tilde{\xi}}{3} \, l_{ij} \right) \tag{3.7}$$

in terms of the short hand notations

$$l = l_{ijk} u^{i} u^{j} u^{k}, \quad l_{i} = l_{ijk} u^{j} u^{k}, \quad l_{ij} = l_{ijk} u^{k}, \quad l^{ik} l_{k} = u^{i}.$$
(3.8)

The inverse Kähler metric is thus given by

$$\mathbb{K}^{i\overline{j}} = \frac{2l+3\tilde{\xi}}{l-3\tilde{\xi}} \left( u^i u^j - \frac{l-3\tilde{\xi}}{3} l^{ij} \right).$$
(3.9)

Note that the setting  $\tilde{\xi} = 0$  leads to the following expressions arising from the classical triple intersection number  $l_{ijk}$  on the mirror CY threefold,

$$\mathbb{K}_{i} = \frac{3 \, i \, l_{i}}{2 \, l}, \qquad \mathbb{K}_{i\bar{j}} = \frac{9}{4 \, l^{2}} \left( l_{i} \, l_{j} - \frac{2 \, l}{3} \, l_{ij} \right), \qquad \mathbb{K}^{i\bar{j}} = 2 \, u^{i} \, u^{j} - \frac{2 \, l}{3} \, l^{ij}, \qquad (3.10)$$

which matches with the standard result for the CY threefold where  $l \to 6\mathcal{V}$  on the mirror Kähler sector. Finally, one obtains the following useful identities

$$\mathbb{K}_{i}\mathbb{K}^{i\overline{j}} = i\frac{2l+3\tilde{\xi}}{l-3\tilde{\xi}}u^{j} = -\mathbb{K}^{j\overline{i}}\mathbb{K}_{\overline{i}}, \quad \mathbb{K}_{i}\mathbb{K}^{i\overline{j}}\mathbb{K}_{\overline{j}} = 3 + \frac{9\tilde{\xi}}{l-3\tilde{\xi}}.$$
(3.11)

This shows that in the absence of perturbative effects on the mirror-side, these identities reduce to the following simpler forms,

$$\mathbb{K}_{i}\mathbb{K}^{i\overline{j}} = 2\,i\,u^{j} = (U - \overline{U})^{j} = -\,\mathbb{K}^{j\overline{i}}\mathbb{K}_{\overline{i}}, \quad \mathbb{K}_{i}\mathbb{K}^{i\overline{j}}\mathbb{K}_{\overline{j}} = 3\,.$$
(3.12)

The breaking of the no-scale identity  $\mathbb{K}_i \mathbb{K}^{i\overline{j}} \mathbb{K}_{\overline{j}} = 3$  (on the mirror dual side) through  $\tilde{\xi}$  in (3.11) is of course expected from simple homogeneity arguments.

**Kähler moduli sector.** Next, we compute the inverse Kähler metric for the  $S, G^a$  and  $T_{\alpha}$  moduli by considering the Kähler potential (2.11) with  $\mathcal{Y}$  defined in (2.12). To this end, we have to rewrite the overall volume  $\mathcal{V}$  in terms of the chiral variables  $S, G^a, T_{\alpha}$  and their complex conjugates. The definition of the chiral variable  $T_{\alpha}$  in eq. (2.5) allows us to write

$$k_{\alpha} \equiv k_{\alpha\beta\gamma} t^{\beta} t^{\gamma} = i \left( T_{\alpha} - \overline{T}_{\alpha} \right) - \frac{i \hat{k}_{\alpha a b} \left( G^{a} - \overline{G}^{a} \right) \left( G^{b} - \overline{G}^{b} \right)}{2 \left( S - \overline{S} \right)}$$
(3.13)

and hence we have

$$\mathcal{V} \equiv \frac{1}{6} k_{\alpha} t^{\alpha} = \frac{t^{\alpha}}{6} \left[ i \left( T_{\alpha} - \overline{T}_{\alpha} \right) - \frac{i \hat{k}_{\alpha a b} \left( G^{a} - \overline{G}^{a} \right) \left( G^{b} - \overline{G}^{b} \right)}{2 \left( S - \overline{S} \right)} \right].$$
(3.14)

Here  $t^{\alpha}$  is an implicit function of the chiral variables  $S, G^a, T_{\alpha}$ . In addition, given that there are two kinds of triple intersection numbers surviving under the orientifold action, namely  $k_{\alpha\beta\gamma}$  and  $\hat{k}_{\alpha ab}$  defined in (2.1), we introduce the following shorthand notation to simplify intermediate computations,

$$k_{0} = k_{\alpha\beta\gamma} t^{\alpha} t^{\beta} t^{\gamma} = 6 \mathcal{V}, \qquad k_{\alpha} = k_{\alpha\beta} t^{\beta}, \qquad k_{\alpha\beta} = k_{\alpha\beta\gamma} t^{\gamma}, \hat{k}_{0} = \hat{k}_{\alpha a b} t^{\alpha} b^{a} b^{b}, \qquad \hat{k}_{\alpha} = \hat{k}_{\alpha a b} b^{a} b^{b}, \qquad \hat{k}_{a b} = \hat{k}_{\alpha a b} t^{\alpha}, \qquad (3.15) \hat{\xi} = s^{3/2} \xi, \qquad \hat{k}_{a} = \hat{k}_{\alpha a b} t^{\alpha} b^{b}, \qquad \hat{k}_{\alpha a} = \hat{k}_{\alpha a b} b^{b}.$$

Initially, we compute the relations, see eq. (A.1) in appendix A for details,

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{Y}}{\partial S} = \frac{i \hat{k}_0}{8} - \frac{3 i \hat{\xi}}{8 s}, \quad \frac{\partial \mathcal{Y}}{\partial G^a} = -\frac{i \hat{k}_a}{4}, \quad \frac{\partial \mathcal{Y}}{\partial T_\alpha} = \frac{i t^\alpha}{4}, \quad (3.16)$$

which lead to the following derivatives of K,

$$K_{S} = \frac{i}{2s} + i \mathcal{G}_{ab} b^{a} b^{b} + \frac{3i\hat{\xi}}{4s\mathcal{Y}}, \quad K_{G^{a}} = -2i \mathcal{G}_{ab} b^{b}, \quad K_{T_{\alpha}} = -\frac{it^{\alpha}}{2\mathcal{Y}}.$$
 (3.17)

Here the  $\alpha'$ -corrected moduli space metric and its inverse,  $\mathcal{G}$  and  $\mathcal{G}^{-1}$ , are

From the above, we find that the various Kähler metric components can be written as

$$\begin{split} K_{S\overline{S}} &= \frac{1}{4s^2} \left( 1 - \frac{3\hat{\xi}}{4\mathcal{Y}} + \frac{9\hat{\xi}^2}{8\mathcal{Y}^2} \right) + \frac{\mathcal{G}_{ab} \, b^a \, b^b}{s} \left( 1 + \frac{3\hat{\xi}}{4\mathcal{Y}} \right) + \frac{9\,\mathcal{G}^{\alpha\beta}\hat{k}_{\alpha}\,\hat{k}_{\beta}}{16\,\mathcal{Y}^2} \,, \\ K_{G^a\,\overline{S}} &= -\frac{\mathcal{G}_{ab} \, b^b}{s} \left( 1 + \frac{3\hat{\xi}}{4\mathcal{Y}} \right) - \frac{9\,\mathcal{G}^{\alpha\beta}\hat{k}_{\alpha a}\,\hat{k}_{\beta}}{8\mathcal{Y}^2} = K_{S\,\overline{G}^a}, \\ K_{T_{\alpha}\,\overline{S}} &= \frac{9\,\mathcal{G}^{\alpha\beta}\,\hat{k}_{\beta}}{8\mathcal{Y}^2} - \frac{3\hat{\xi}}{16\,s\,\mathcal{Y}^2} = K_{S\,\overline{T}_{\alpha}}, \\ K_{G^a\,\overline{G}^b} &= \frac{\mathcal{G}_{ab}}{s} + \frac{9\,\mathcal{G}^{\alpha\beta}\hat{k}_{\alpha a}\,\hat{k}_{\beta b}}{4\mathcal{Y}^2}, \\ K_{T_{\alpha}\,\overline{G}^a} &= -\frac{9\,\mathcal{G}^{\alpha\beta}\,\hat{k}_{\beta a}}{4\mathcal{Y}^2} = K_{G^a\,\overline{T}_{\alpha}}, \\ K_{T_{\alpha}\,\overline{T}_{\beta}} &= \frac{9}{4\mathcal{Y}^2}\,\mathcal{G}^{\alpha\beta} \,. \end{split}$$
(3.19)

This metric can be inverted to arrive at the inverse Kähler metric

$$K^{SS} = \gamma_{1},$$

$$K^{G^{a}\overline{S}} = \gamma_{1} b^{a} = K^{S\overline{G}^{a}},$$

$$K^{T_{\alpha}\overline{S}} = \frac{\gamma_{1} \hat{k}_{\alpha} + \gamma_{2} k_{\alpha}}{2} = K^{S\overline{T}_{\alpha}},$$

$$K^{G^{a}\overline{G}^{b}} = s \mathcal{G}^{ab} + \gamma_{1} b^{a} b^{b},$$

$$K^{T_{\alpha}\overline{G}^{a}} = s \mathcal{G}^{ab} \hat{k}_{\alpha b} + \frac{(\gamma_{1} \hat{k}_{\alpha} + \gamma_{2} k_{\alpha}) b^{a}}{2} = K^{G^{a}\overline{T}_{\alpha}},$$

$$K^{T_{\alpha}\overline{T}_{\beta}} = \frac{4}{9} \mathcal{Y}^{2} \mathcal{G}_{\alpha\beta} + s \mathcal{G}^{ab} \hat{k}_{\alpha a} \hat{k}_{\beta b} + \frac{(\gamma_{1} \hat{k}_{\alpha} + \gamma_{2} k_{\alpha}) (\gamma_{1} \hat{k}_{\beta} + \gamma_{2} k_{\beta})}{4 \gamma_{1}},$$
(3.20)

where the  $\gamma_i$  are given by

$$\gamma_1 = \frac{s^2 (4 \mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi})}{(\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi})}, \qquad \gamma_2 = \frac{3 s \hat{\xi}}{(\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi})}, \qquad \gamma_1 - s \gamma_2 = 4 s^2.$$
(3.21)

Notice that, in the absence of the BBHL correction  $\hat{\xi} = 0$ , we find that the inverse metric components collected in eq. (3.20) reduce to the standard results of [36] where  $\gamma_1 = 4 s^2$  and  $\gamma_2 = 0$ . Furthermore, in the absence of odd moduli, we recover the  $(\alpha')^3$ -corrected Kähler metric components of [71]. Moreover, the inverse Kähler metric components have been computed in [11] in terms of rather lengthy expressions, whereas our results exhibit a surprisingly simple and compact structure. This will come in handy in the subsequent section when working out powerful identities that are quintessential for deriving the master formulae in section 4.1.

## 3.2 No-scale structure and useful identities

Ultimately, our aim is to streamline the computation of the  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  *F*-term scalar potential (2.8) for general CY orientifold compactifications in the presence of perturbative quantum corrections. Expanding the covariant derivatives in (2.8), we find terms of the form  $K_A K^{A\overline{B}} \partial_{\overline{B}} \overline{W}$  or  $K_A K^{A\overline{B}} K_{\overline{B}}$  for which certain tree level identities exist, see e.g. [42]. At higher order in  $\alpha'$ , we can utilise our expressions (3.17), (3.19) and (3.20) to compute equivalent relations. Due to the length of the corresponding individual terms, we listed the intermediate steps in eqs. (A.2), (A.3) in appendix A. By applying appropriate summations, we confirm that the following identities, which have already been known for the tree level Kähler potential (e.g. see [31]), still hold true even after including the BBHL  $(\alpha')^3$ -correction,

$$K_A K^{A\overline{S}} = (S - \overline{S}) = -K^{S\overline{B}} K_{\overline{B}},$$
  

$$K_A K^{A\overline{G}^a} = (G^a - \overline{G}^a) = -K^{G^a\overline{B}} K_{\overline{B}},$$
  

$$K_A K^{A\overline{T}_\alpha} = (T_\alpha - \overline{T}_\alpha) = -K^{T_\alpha\overline{B}} K_{\overline{B}}.$$
  
(3.22)

These relations significantly simplify the F-term scalar potential as we will demonstrate below in section 4.1. Moreover, the above identities allow us to derive

$$K_A K^{A\overline{B}} K_{\overline{B}} = (K_A K^{A\overline{S}}) K_{\overline{S}} + (K_A K^{A\overline{G}^a}) K_{\overline{G}^a} + (K_A K^{A\overline{T}_\alpha}) K_{\overline{T}_\alpha}$$
(3.23)  
$$= \left[ 1 + 2 s \mathcal{G}_{ab} b^a b^b + \frac{3\hat{\xi}}{2\mathcal{Y}} \right] + \left[ -4 s \mathcal{G}_{ab} b^a b^b \right] + \left[ \frac{k_0}{2\mathcal{Y}} + 2 s \mathcal{G}_{ab} b^a b^b \right]$$
$$= 4,$$

where we used the relations  $k_0 = k_{\alpha} t^{\alpha} = 6\mathcal{V}$  and  $\hat{k}_0 = \hat{k}_{\alpha} t^{\alpha} = -4\mathcal{Y}\mathcal{G}_{ab} b^a b^b$  that follow from eq. (3.18).

Let us note that this no-scale structure relation,  $K_A K^{A\overline{B}} K_{\overline{B}} = 4$ , can also be anticipated, even after including tree level  $(\alpha')^3$ -corrections, via homogeneity arguments [42]. That is, the Kähler potential (2.11) can be rewritten as

$$K = -4\ln g(s, \mathcal{V}^{2/3}), \quad g(s, \mathcal{V}^{2/3}) = \sqrt{\sqrt{2}\left(\mathcal{V}\sqrt{s} + \frac{\xi}{2}s^2\right)}, \quad (3.24)$$

where  $g(s, \mathcal{V}^{2/3})$  is a homogeneous function of degree one in the new coordinates  $x^i \in \{s, \mathcal{V}^{2/3}\}$ . Indeed, we find that  $g(\lambda x^i) = \lambda g(x^i)$  implies  $x^i g_i = g$  and  $x^i g_{ij} = 0$ . Subsequently, one derives

$$K_i = -\frac{4\,g_i}{g}, \quad K_{ij} = -\frac{4\,g_{ij}}{g} + \frac{4\,g_i\,g_j}{g^2} \tag{3.25}$$

so that the no-scale identity is recovered from

$$x^{i} K_{ij} = -K_{j}, \quad K^{ij} K_{j} = -x^{i}, \quad K_{i} K^{ij} K_{j} = -x^{j} K_{j} = \frac{4 x^{j} g_{j}}{g} = 4.$$
 (3.26)

To summarise, the explicit expression for the inverse Kähler metric together with the identities (3.22) and (3.23) allows for a model independent reformulation of the *F*-term scalar potential which we provide in section 4.1. This is particularly useful for moduli stabilisation in generic CY orientifold compactifications with arbitrary numbers of Kähler moduli  $T_{\alpha}$  and odd moduli  $G^a$ .

## **3.3** No-scale breaking effects from $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ invariance

A natural question is how the no-scale identity (3.23) is modified in the presence of further quantum effects. Our previous homogeneity argument suggests that the no-scale structure is broken at higher order in the string loop expansion. We can be even more precise by repeating the above analysis for a partially<sup>4</sup> SL(2,  $\mathbb{Z}$ ) completed Kähler potential where  $\mathcal{Y}$ in (2.12) is replaced by<sup>5</sup>

$$\mathcal{Y} = \mathcal{V} + \frac{\zeta}{4} f_0(S, \bar{S}), \quad \zeta = -\frac{\chi}{2(2\pi)^3}.$$
 (3.27)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Full modular invariance is only guaranteed by including also an additional *G*-dependent piece in (3.27) as argued in [45], see (9.1) below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>An F-theory analysis in [72] revealed that there exist further genuine  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  corrections. At tree level, a single O7-plane wrapped on a divisor D results in a shift of the Euler characteristic in (2.12) by  $\chi \to \chi + 2 \int_{X_3} D^3$ . More generally,  $f_0$  in (3.27) would need to be replaced by a non-topological integral. We ignore such additional corrections subsequently.

Here,  $f_0(S, \overline{S})$  is the non-holomorphic Eisenstein series of weight 3/2. The modification (3.27) is obtained from the 10D  $(\alpha')^3$  correction  $f_0R^4$  [73] as derived in  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  CY orientifold compactifications [45] under the assumption that a discrete subgroup  $\Gamma_S \subset \text{SL}(2, \mathbb{Z})$ survives in the 4D theory.<sup>6</sup> We focus here on the simpler case of the purely S-dependent part of the modular completion, albeit D1-brane instanton corrections or, more precisely, (p, q)-strings give rise to a further  $G^a$ -dependent modular form in (3.27) [45], cf. the discussion in section 9.<sup>7</sup>

For the subsequent analysis, we define the modular functions

$$f_k(S,\bar{S}) = \sum_{(\hat{l}_1,\hat{l}_2)\neq(0,0)} \frac{s^{\frac{3}{2}}}{(\hat{l}_1 + S\hat{l}_2)^{\frac{3}{2}+k}(\hat{l}_1 + \bar{S}\hat{l}_2)^{\frac{3}{2}-k}}, \quad \bar{f}_k = f_{-k}.$$
 (3.28)

They transform covariantly under  $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ 

$$f_k\left(\frac{aS+b}{cS+d}, \frac{a\bar{S}+b}{c\bar{S}+d}\right) = \left(\frac{cS+d}{c\bar{S}+d}\right)^k f_k(S, \bar{S}).$$
(3.29)

Further, these functions satisfy

$$(S-\bar{S})\frac{\partial}{\partial S}f_k = \left(k+\frac{3}{2}\right)f_{k+1} - kf_k , \quad (S-\bar{S})\frac{\partial}{\partial\bar{S}}f_k = \left(k-\frac{3}{2}\right)f_{k-1} - kf_k \quad (3.30)$$

which allows us to derive the following identities

$$\partial_S f_0 = \frac{3f_1}{2(S-\bar{S})}, \quad \partial_{\bar{S}} f_0 = -\frac{3f_{-1}}{2(S-\bar{S})}, \quad \partial_{\bar{S}} \partial_S f_0 = -\frac{3f_0}{4(S-\bar{S})^2}.$$
(3.31)

This implies that

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{Y}}{\partial S} = \frac{i \ \hat{k}_0}{8} + \frac{3\zeta}{8} \frac{f_1}{(S-\bar{S})}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{Y}}{\partial \bar{S} \partial S} = -\frac{3\zeta}{16} \frac{f_0}{(S-\bar{S})^2}.$$
(3.32)

We stress that  $\partial_S \partial_{\bar{S}} \mathcal{Y}$  depends only on  $f_0$  instead of  $f_{\pm 2}$  due to aforementioned identities for  $f_k$ . Last but not least, we expand  $f_k$  in the large  $\text{Im}(S) \gg 1$  (small string coupling) regime where

$$f_k(S, \bar{S}) = a_T + \frac{a_L}{(1 - 4k^2)} + \mathcal{O}\left(e^{-\operatorname{Im}(S)}\right)$$
 (3.33)

in terms of

$$a_T = 2\zeta(3) \operatorname{Im}(S)^{\frac{3}{2}}, \quad a_L = \frac{2\pi^2}{3} \operatorname{Im}(S)^{-\frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (3.34)

The first term is associated with closed string tree level [77], whereas the second term with 1-loop effects [78]. The final piece encodes contributions from non-perturbative D-instanton states [79]. For the lowest order modular functions, we can write

$$f_0(S,\bar{S}) = a_T + a_L + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\text{Im}(S)}), \quad f_{\pm 1}(S,\bar{S}) = a_T - \frac{1}{3}a_L + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\text{Im}(S)}).$$
 (3.35)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>For  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  theories in 4D, it was conjectured in [74] that (3.27) together with (3.28) is the correct modular completion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Another caveat in  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  setups concerns the breaking of the product structure of moduli space as anticipated in [75]. Due to the extended no-scale structure [76], the effects of [75] appear at 1-loop at order  $(\alpha')^4$  making them sub-leading for our purposes.

To recover the convention of the tree level computation in the previous section, we note that  $\zeta a_T = 2\hat{\xi}$ .

We now would like to compute the Kähler metric for the Kähler potential (3.27) in CY orientifold compactifications. In this context, the sum in (3.28) needs to be appropriately restricted to orbits of  $\Gamma_S$  [45] Proceeding as in section 3.1, we find that only the following components of (3.19) are modified<sup>8</sup>

$$K_{S\overline{S}} = \frac{1}{4s^2} \left( 1 - \frac{3\zeta f_0}{8\mathcal{Y}} + \frac{9\zeta^2 f_1 f_{-1}}{32\mathcal{Y}^2} \right) + \frac{\mathcal{G}_{ab} b^a b^b}{s} \left( 1 + \frac{3\zeta}{16\mathcal{Y}} (f_1 + f_{-1}) \right) + \frac{9\mathcal{G}^{\alpha\beta} \hat{k}_{\alpha} \hat{k}_{\beta}}{16\mathcal{Y}^2} ,$$

$$K_{G^a \overline{S}} = -\frac{\mathcal{G}_{ab} b^b}{s} \left( 1 + \frac{3\zeta}{8\mathcal{Y}} f_{-1} \right) - \frac{9\mathcal{G}^{\alpha\beta} \hat{k}_{\alpha a} \hat{k}_{\beta}}{8\mathcal{Y}^2} = \overline{K_{S\overline{G}^a}} ,$$

$$K_{T_\alpha \overline{S}} = \frac{9\mathcal{G}^{\alpha\beta} \hat{k}_{\beta}}{8\mathcal{Y}^2} - \frac{3\zeta t^{\alpha}}{32s\mathcal{Y}^2} f_{-1} = \overline{K_{S\overline{T}_\alpha}} .$$

$$(3.36)$$

The presence of the modular functions  $f_{\pm 1}$  in  $K_{G^a \overline{S}}$  and  $K_{T_\alpha \overline{S}}$  imply that the components are complex. The inverse Kähler metric can still be written in the form (3.20) with the only difference being that the  $\gamma_i$  are now defined as

$$\gamma_{1} = \frac{8s^{2}(8\mathcal{V} - \zeta f_{0})}{\gamma_{3}}, \quad \gamma_{2} = \frac{24s\zeta f_{-1}}{\gamma_{3}}, \quad \bar{\gamma}_{2} = \frac{24s\zeta f_{1}}{\gamma_{3}},$$
$$\gamma_{3} = 8(2\mathcal{V} - \zeta f_{0}) + 9\zeta^{2}\frac{f_{0}^{2} - f_{1}f_{-1}}{4\mathcal{V} + \zeta f_{0}}.$$
(3.37)

In particular,  $\gamma_2$  is now complex due to the presence of  $f_{-1}$  in the numerator which requires appropriate complex conjugation in (3.20). Interestingly,  $K^{G^a\bar{S}} = \gamma_1 b^a$  remains real.

Next, we derive the corrected expressions of section 3.2. First, the identities (3.22) are modified as

$$K_{A} K^{A\overline{S}} = \frac{i}{2s \mathcal{Y}} \left\{ \mathcal{Y}(\gamma_{1} - s\gamma_{2}) + s(\mathcal{Y} - 3\mathcal{V})(\gamma_{2} - \bar{\gamma}_{2}) \right\}$$

$$K_{A} K^{A\overline{T}_{\alpha}} = \frac{-i}{128s^{2}\mathcal{Y}} \left\{ 64\sigma_{\alpha} \left[ \mathcal{Y}(\gamma_{1} - s\gamma_{2}) + s(\gamma_{2} - \bar{\gamma}_{2})(\mathcal{Y} - 3\mathcal{V}) \right] + \hat{k}_{\alpha}(\gamma_{2} - \bar{\gamma}_{2}) \left[ \gamma_{3}\bar{\gamma}_{2} + 96s\mathcal{V} \right] \right\}$$

$$K_{A} K^{A\overline{G}^{a}} = \frac{ib^{a}}{2s\mathcal{Y}} \left\{ \mathcal{Y}(\gamma_{1} - s\gamma_{2}) + s(\mathcal{Y} - 3\mathcal{V})(\gamma_{2} - \bar{\gamma}_{2}) \right\}$$

$$(3.38)$$

At tree level, we have 9

$$(\gamma_1 - s\gamma_2)\big|_{\text{tree}} = 4s^2, \quad (\gamma_2 - \bar{\gamma}_2)\big|_{\text{tree}} = 0$$
 (3.39)

and thus recover (3.22), while including the 1-loop coefficient  $a_L$  in the expansion (3.35) leads to

$$\frac{K_A K^{A\overline{S}}}{S-\overline{S}} = \frac{K_A K^{A\overline{T}_{\alpha}}}{T_{\alpha} - \overline{T}_{\alpha}} = \frac{K_A K^{A\overline{G}^a}}{G^a - \overline{G}^a} = \frac{4\mathcal{V} + \zeta(a_T + a_L)}{4\mathcal{V} + \zeta(a_T - a_L)}.$$
(3.40)

<sup>8</sup>We stress that (3.36) is not modular invariant due to combinations of the form  $f_1 + f_{-1}$  or  $f_{-1}$ . This is expected because one would need to include also the *G*-dependent piece in (3.27), see (9.1) below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>In fact, looking at (3.33),  $\gamma_2 - \bar{\gamma}_2 = 0$  remains true even at the loop level which implies that  $\gamma_2 - \bar{\gamma}_2$  is associated with purely non-perturbative D-instanton corrections.

Finally, we aim at computing the former no-scale identity (3.23) for the modified Kähler metric. Overall, we obtain

$$K_A K^{A\overline{B}} K_{\overline{B}} - 4 = -\frac{1}{2s^2} \left\{ -\gamma_1 + s \frac{\gamma_2 + \bar{\gamma}_2}{2} + 4s^2 + \frac{3\mathcal{V}}{64\mathcal{V}^2} \gamma_3 \left(\gamma_2 - \bar{\gamma}_2\right)^2 \right\}.$$
 (3.41)

The right hand side is clearly real and vanishes at tree level due to (3.39). To gauge the leading order breaking effect, we restrict to linear order in  $\zeta$  (any higher power would be modified by higher order  $\alpha'$  effects in 10D) where

$$K_A K^{A\overline{B}} K_{\overline{B}} = 4 + \frac{3}{8} \frac{\zeta (2f_0 - f_1 - f_{-1})}{\mathcal{V}} = 4 + \frac{\zeta a_L}{\mathcal{V}} + \mathcal{O}\left(e^{-s}/\mathcal{V}\right) .$$
(3.42)

Let us make the following two comments on these findings. First, the breaking of the generalised no-scale identity can already be anticipated from the previous homogeneity arguments. Using the fact that at large Im(S) the  $f_k$  enjoy an expansion of the form (3.33), we have to modify (3.24) in such a way that

$$K = -4\log(g) , \quad g = \sqrt{\sqrt{2} \left( \mathcal{V}\sqrt{s} + \frac{\xi}{2}s^2 + \frac{\zeta\pi^2}{6} + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{s}\,\mathrm{e}^{-s}) \right)}.$$
 (3.43)

Clearly, the 1-loop and D-instanton contributions break the previous homogeneity argument  $g(\lambda x^A) \neq \lambda g(x^A)$  which is why the no-scale identity must be broken.

Secondly and also more interestingly, this coefficient is directly related to 8-derivative corrections in the 10D effective action involving the R-R 3-form flux of the form  $F_3^2 R^3$ . Computing the  $\alpha'$ -corrected flux scalar potential to leading order in  $\zeta$  gives rise to

$$V_{\text{flux}} = V_{\text{tree}} - \frac{\zeta f_0}{2\mathcal{V}} V_{\text{tree}} + \frac{e^{\mathbb{K}}}{2s} V_{\zeta}$$
(3.44)

where the second term comes from the standard Weyl rescaling of the 4D metric. In contrast, the third term encodes the non-trivial effects of the  $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ -completed  $(\alpha')^3$  corrections and reads<sup>10</sup>

$$V_{\zeta} = \frac{3}{8} \frac{\zeta}{\mathcal{V}^3} \left\{ (2f_0 - f_1 - f_{-1}) \int_{X_3} G_3 \wedge \Omega \int_{X_3} G_3 \wedge \overline{\Omega} + 4e^{-2\phi_0} (2f_0 + f_1 + f_{-1}) \int_{X_3} H_3 \wedge \Omega \int_{X_3} H_3 \wedge \overline{\Omega} \right\}.$$
 (3.45)

Notice that the R-R flux  $F_3$  appears only in the first line with the same coefficient ~  $(3/8)\zeta(2f_0 - f_1 - f_{-1})/\mathcal{V}$  as found in eq. (3.42). In the large Im(S) expansion of  $f_k$  (3.35), this then becomes

$$V_{\zeta} = \frac{3}{8} \frac{\zeta}{\mathcal{V}^3} \left\{ \left( \frac{8a_L}{3} + \text{non-perturbative} \right) \int_{X_3} G_3 \wedge \Omega \int_{X_3} G_3 \wedge \overline{\Omega} + 4e^{-2\phi_0} \left( 4a_T + \frac{4a_L}{3} + \text{non-perturbative} \right) \int_{X_3} H_3 \wedge \Omega \int_{X_3} H_3 \wedge \overline{\Omega} \right\}.$$
(3.46)

<sup>10</sup>The fact that the  $b^a$  dependence drops out completely is shown explicitly in section 5.1.

At tree level, the only contribution comes from the second line through NS-NS 3-form flux as already observed in [38] which is the leading order no-scale breaking effect well-known from LVS. Interestingly, the leading order contribution from  $F_3$ -flux is determined precisely by the coefficient derived in (3.42). This interesting because all contributions in  $V_{\zeta}$  are solely determined by zero mode Kaluza-Klein reductions of higher derivative corrections in the 10D effective action such as  $f_0|G_3|^2R^3$  and  $f_1G_3^2R^3 + f_{-1}\overline{G}_3^2R^3$  which were recently determined in [80]. In this way, the coefficient derived in (3.42) can in principle be directly traced back to properties of the 10D theory.

## 4 Expressions for $\alpha'$ - and $g_s$ -corrected F-term scalar potentials

In this section, we apply the identities derived in the previous section to write down general master formulae for the F-term scalar potential at higher order in string perturbation theory. Afterwards, we briefly discuss moduli stabilisation in supersymmetric and non-supersymmetric settings.

## 4.1 Three master formulae for general CY orientifold compactifications

The block diagonal nature of the total Kähler metric (and its inverse) facilitates the following splitting of the  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  *F*-term scalar potential

$$V = e^{\mathcal{K}} \left[ \mathcal{K}^{\mathcal{A}\overline{\mathcal{B}}} \left( D_{\mathcal{A}}W \right) \left( \overline{D}_{\overline{\mathcal{B}}}\overline{W} \right) - 3|W|^2 \right] \equiv V_{\rm cs} + V_k \,, \tag{4.1}$$

where

$$V_{\rm cs} = e^{\mathcal{K}} \mathbb{K}^{U^i \overline{U^j}} (D_{U^i} W) (\overline{D}_{\overline{U^j}} \overline{W}), \quad V_k = e^{\mathcal{K}} \left( K^{A\overline{B}} (D_A W) (\overline{D}_{\overline{B}} \overline{W}) - 3|W|^2 \right).$$
(4.2)

Recall that the indices (i, j) count complex structure moduli  $U^i$ , while the remaining indices (A, B) account for the rest of the chiral variables  $\{S, G^a, T_\alpha\}$ . Given that our main focus will be mostly on moduli  $S, T_\alpha$  and  $G^a$ , let us begin by looking at the various pieces in  $V_k$  obtained from the Kähler potential (2.12). We find that

$$V_{k} = e^{\mathcal{K}} \left[ \left( K_{A} K^{A\overline{B}} K_{\overline{B}} - 3 \right) |W|^{2} + W_{A} K^{A\overline{B}} \overline{W}_{\overline{B}} + \left( W K_{A} K^{A\overline{B}} \overline{W}_{\overline{B}} + \text{c.c.} \right) \right]$$
$$= e^{\mathcal{K}} \left( |W|^{2} + W_{A} K^{A\overline{B}} \overline{W}_{\overline{B}} + \sum_{A \in \{S, G^{a}, T_{\alpha}\}} (A - \overline{A}) (W \overline{W}_{\overline{A}} - \overline{W} W_{A}) \right)$$
(4.3)

where we utilised the following two identities derived above (recall eqs. (3.22) and (3.23)),

$$K_A K^{A\overline{B}} K_{\overline{B}} = 4, \qquad K_B K^{B\overline{A}} = (A - \overline{A}) = -K^{A\overline{B}} K_{\overline{B}}.$$
 (4.4)

We stress again that these relations, while being naively true for the tree-level Kähler potential [36], remain correct even after including the BBHL correction [38]. This gives rise to our "first master formula" for the scalar potential,

First master formula

$$V = V_{\rm cs} + e^{\mathcal{K}} \left( |W|^2 + W_A \, K^{A\overline{B}} \, \overline{W}_{\overline{B}} + \sum_{A \in \{S, G^a, T_\alpha\}} (A - \overline{A}) \, (W \, \overline{W}_{\overline{A}} - \overline{W} \, W_A) \right). \tag{4.5}$$

Using the identities for the inverse metric in (3.20), the exact scalar potential is easily computed for any given model. Contrary to commonly applied scenarios, none of the moduli fields have been integrated out at this stage. In particular, it was imperative to treat S on equal footing with  $\{G^a, T_\alpha\}$  in deriving (4.5). The only undetermined input remains the superpotential which is easily plugged into the above expression, thereby making (4.5) highly attractive for moduli stabilisation purposes.

Although complex structure moduli are commonly studied separately from the remaining fields in the established Kähler moduli stabilisation procedures [4, 5], our exact identities in section 3 allow for a compact expression for the complete *F*-term scalar potential in CY orientifold compactifications. Indeed, using the Kähler derivatives in eq. (3.7) and the inverse Kähler metric in eq. (3.9), the complex structure piece  $V_{cs}$  can be expressed as

$$\begin{aligned} V_{\rm cs} &= \mathrm{e}^{\mathcal{K}} \bigg[ \left( \mathbb{K}_{U^{i}} \,\mathbb{K}^{U^{i}\overline{U^{j}}} \,\mathbb{K}_{\overline{U^{j}}} \right) |W|^{2} + \left( \mathbb{K}_{U^{i}} \,\mathbb{K}^{U^{i}\overline{U^{j}}} \,W_{\overline{U^{j}}} W + \overline{W} \,W_{U^{i}} \,\mathbb{K}^{U^{i}\overline{U^{j}}} \,\mathbb{K}_{\overline{U^{j}}} \right) \\ &+ W_{U^{i}} \,\mathbb{K}^{U^{i}\overline{U^{j}}} \,\overline{W}_{\overline{U^{j}}} ) \bigg] \\ &= \mathrm{e}^{\mathcal{K}} \bigg[ \frac{3l}{(l-3\,\tilde{\xi})} \,|W|^{2} + i \,\frac{(2\,l+3\,\tilde{\xi})}{(l-3\,\tilde{\xi})} \,u^{i} \,(W\overline{W}_{\overline{U}^{i}} - \overline{W}W_{U^{i}}) \\ &+ \frac{(2\,l+3\,\tilde{\xi})}{(l-3\,\tilde{\xi})} \left( u^{i} \,u^{j} - \frac{(l-3\,\tilde{\xi})}{3} \,l^{ij} \right) W_{U^{i}} \,\overline{W}_{\overline{U}^{j}} \bigg], \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.6)$$

where we have used the identities given in eq. (3.11). Thus the most generic scalar potential for all moduli and axions can be read off from our "second master-formula" for the scalar potential,

Second master formula

$$V = e^{\mathcal{K}} \left[ \frac{4l - 3\tilde{\xi}}{l - 3\tilde{\xi}} |W|^2 + W_{\mathcal{A}} K^{\mathcal{A}\overline{\mathcal{B}}} \overline{W}_{\overline{\mathcal{B}}} + \sum_{\mathcal{A} \in \{U^i, S, T_\alpha, G^a\}} (\mathcal{A} - \overline{\mathcal{A}}) (W \overline{W}_{\overline{\mathcal{A}}} - \overline{W} W_{\mathcal{A}}) \right. \\ \left. + i \frac{9\tilde{\xi} u^i}{l - 3\tilde{\xi}} (W \overline{W}_{\overline{U}^i} - \overline{W} W_{U^i}) \right],$$

$$(4.7)$$

where the summation  $\mathcal{A}$  runs over all moduli  $\{U^i, S, T_\alpha, G^a\}$ . Notice that the last line arises because perturbative effects on the mirror type IIA side break the no-scale identity given in eq. (3.11) as compared to eq. (3.22). This is because  $\hat{\xi}$  comes with a dilaton dependence in type IIB which ensures homogeneity of the  $\alpha'$ -corrected Kähler potential, while this is simply not the case for  $\tilde{\xi}$ . If this correction can be ignored via setting  $\tilde{\xi} = 0$  in the limit of "extremely" large complex structure, the master formula (4.7) reduces to an amazingly simple form

$$V \simeq e^{\mathcal{K}} \left[ 4 |W|^2 + W_{\mathcal{A}} K^{\mathcal{A}\overline{\mathcal{B}}} \overline{W}_{\overline{\mathcal{B}}} + \sum_{\mathcal{A} \in \{U^i, S, T_\alpha, G^a\}} (\mathcal{A} - \overline{\mathcal{A}}) (W \overline{W}_{\overline{\mathcal{A}}} - \overline{W} W_{\mathcal{A}}) \right].$$
(4.8)

Before we continue, we wish to point out that, although both the master formulae (4.5) and (4.7) of the scalar potential are general, they are not fully equivalent. The only slight difference is the fact that the master formulae (4.5) is also applicable to "rigid" compactifications in which complex structure moduli are frozen or simply absent. However, in arriving at the master formula (4.7), one implicitly assumes that there is at least one complex structure modulus present in the dynamics. For the so-called rigid compactification case, one simply has the following simplifications in the Kähler potential ( $\mathbb{K}$ ) of the complex structure sector [27],

$$\left\{ \mathcal{X}^{0} = 1, \ \mathcal{F}_{0} = -i \right\} \implies \mathbb{K} = -\ln \left[ i \left( \overline{\mathcal{X}}^{0} \mathcal{F}_{0} - \mathcal{X}^{0} \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{0} \right) \right] = -\ln 2.$$
 (4.9)

In fact, one can choose a normalisation in the holomorphic three-form  $\Omega_3$  by a factor of  $\sqrt{2}$  to make  $\mathbb{K} = 0$  which, in turn, also needs to be incorporated in the superpotential, thereby giving rise to  $e^{\mathcal{K}} = \frac{1}{4s\mathcal{Y}^2}$ . Thus, the rigid orientifold case leads to  $V_{\rm cs} = 0$  in the master formula (4.5) making it  $V = V_k$ . In contrast, (4.8) will have a factor of  $4|W|^2$  in the first term instead of  $|W|^2$ , and the  $U^i$  moduli will not appear in the summation over  $\mathcal{A}$ . Given that we are interested in studying models with a complex structure moduli dependence, for our purposes the two expressions are equivalent. Nevertheless it is worth to point out this subtlety in case the reader wants to apply the above to rigid compactifications, see for example [81].

A third Master formula for the  $SL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ -completed Kähler potential. As a final step, we extend our toolkit by a third master formula that remains true even beyond string tree level. Indeed, we have seen that the no-scale structure is broken once higher string loop corrections are taken into account. This modification leads to another master formula that is exact for general superpotentials and the Kähler metric derived from the Kähler potential depending on the  $SL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ -completed volume (3.27).

Initially, we rewrite the identities (3.38) in the form

$$K_A K^{A\overline{S}} = \frac{K_A K^{A\overline{G}^a}}{b^a} = \frac{i}{2s} F_1 , \quad K_A K^{A\overline{T}_\alpha} = \frac{-i}{2s^2} \left\{ \sigma_\alpha F_1 + \hat{k}_\alpha F_2 \right\}, \tag{4.10}$$

as well as (3.41) as

$$K_A K^{A\overline{B}} K_{\overline{B}} - 3 = 1 - \frac{F_3}{2s^2}$$

$$\tag{4.11}$$

where we introduced

$$F_{1} = (\gamma_{1} - s\gamma_{2}) + \frac{s(\mathcal{Y} - 3\mathcal{V})}{\mathcal{Y}}(\gamma_{2} - \bar{\gamma}_{2}), \quad F_{2} = \frac{\gamma_{2} - \bar{\gamma}_{2}}{64\mathcal{Y}}[\gamma_{3}\bar{\gamma}_{2} + 96s\mathcal{V}],$$
  

$$F_{3} = -\gamma_{1} + s\frac{\gamma_{2} + \bar{\gamma}_{2}}{2} + 4s^{2} + \frac{3\mathcal{V}}{64\mathcal{Y}^{2}}\gamma_{3}(\gamma_{2} - \bar{\gamma}_{2})^{2}. \quad (4.12)$$

Here, the  $\gamma_i$  are the ones defined in eq. (3.37). Following the same steps as in (4.3), we arrive at a third master formula given by

## Third master formula

$$V = V_{\rm cs} + e^{\mathcal{K}} \left( \left( 1 - \frac{F_3}{2s^2} \right) |W|^2 + \frac{1}{4s^2} \sum_{A \in \{S, G^a, T_\alpha\}} (A - \overline{A}) \left( F_1 W \,\overline{W}_{\overline{A}} - \overline{F}_1 \overline{W} \, W_A \right) \right. \\ \left. + W_A \, K^{A\overline{B}} \,\overline{W}_{\overline{B}} + \frac{-i\hat{k}_\alpha}{2s} \left( F_2 W \,\overline{W}_{\overline{T}_\alpha} - \overline{F}_2 W_{T_\alpha} \,\overline{W} \right) \right).$$

$$(4.13)$$

This expression provides the exact F-term scalar potential for  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  orientifold compactifications including corrections from both string loop and D-instanton effects. Recall that the combination  $(\gamma_2 - \bar{\gamma}_2)$  vanishes at both string tree and 1-loop level which implies that  $F_2$  contributes only non-perturbatively via D-instanton contributions  $\sim e^{-s}$ . By using the tree level identities (3.39), one easily verifies that  $F_1 = 4s^2$  and  $F_2 = F_3 = 0$  leading us back to our first master formula (4.5). At string 1-loop order, we find

$$F_1 = 4s^2 \frac{4\mathcal{V} + \zeta(a_T + a_L)}{4\mathcal{V} + \zeta(a_T - a_L)}, \quad F_2 = 0, \quad F_3 = \frac{-8s^2\zeta a_L}{4\mathcal{V} + \zeta(a_T - a_L)}$$
(4.14)

in terms of tree level and loop coefficient  $a_T$  and  $a_L$  defined in (3.34). Thus, ignoring D-instanton effects, we arrive at the 1-loop expression

$$V|_{1-\text{loop}} = V_{\text{cs}} + e^{\mathcal{K}} \left( \frac{4\mathcal{V} + \zeta(a_T + 3a_L)}{4\mathcal{V} + \zeta(a_T - a_L)} |W|^2 + W_A K^{A\overline{B}} \overline{W}_{\overline{B}} \right)$$

$$+ \frac{4\mathcal{V} + \zeta(a_T + a_L)}{4\mathcal{V} + \zeta(a_T - a_L)} \sum_{A \in \{S, G^a, T_\alpha\}} (A - \overline{A}) (W \overline{W}_{\overline{A}} - \overline{W} W_A) \right).$$

$$(4.15)$$

In the remainder of this paper, we focus on the two master formulae (4.5) and (4.7) for simplicity. Without too much effort, everything that has been computed is easily generalisable by using (4.13) or (4.15).

## 4.2 Supersymmetric moduli stabilisation

The supersymmetric solutions can be obtained by imposing the vanishing of the covariant derivatives with respect to the chiral varibales,

$$D_{U^{i}}W = 0 = \overline{D}_{\overline{U^{j}}}\overline{W}, \qquad D_{S}W = 0 = \overline{D}_{\overline{S}}\overline{W}, \qquad (4.16)$$
$$D_{G^{a}}W = 0 = \overline{D}_{\overline{G}^{a}}\overline{W}, \qquad D_{T_{\alpha}}W = 0 = \overline{D}_{\overline{T}} \overline{W}.$$

Using the Kähler derivatives in eqs. (3.7), (3.17) and (3.18), these conditions read explicitly

$$W_{U^{i}} = -\frac{6 i l_{i}}{4 l + \tilde{\xi}} W, \quad W_{G^{a}} = -i \frac{\hat{k}_{a}}{2 \mathcal{Y}} W, \quad W_{T_{\alpha}} = \frac{i t^{\alpha}}{2 \mathcal{Y}} W,$$
$$W_{S} = -\frac{i}{2 s} \left( 1 + 2 s \mathcal{G}_{ab} b^{a} b^{b} + \frac{3 \hat{\xi}}{2 \mathcal{Y}} \right) W.$$
(4.17)

For a supersymmetric minimum, these conditions (4.17) must be imposed for all the chiral variables for a generic superpotential  $W = W(U^i, S, T_\alpha, G^a)$ .

For a superpotential  $W = W(U^i, S, G^a)$  which does not depend on the  $T_\alpha$  coordinates, the *F*-term conditions (4.17) yield

$$W_{T_{\alpha}} = 0 = \overline{W}_{\overline{T}_{\alpha}} \implies \langle W \rangle = 0 = \langle \overline{W} \rangle,$$
 (4.18)

since the  $t^{\alpha}$  cannot vanish altogether and the decompatification limit  $\mathcal{Y} \to \infty$  needs to be avoided. This needs to be contrasted with the situation where the superpotential does not depend on the  $G^a$ , i.e.,  $W = W(U^i, S, T_{\alpha})$ . In this case, (4.17) implies

$$W_{G^a} = 0 = \overline{W}_{\overline{G}^a} \implies \left\langle \frac{\hat{k}_a}{\mathcal{Y}} \right\rangle = 0 = \left\langle \frac{\hat{k}_{\alpha a b} t^{\alpha} b^b}{\mathcal{Y}} \right\rangle \quad \text{for } \langle W \rangle \neq 0 \neq \langle \overline{W} \rangle, \quad (4.19)$$

which can be trivially satisfied for  $\langle \hat{k}_a \rangle = \langle \hat{k}_{\alpha a b} t^{\alpha} b^b \rangle = 0$ , or in particular for  $\langle b^a \rangle = 0$ ,  $\forall a$ . This is because the saxionic partner of the R-R  $C_2$ -axions  $c^a$  in the odd moduli  $G^a$  are the NS-NS axions  $b^a$  themselves. For this reason, there are no issues with imposing  $\langle b^a \rangle = 0$  at the extremum contrary to demanding the geometrical volume moduli to vanish  $\langle t^{\alpha} \rangle = 0$  in the previous case which would oppose the SUGRA approximation.

To illustrate this point, we look at the GVW superpotential  $W = W_0(U^i, S)$  in (2.13) which is generated from NS-NS 3-form flux ( $H_3$ ) and the R-R 3-form flux ( $F_3$ ). Subsequently, we write

$$W_0(U^i, S) = w_F(U^i) + Sw_H(U^i)$$
(4.20)

where  $w_F(U^i)$  and  $w_H(U^i)$  are some cubic polynomials in complex structure moduli  $U^i$ . In this case, the tree level SUSY conditions in (4.17) with  $\hat{\xi} = 0$  reduce to (ignoring the condition for  $T_{\alpha}$ )

$$W_{U^{i}} = -\frac{3 i l_{i}}{2 l + 3\tilde{\xi}} W, \quad W_{S} = -\frac{i}{2 s} \left(1 + 2 s \mathcal{G}_{ab} b^{a} b^{b}\right) W, \quad W_{G^{a}} = -i \frac{\hat{k}_{a}}{2 \mathcal{V}} W = 0.$$

These conditions are collectively solved for  $\langle W_0 \rangle \neq 0$  leading to the following relations determining the VEVs of the respective moduli/axions,

$$\begin{aligned} \langle c_0 \rangle &= -\frac{\langle m \rangle \langle n \rangle + \langle \mathfrak{m} \rangle \langle \mathfrak{n} \rangle}{|w_H|^2}, \qquad \langle s \rangle = \frac{\langle \mathfrak{m} \rangle \langle n \rangle - \langle m \rangle \langle \mathfrak{n} \rangle}{|w_H|^2}, \end{aligned} \tag{4.21} \\ m_i &= \frac{1}{|w_H|^2} \bigg[ m \ (n \ n_i - \mathfrak{n} \ \mathfrak{n}_i) + \mathfrak{m} \ (n \ \mathfrak{n}_i + \mathfrak{n} \ n_i) - \frac{12 \ l_i}{4l + \tilde{\xi}} \ n \ (m \ \mathfrak{n} - n \ \mathfrak{m}) \bigg] \quad \forall \ i, \end{aligned} \\ \mathfrak{m}_i &= \frac{1}{|w_H|^2} \bigg[ \mathfrak{m} \ (\mathfrak{n} \ \mathfrak{n}_i - n \ n_i) + m \ (n \ \mathfrak{n}_i + \mathfrak{n} \ n_i) - \frac{12 \ l_i}{4l + \tilde{\xi}} \ \mathfrak{n} \ (m \ \mathfrak{n} - n \ \mathfrak{m}) \bigg] \quad \forall \ i, \end{aligned}$$

where the complex structure moduli  $\{u^i, v^i\}$  get their respective susy VEVs through the last two set of conditions. Here we have defined,

$$m = \operatorname{Re}(w_F), \qquad \mathfrak{m} = \operatorname{Im}(w_F), \qquad m_i = \operatorname{Re}(\partial_{U^i}w_F), \qquad \mathfrak{m}_i = \operatorname{Im}(\partial_{U^i}w_F), n = \operatorname{Re}(w_H), \qquad \mathfrak{n} = \operatorname{Im}(w_H), \qquad n_i = \operatorname{Re}(\partial_{U^i}w_H), \qquad \mathfrak{n}_i = \operatorname{Im}(\partial_{U^i}w_H).$$
(4.22)

In particular, the SUSY minimum determines the  $h_{-}^{1,1}$  conditions

$$\langle \hat{k}_a \rangle = \langle \hat{k}_{\alpha a b} t^{\alpha} b^b \rangle = 0.$$
(4.23)

That is, the point along the flat direction of the NS-NS axions  $b^a$  at which SUSY is restored is given by  $\langle b^a \rangle = 0, \forall a$ . It turns out that the above minimum determined by (4.21) and (4.23) is Minkowskian,

$$\langle V_{GVW}^{\text{tree}} \rangle = 0 \tag{4.24}$$

which breaks SUSY because  $D_{T_{\alpha}}W \neq 0$ .

We close this section with two comments. First, as we will show momentarily, stabilising the NS-NS axions  $b^a$  through fluxes is apparently misleading. The point is that, in the absence of a  $T_{\alpha}$  dependence in W, the scalar potential in the basis  $\{t^{\alpha}, b^a\}$  is independent of  $b^a$  (and trivially  $c^a$ ). This becomes obvious from our second master formula (4.7) where, setting  $W = W(U^i, S)$ , the only potential source of a  $b^a$  dependence could arise from  $W_{\mathcal{A}} K^{\mathcal{A}\overline{\mathcal{B}}} \overline{W}_{\overline{\mathcal{B}}}$ . However, both  $K^{S\overline{S}}$  and  $\mathbb{K}^{i\overline{j}}$  are independent of  $b^a$ . This means that the  $b^a$  dependence arises implicitly from working in the basis of chiral variables.

Secondly, we notice that an explicit  $b^a$  dependence in (4.7) arises as soon as the superpotential also depends on  $T_{\alpha}$ ,  $W = W(U^i, S, T_{\alpha})$ . In this case,  $K^{T_{\alpha}\overline{T}_{\beta}}$  and  $K^{T_{\alpha}\overline{S}}$  induce terms like  $\hat{k}_a$  etc. as can be seen from (3.20). In addition, the chiral fields  $T_{\alpha}$  in (2.5) include the  $b^a$  explicitly. As it turns out, the minimum is still determined by  $\langle b^a \rangle = 0$ ,  $\forall a$ . In this sense, the axionic solution in eq. (4.23) is a quite 'special solution' which reappears in the subsequent scalar potential analysis in section 6. In fact, this can lead to significant simplifications in the inverse Kähler metric, thereby generically restoring many well known moduli stabilisation schemes, in particular (A)dS<sub>4</sub> vacua realised in KKLT and LVS models, from more general set-ups including the odd moduli.

## 4.3 Non-supersymmetric moduli stabilisation

For non-supersymmetric moduli stabilisation, one needs to consider the full scalar potential V in eq. (4.1). Using the expressions in eq. (4.5) and eq. (4.7), we now analyse a variety of scenarios by considering different forms of the superpotential. Occasionally, we will also use the scalar potential formulation in eq. (4.8) which is valid in the large complex structure regime. Having these so-called "master formulae" for the generic scalar potential applicable for arbitrary numbers of  $S, U^i, T_{\alpha}$  and  $G^a$  moduli at hand allows us to easily read off the various pieces using the inverse Kähler metric and ansatz for the superpotential.

Indeed, for a general superpotential, our first master formula (4.5) gives rise to

$$V = V_{cs} + e^{\mathcal{K}} \left( |W|^2 + W_A K^{A\overline{B}} \overline{W}_{\overline{B}} - 4s \operatorname{Im}(W \overline{W}_{\overline{S}}) - 4s b^a \operatorname{Im}(W \overline{W}_{\overline{G}}{}^a) + 2 \left(k_\alpha - s \,\hat{k}_\alpha\right) \operatorname{Im}(W \overline{W}_{\overline{T}_\alpha}) \right).$$

$$(4.25)$$

Equivalently, the second master formula (4.7) gives rise to

$$V = e^{\mathcal{K}} \left[ \frac{4 \, l - 3 \, \tilde{\xi}}{l - 3 \, \tilde{\xi}} \, |W|^2 + W_{\mathcal{A}} \, K^{\mathcal{A}\overline{\mathcal{B}}} \, \overline{W}_{\overline{\mathcal{B}}} - 2 \, u^i \left( 2 + \frac{9 \tilde{\xi}}{l - 3 \, \tilde{\xi}} \right) \operatorname{Im}(W \, \overline{W}_{\overline{U}^i}) - 4 \, s \, \operatorname{Im}(W \, \overline{W}_{\overline{S}}) - 4 \, s \, b^a \, \operatorname{Im}(W \, \overline{W}_{\overline{G}^a}) + 2 \, (k_\alpha - s \, \hat{k}_\alpha) \, \operatorname{Im}(W \, \overline{W}_{\overline{T}_\alpha}) \right].$$
(4.26)

Given that we will usually ignore any explicit complex structure moduli dependence, we mostly work with variants of (4.25). Furthermore, it is straight forward to generalise (4.25) to higher orders in the loop expansion by using our third master formula (4.13). Plugging in the inverse Kähler metric components of eq. (3.20), we find

$$V = V_0 + V_1 + V_2 \tag{4.27}$$

in terms of

$$V_{0} = V_{cs} + e^{\mathcal{K}} \left[ |W|^{2} - 4s \operatorname{Im}[W\overline{W}_{\overline{S}}] + W_{S} \gamma_{1} \overline{W}_{\overline{S}} + W_{T_{\alpha}} \left( \frac{4\mathcal{Y}^{2} \mathcal{G}_{\alpha\beta}}{9} + \frac{\gamma_{2}^{2} k_{\alpha} k_{\beta}}{4\gamma_{1}} \right) \overline{W}_{\overline{T}_{\beta}} + 2 k_{\alpha} \operatorname{Im}[W\overline{W}_{\overline{T}_{\alpha}}] + \gamma_{2} k_{\alpha} \operatorname{Re}[W_{S} \overline{W}_{\overline{T}_{\alpha}}] \right],$$

$$V_{1} = e^{\mathcal{K}} \left[ \gamma_{1} \hat{k}_{\alpha} \operatorname{Re}[W_{S} \overline{W}_{\overline{T}_{\alpha}}] - 2 s \hat{k}_{\alpha} \operatorname{Im}[W\overline{W}_{\overline{T}_{\alpha}}] + \left( s \mathcal{G}^{ab} \hat{k}_{\alpha a} \hat{k}_{\beta b} + \frac{\gamma_{1}}{4} \hat{k}_{\alpha} \hat{k}_{\beta} + \frac{\gamma_{2}}{4} \left( k_{\alpha} \hat{k}_{\beta} + k_{\beta} \hat{k}_{\alpha} \right) \right) W_{T_{\alpha}} \overline{W}_{\overline{T}_{\beta}} \right], \qquad (4.28)$$

$$V_{2} = e^{\mathcal{K}} \left[ 2\gamma_{1} b^{a} \operatorname{Re}(W_{S} \overline{W}_{\overline{G}^{a}}) + \left( s \mathcal{G}^{ab} + \gamma_{1} b^{a} b^{b} \right) W_{G^{a}} \overline{W}_{\overline{G}^{b}} - 4s b^{a} \operatorname{Im}(W \overline{W}_{\overline{G}^{a}}) + 2 \left( s \mathcal{G}^{ab} \hat{k}_{\alpha b} + \frac{(\gamma_{1} \hat{k}_{\alpha} + \gamma_{2} k_{\alpha}) b^{a}}{2} \right) \operatorname{Re}(W_{T_{\alpha}} \overline{W}_{\overline{G}^{a}}) \right].$$

We will utilise this formula to study a variety of scenarios based on the form of the superpotential. Subsequently, we separate our analysis into three steps:

- step-1: we study the GVW superpotential  $W = W(U^i, S) = W_0$  defined in (2.13).
- step-2: we consider superpotentials of the form  $W = W(U^i, S, T_\alpha)$  which also depend on the  $T_\alpha$  moduli. Such corrections can be induced via the non-perturbative effects and subsequently used for Kaehler moduli stabilisation along the lines of KKLT [4] or LVS [5].
- step-3: in the final step, we examine a class of superpotentials which can generically depend on all the moduli, namely  $W = W(U^i, S, T_\alpha, G^a)$ . The various sources for inducing such superpotential terms are for instance (non-)geometric flux [25–35, 55–57], (fluxed)E3-instantons [45, 46] or D5-gaugino condensation [10, 16, 45, 82].

In the following sections, we will show how our master formula in the form of eq. (4.28) can help us "reading-off" the scalar potential pieces for the above three generic classes of models, which can be subsequently utilised for moduli stabilisation purposes. Given that our expressions are exact and compact, it facilitates the numerical implementation of both the scalar potential and stationary point conditions. The problem of stabilising moduli is thus reduced to finding minima for given choices of parameters which can be achieved via sophisticated search optimisation algorithms [47, 83, 84].

**Note.** We stress that, after knowing the explicit form of the scalar potential V in terms of the set of real moduli and axions, namely  $\{s, c_0, t^{\alpha}, \rho_{\alpha}, b^a, c^a\}$ , we plan to study moduli stabilisation using the set of real variables and not the complexified chiral variables. This is because converting the  $t^{\alpha}$  to  $\tau_{\alpha}$  might not necessarily be possible analytically, though it is always defined implicitly. In particular, the map between the two choices is bijective in the Käher cone where the Kähler cone conditions pick out the unique solution in the quadratic equation relating the  $\tau_i$  to the  $t_k$ . The two choices are therefore equivalent and we will henceforth assume that e.g. the 2-cycle volume moduli  $t^{\alpha}$  are independent variables in the minimisation process, which are otherwise implicit functions of the chiral variables  $t^{\alpha} \equiv t^{\alpha}(S, T_{\alpha}, G^a; \overline{S}, \overline{T}_{\alpha}, \overline{G}^a)$ . When re-deriving the supersymmetry solutions from extrema of the scalar potential, one has to appropriately take this into account.

## 5 Analysing the scalar potential for $W = W(U^i, S)$

In this section we illustrate the power of the master formulae we derived for the general scalar potential. For example, an immediate result of the formula (4.7) is the case of a constant superpotential  $W = w_0$ , which does not depend on any of the moduli and subsequently leads to a scalar potential of the following form,

$$V = e^{\mathcal{K}} \frac{4l - 3\tilde{\xi}}{l - 3\tilde{\xi}} |w_0|^2 \xrightarrow{\tilde{\xi} \to 0} 4 e^{\mathcal{K}} |w_0|^2.$$
(5.1)

Note that, in the large complex structure approximation, the  $\tilde{\xi} \to 0$  limit on the mirror side can generically be a reasonable assumption.

To begin with, we like to point out that in frequently studied set-ups of Kähler moduli stabilisation one assumes the complex-structure moduli and axio-dilaton to be stabilised supersymmetrically via 3-form fluxes. For that purpose, we consider the usual GVW flux superpotential (2.13)

$$W(U^{i}, S) = w_{F}(U^{i}) + S \ w_{H}(U^{i}) \equiv W_{0}, \qquad (5.2)$$

where  $w_F(U^i)$  and  $w_H(U^i)$  are cubic polynomials in the complex structure moduli  $U^i$ induced by  $F_3$ - and  $H_3$ -flux respectively. Hence, the superpotential W is still independent of any of the odd moduli  $G^a$  and the  $T_{\alpha}$  moduli. It is convenient to impose the F-term conditions

$$D_{U^i}W = 0 = \overline{D}_{\overline{U^i}}\overline{W}, \qquad D_SW = 0 = \overline{D}_{\overline{S}}\overline{W}.$$
 (5.3)

However, we argue that this approach is actually misleading in the presence of odd moduli. This is because of the fact that imposing the SUSY stabilisation for the axio-dilaton induces some "fictitious" terms in the scalar potential which are absent when one directly computes the full scalar potential.

## 5.1 An apparent mismatch in the standard approach

Let us first highlight the subtle issue that appears when considering moduli stabilisation by imposing the SUSY stabilisation of the axio-dilaton via  $D_S W = 0 = D_{\overline{S}} \overline{W}$ . For this purpose, we consider the *F*-term scalar potential in eq. (4.1) which for  $W \equiv W_0(U^i, S)$  can be expressed in the following way,

$$V = e^{\mathcal{K}} \left[ \mathbb{K}^{U^{i}\overline{U^{j}}} \left( D_{U^{i}}W_{0} \right) \left( \overline{D}_{\overline{U^{j}}}\overline{W_{0}} \right) + K^{S\overline{S}} \left( D_{S}W_{0} \right) \left( \overline{D}_{\overline{S}}\overline{W_{0}} \right) \right. \\ \left. + \left( K^{S\overline{G}^{a}} K_{\overline{G}^{a}} + K^{S\overline{T}_{\alpha}} K_{\overline{T}_{\alpha}} \right) \left( D_{S}W_{0} \right) \overline{W_{0}} + \left( K_{G^{a}} K^{G^{a}\overline{S}} + K_{T_{\alpha}} K^{T_{\alpha}\overline{S}} \right) \left( \overline{D}_{\overline{S}}\overline{W_{0}} \right) W_{0} \\ \left. + \left( K_{A'} K^{A'\overline{B'}} \overline{K}_{\overline{B'}} - 3 \right) |W_{0}|^{2} \right].$$

$$(5.4)$$

Here, the indices  $\{A', B'\}$  run only over  $G^a$  and  $T_\alpha$  moduli, and do not include the axiodilaton. Now using the identities given in the appendix A leads to the simplified relations

$$K_{G^{a}} K^{G^{a}\overline{S}} + K_{T_{\alpha}} K^{T_{\alpha}\overline{S}} = -\frac{9 i s \hat{\xi} \mathcal{V}}{(2\mathcal{V} + \hat{\xi}) (\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi})} + \frac{i s^{2} \hat{k}_{0} (4\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi})}{2 (2\mathcal{V} + \hat{\xi}) (\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi})}$$
(5.5)  
$$K_{A'} K^{A'\overline{B'}} \overline{K}_{\overline{B'}} - 3 = \frac{3 \hat{\xi} \left(\mathcal{V}^{2} + 7\hat{\xi} \mathcal{V} + \hat{\xi}^{2}\right)}{\left(\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) \left(\hat{\xi} + 2\mathcal{V}\right)^{2}} + \frac{\hat{k}_{0}^{2} s^{2} \left(4\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) - 36 \hat{k}_{0} \hat{\xi} s \mathcal{V}}{4 \left(\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) \left(\hat{\xi} + 2\mathcal{V}\right)^{2}},$$

where the first pieces on the r.h.s. of the above two relations correspond to the case of the absence of odd moduli. They can be precisely matched with the well known BBHL scalar potential result, see for example eq. (3.31) of [38]. On the contrary, the second terms involving  $\hat{k}_0 = \hat{k}_{\alpha a b} t^{\alpha} b^a b^b$  appear due to the presence of odd moduli.

At this point, if we enforce the SUSY stabilisation conditions (5.3) in the scalar potential (5.4) and use the relations in eq. (5.5), the scalar potential reduces to

$$V = e^{\mathcal{K}} |W_0|^2 \left( K_{A'} K^{A'\overline{B'}} \overline{K}_{\overline{B'}} - 3 \right)$$
(5.6)  
=  $e^{\mathcal{K}} |W_0|^2 \left( \frac{3\hat{\xi} \left( \mathcal{V}^2 + 7\hat{\xi} \mathcal{V} + \hat{\xi}^2 \right)}{\left( \mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi} \right) \left( \hat{\xi} + 2\mathcal{V} \right)^2} + \frac{\hat{k}_0^2 s^2 \left( 4\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi} \right) - 36 \hat{k}_0 \hat{\xi} s \mathcal{V}}{4 \left( \mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi} \right) \left( \hat{\xi} + 2\mathcal{V} \right)^2} \right).$ 

This form of scalar potential represents an odd moduli generalisation of the results of [38]. For the moment, let us consider the tree level case  $\hat{\xi} = 0$  in the presence of odd moduli which leads to

$$V = e^{\mathcal{K}} |W_0|^2 \left[ \frac{s^2 (\hat{k}_{\alpha a b} t^{\alpha} b^a b^b)^2}{4 \mathcal{V}^2} \right] = \frac{s e^{\mathbb{K}} (\hat{k}_{\alpha a b} t^{\alpha} b^a b^b)^2 |W_0|^2}{8 \mathcal{V}^4} .$$
(5.7)

This result suggests that,

- The axionic shift symmetry for the NS-NS axion  $b^a$  is broken by a quartic potential which is purely generated by the flux background which for instance has been observed in [11, 16] in concrete set-ups. In fact, most of the odd moduli literature<sup>11</sup> aiming to perform moduli stabilisation automatically assumed the SUSY stabilisation for the axio-dilaton which is why all those models suffer from this outcome. Moreover, this also contradicts the general notion that continuous axionic shift symmetries are broken, usually to a discrete subgroup, only through non-perturbative effects.
- However, we note that the non-trivial axionic potential  $V(b^a)$  in eq. (5.7) appears at the sub-leading order as compared to the usual KKLT and LVS potentials for the Kähler moduli. This issue could remain hidden in the analysis where a large volume approximation is assumed before performing moduli stabilisation as, e.g. in the analysis of [13] which keeps only terms of  $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-3})$ . However, the term can explicitly appear if one goes beyond this order, e.g. as in [16]. Even if the  $t^{\alpha}$ 's correspond to, say, the 'large' 2-cycle volume moduli such that  $t^{\alpha} \sim \mathcal{V}^{1/3}$  as e.g. in the single *T*-modulus case of KKLT models [4] or  $t^{\alpha} \sim t_b$  in the LVS models based on strong swiss-cheese CY compactifications [5], the scalar potential for the  $b^a$  axions scales as,

$$V(b^{a}) = \frac{s \ e^{\mathbb{K}} (\hat{k}_{\alpha a b} t^{\alpha} b^{a} b^{b})^{2} |W_{0}|^{2}}{8 \mathcal{V}^{4}} \propto \frac{(b^{a})^{4}}{\mathcal{V}^{10/3}},$$
(5.8)

which is suppressed by additional volume factors as compared to the usual KKLT and LVS potentials.

• Nevertheless, such a factor of 2-cycle volume moduli appearing in the numerator along with  $b^a$  dependence can be relevant for highly anisotropic compactifications. This is for instance the case in the "large fibre" or "large base" limits of the K3-fibred CY orientifold models [85], where the extra volume suppression might go away, making the term compete with the LVS or KKLT potential. In such extreme scenarios, while studying the dynamics away from the  $\langle b^a \rangle = 0$  minimum, such fictitious  $b^4$ -terms may have some significant impact.

Next, we will show that such a quartic-term is purely an artefact of imposing the SUSY extremisation conditions for the axio-dilaton, and it does not naturally arise in the scalar potential. For that we consider our master formula in the expression (4.5), which gives us the following scalar potential,

$$V = V_{\rm cs} + e^{\mathcal{K}} \left[ |w_F + S w_H|^2 + K^{S\overline{S}} |w_H|^2 - 4 s^2 |w_H|^2 - 4 s \,{\rm Im} (w_F \,\overline{w_H}) \right].$$
(5.9)

Given that  $w_F(U^i)$  and  $w_H(U^i)$  are cubic polynomials only in the  $U^i$ , the only possible source<sup>12</sup> of a dependence on the  $G^a$  moduli (or the  $b^a/c^a$  odd-axions) can be the factor

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>However, there are a couple of works in which the  $b^4$ -term was not found in the generic scalar potential. For example, see [12] regarding axion-monodromy, and [27, 31, 32, 35] regarding non-geometric flux compactifications where one needs to switch-off certain fluxes to make it manifest.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>One can easily verify that similar arguments are true for the metric derived in section 3.3 using the modified Kähler potential (3.27) from  $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$  invariance. This leads to the scalar potential given in eq. (3.44).

 $K^{S\bar{S}}$ . However, we found this component to be given by (cf. eq. (3.20))

$$K^{S\overline{S}} = \gamma_1 = \frac{s^2 \ (4 \ \mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi})}{(\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi})}, \qquad (5.10)$$

which is a surprisingly simple expression independent of the odd moduli despite having complicated couplings in the original Kähler metric component  $K_{S\overline{S}}$ , recall (3.19). In particular, in spite of the  $(\alpha')^3$  correction  $\hat{\xi}$  inducing a scalar potential dependence on the overall volume  $\mathcal{V}$ , both of the odd moduli remain flat directions at this level. Therefore, we conclude that:

- Using the leading order tree level GVW flux superpotential (2.13) in the presence of general 3-form fluxes, the shift symmetry in both of the odd moduli axionic components  $b^a$  and  $c^a$  is unbroken, irrespective of the presence of the BBHL correction. This is because of the no-scale structure (1.1) which holds in the presence of odd moduli.
- Our general analysis shows that the observation of a quartic potential  $V(b^a)$  in eq. (5.8) is actually misleading and arises simply because the SUSY stabilisation condition for the axio-dilaton (5.3) was enforced.
- This opposes the naive expectation because of the non-trivial dependence of the Kähler potential on the odd moduli  $G^a$  when it is expressed in terms of the chiral variables  $S, G^a$  and  $T_{\alpha}$ . In such cases, one would naively expect that the shift symmetry for the NS-NS axion  $b^a$  would be broken, whereas the shift symmetry for the  $c^a$  axion remains intact.

**Tracking the mismatch.** Before we continue, we would like to explicitly track the main cause for the mismatch between the two approaches; one is obtained directly from eq. (5.9), whereas the other one is obtained after imposing the SUSY conditions (5.3) in the scalar potential (5.4). This becomes evident by noting that eq. (5.4) can also be rewritten as

$$V = V_{cs} + e^{\mathcal{K}} \left[ K^{S\overline{S}} \left( \partial_{S} W_{0} \right) \left( \overline{\partial}_{\overline{S}} \overline{W_{0}} \right) + K^{S\overline{A}} K_{\overline{A}} \left( \partial_{S} W_{0} \right) \overline{W_{0}} + K_{A} K^{A\overline{S}} \left( \overline{\partial}_{\overline{S}} \overline{W_{0}} \right) W_{0} \right. \\ \left. + \left\{ \left( K_{S} K^{S\overline{S}} K_{\overline{S}} + K_{S} K^{S\overline{G}^{a}} K_{\overline{G}^{a}} + K_{S} K^{S\overline{T}_{\alpha}} K_{\overline{T}_{\alpha}} + K_{G^{a}} K^{G^{a}\overline{S}} K_{\overline{S}} + K_{T_{\alpha}} K^{T_{\alpha}\overline{S}} K_{\overline{S}} \right) \right. \\ \left. + \left( K_{A'} K^{A'\overline{B'}} \overline{K}_{\overline{B'}} - 3 \right) \right\} |W_{0}|^{2} \right],$$

$$(5.11)$$

where summation indices are such that  $A = \{S, T_{\alpha}, G^a\}$  while  $A' = \{T_{\alpha}, G^a\}$ . In this expression, the terms in the second line arise from expanding the Kähler covariant derivative. Now, after using the explicit expressions for the inverse Kähler metric and the Kähler derivatives and the identities (A.3), we find that the second line in eq. (5.11) sums up to

the following pieces,

$$K_{S}K^{S\overline{S}}K_{\overline{S}} + K_{S}K^{S\overline{G}^{a}}K_{\overline{G}^{a}} + K_{S}K^{S\overline{T}_{\alpha}}K_{\overline{T}_{\alpha}} + K_{G^{a}}K^{G^{a}\overline{S}}K_{\overline{S}} + K_{T_{\alpha}}K^{T_{\alpha}\overline{S}}K_{\overline{S}}$$

$$= 1 - \frac{3\hat{\xi}\left(\mathcal{V}^{2} + 7\hat{\xi}\mathcal{V} + \hat{\xi}^{2}\right)}{\left(\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right)\left(\hat{\xi} + 2\mathcal{V}\right)^{2}} - \frac{\hat{k}_{0}^{2}s^{2}\left(4\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) - 36\hat{k}_{0}\hat{\xi}s\mathcal{V}}{4\left(\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right)\left(\hat{\xi} + 2\mathcal{V}\right)^{2}}$$

$$= 1 - \left(K_{A'}K^{A'\overline{B'}}\overline{K}_{\overline{B'}} - 3\right), \qquad (5.12)$$

which leads to a precise cancellation of moduli dependent terms in the third line of eq. (5.11). In other words, this is simply due to the no-scale identity  $K_A K^{A\overline{B}} \overline{K}_{\overline{B}} = 4$  derived above, when A and B run in the set of closed string moduli  $S, G^a$  and  $T_{\alpha}$ .

The punchline is that imposing the SUSY stabilisation condition may lead to misleading conclusions in the presence of odd moduli due to exact cancellations occurring at the sub-leading order after breaking the no-scale structure through  $\alpha'$  corrections. In such a case, if some moduli are stabilised by the leading-order no-scale breaking corrections, then those results could still be consistent. However, the no-scale structure is usually not completely broken leaving some moduli as flat directions which require next-to-subleading effects. For example, any inflationary model realised within a LVS framework, the inflationary potential is suppressed by volume factors  $\mathcal{V}^{-a}$  where a > 3, e.g., in fibre inflation a = 10/3 [86]. Hence, when adding odd moduli in such a scenario, these sub-leading terms become especially relevant. Nevertheless, as we said before, if axion VEVs are not shifted too much from  $b^a \simeq 0$  after including all possible corrections to fix them, they may not significantly affect the earlier minimum. This is not to say though that situations away from the minimum e.g. in the regime where inflation occurs might be sensitive to our aforementioned observation.

## 5.2 BBHL-corrected flux scalar potential

At this point, we present the explicit form of the  $(\alpha')^3$ -corrected GVW scalar potential which can be utilised to explore non-SUSY vacua. In this scenario, generically one can hope to stabilise the complex structure moduli, namely the axions  $v^i$  and their respective saxions  $u^i$ , as well as the universal axion  $c_0$  along with the dilaton s. Using the scalar potential in eq. (4.8) for  $\tilde{\xi} = 0$  we have

$$V_{GVW} \equiv V_{GVW}(v^{i}, u^{i}, c_{0}, s, \mathcal{V}) \simeq e^{\mathcal{K}} \left( V_{GVW}^{(1)} + V_{GVW}^{(2)} + V_{GVW}^{(3)} \right),$$
(5.13)

where

$$\begin{split} V_{GVW}^{(1)} &= 4 \left[ (m+c_0 n)^2 + (\mathfrak{m} + c_0 \mathfrak{n})^2 + \frac{s^2 |w_H|^2 (4 \,\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi})}{4 \,(\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi})} + s \,(\mathfrak{m} \, n - m \, \mathfrak{n}) \right], \\ V_{GVW}^{(2)} &= 4 \, u^i \left[ (m+c_0 \, n) (\mathfrak{m}_i + c_0 \, \mathfrak{n}_i) - (\mathfrak{m} + c_0 \, \mathfrak{n}) (m_i + c_0 \, n_i) \right. \\ &+ (mn_i - m_i \, n + \mathfrak{m} \, \mathfrak{n}_i - \mathfrak{m}_i \, \mathfrak{n}) \, s + (n \, \mathfrak{n}_i - n_i \, \mathfrak{n}) \, s^2 \right], \end{split}$$
(5.14)  
$$V_{GVW}^{(3)} &= \left( 2u^i \, u^j - \frac{2 \, l \, l^{ij}}{3} \right) \left[ (m_i + c_0 \, n_i)^2 + (\mathfrak{m}_i + c_0 \, \mathfrak{n}_i)^2 - 2 \, s \,(m_i \mathfrak{n}_i - \mathfrak{m}_i n_i) \right. \\ &+ s^2 \, \left( (n_i)^2 + (\mathfrak{n}_i)^2 ) \right) \right]. \end{split}$$

Here we have used the symbols for the real and imaginary parts of  $w_F(U^i)$ ,  $w_H(U^i)$  and their respective derivatives as defined in eq. (4.22). This potential depends on the real fields  $\{v^i, u^i, c_0, s, \mathcal{V}\}$ , albeit not on the fields  $b^a, c^a$  or any other  $t^{\alpha}$ . Moreover, in the absence of the BBHL correction, the dependence on the overall volume  $\mathcal{V}$  comes from  $e^{\mathcal{K}}$ .

Subsequently, we can separate out the tree level and the next sub-leading terms in the scalar potential (5.13),

$$V_{GVW} \simeq V_{GVW}^{\text{tree}} + V_{GVW}^{\alpha'}, \tag{5.15}$$

where

$$V_{GVW}^{\text{tree}} = \frac{e^{\mathbb{K}}}{2 \, s \, \mathcal{V}^2} \left[ 4 \, |W|^2 + 4 \, s \, (\mathfrak{m} \, n - m \, \mathfrak{n}) + V_{GVW}^{(2)} + V_{GVW}^{(3)} \right],$$
$$V_{GVW}^{\alpha'} = -\frac{\hat{\xi}}{\mathcal{V}} \left( V_{GVW}^{\text{tree}} - \frac{e^{\mathbb{K}}}{2 \, s \, \mathcal{V}^2} \times 3 \, s^2 \, |w_H|^2 \right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\mathcal{V}^4}\right).$$
(5.16)

As expected from (3.44),  $V_{GVW}^{\alpha'}$  splits into a piece arising from the 4D Weyl rescaling of  $V_{GVW}^{\text{tree}}$  with the corrected volume  $\mathcal{V} + \hat{\xi}/2$  and a non-trivial piece. The coefficient of the latter matches the expectation from (3.46), see also (5.19) below.

Clearly, at the tree level SUSY minimum, we have  $\langle V_{GVW}^{\text{tree}} \rangle_{susy} = 0$  from eq. (4.24). This can also be re-derived from the scalar potential given in eqs. (5.15)–(5.16) after imposing the conditions (4.21) in the three pieces of (5.14). To appreciate the non-trivial cancellations among the various terms, we mention that

$$\langle V_{GVW}^{(1)} \rangle = \langle |W_0|^2 \rangle \left( 3 + \frac{3 \langle \hat{\xi} \rangle}{4(\mathcal{V} - \langle \hat{\xi} \rangle)} \right), \quad \langle V_{GVW}^{(2)} \rangle = -2 \langle V_{GVW}^{(3)} \rangle = -6 \langle |W_0|^2 \rangle, \quad (5.17)$$

where we used that at the leading order supersymmetric minimum

$$4\langle s \rangle^2 \langle |w_H|^2 \rangle = 4\langle s \rangle^2 \left[ \langle n \rangle^2 + \langle \mathfrak{n} \rangle^2 \right] = \langle |W_0|^2 \rangle.$$
(5.18)

Overall, this implies

$$\langle V_{GVW}^{\alpha'} \rangle = \frac{3 \langle \hat{\xi} \rangle e^{\langle \mathbb{K} \rangle} \langle |W_0|^2 \rangle}{8 \langle s \rangle \mathcal{V}^3} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\mathcal{V}^4}\right) \ge 0.$$
 (5.19)

This positive semidefinite term is well-known from LVS models [5]. Thus, our master formula for the generic treatment of the scalar potential can elegantly and efficiently rederive those results.

Note that given the form of the superpotential, our generic formulation of the BBHLcorrected GVW scalar potential in eqs. (5.13)–(5.14) enables one to not only perform the analytic computations, but also to proceed with numerical implementations. Having such a general form can help in directly exploring the non-supersymmetric vacua of the complex structure moduli and the axio-dilaton which could result in subleading terms that can be useful for uplifting purposes [87].

## 5.3 Axio-dilaton mass splitting via the BBHL correction

In this subsection, we will first re-derive a well known no-go results of [88, 89] about the obstacles in creating a mass splitting between the masses of the universal axion  $(m_{c_0})$  and the dilaton  $(m_s)$  using the GVW superpotential. For that purpose, assuming the large volume and large complex structure limit, we consider the GVW scalar potential given in eqs. (5.15)-(5.16) by ignoring the BBHL correction, which leads to

$$V_{GVW}^{\text{tree}} \equiv V(c_0, s) = \frac{a_1}{s} \left( 1 + a_2 c_0 + a_3 s + a_4 c_0^2 + a_5 s^2 \right), \tag{5.20}$$

where  $a_i$ 's are some complex structure moduli dependent functions while  $a_1$ , in addition, has a dependence on the overall volume  $\mathcal{V}$  as well. To be more specific, we have the following explicit expressions for the  $a_i$  coefficients,

$$a_{1} = \frac{e^{\mathbb{K}}}{2\mathcal{V}^{2}}a_{0},$$

$$a_{2} = \frac{1}{a_{0}} \Big[ 8(mn + \mathfrak{m}\,\mathfrak{n}) + \mathbb{K}^{U^{i}\overline{U}^{j}}(m_{i}\,n_{j} + n_{i}\,m_{j} + \mathfrak{m}_{i}\,\mathfrak{n}_{j} + \mathfrak{n}_{i}\,\mathfrak{m}_{j}) \\ + 4u^{i}(m\,\mathfrak{n}_{i} - m_{i}\,\mathfrak{n} + n\,\mathfrak{m}_{i} - n_{i}\,\mathfrak{m}) \Big],$$

$$a_{3} = \frac{1}{a_{0}} \Big[ 4(\mathfrak{m}\,n - \mathfrak{n}\,m) + 4u^{i}(\mathfrak{m}\,\mathfrak{n}_{i} - \mathfrak{m}_{i}\,\mathfrak{n} - m_{i}\,n + m\,n_{i}) + 2\,\mathbb{K}^{U^{i}\overline{U}^{j}}(\mathfrak{m}_{i}\,n_{j} - m_{i}\,\mathfrak{n}_{j}) \Big],$$

$$a_{4} = \frac{1}{a_{0}} \Big[ 4|w_{H}|^{2} + 4\,u^{i}(n\,\mathfrak{n}_{i} - \mathfrak{n}\,n_{i}) + n_{i}\,\mathbb{K}^{U^{i}\overline{U}^{j}}\,n_{j} + \mathfrak{n}_{i}\,\mathbb{K}^{U^{i}\overline{U}^{j}}\,\mathfrak{n}_{j} \Big] = a_{5},$$
(5.21)

where

$$a_0 = 4 |w_F|^2 + 4 u^i \left( m \mathfrak{m}_i - \mathfrak{m} m_i \right) + m_i \mathbb{K}^{U^i \overline{U}^j} m_j + \mathfrak{m}_i \mathbb{K}^{U^i \overline{U}^j} \mathfrak{m}_j.$$

This tree level formulation of the scalar potential produces the results of [35] by considering  $F_3/H_3$  fluxes only, and switching-off the (non-)geometric fluxes. Now, using the scalar potential (5.20) for the two-field  $\{c_0, s\}$  dynamics, the solutions of the extremisation conditions, and scalar potential as well as the Hessian evaluated at the possible extrema amounts to

$$\langle c_0 \rangle = -\frac{\langle a_2 \rangle}{2 \langle a_4 \rangle}, \quad \langle s \rangle = \pm \frac{\sqrt{4 \langle a_4 \rangle - \langle a_2 \rangle^2}}{2 \sqrt{\langle a_4 \rangle \langle a_5 \rangle}}, \qquad \langle V \rangle = \langle a_1 \rangle \left( \langle a_3 \rangle \pm 2 \langle s \rangle \langle a_5 \rangle \right),$$
$$\langle V_{ij} \rangle = \text{Diag} \left\{ \pm \frac{2 \langle a_1 \rangle \langle a_4 \rangle}{\langle s \rangle}, \ \pm \frac{2 \langle a_1 \rangle \langle a_5 \rangle}{\langle s \rangle} \right\}; \qquad \frac{\langle V_{ss} \rangle}{\langle V_{c_0c_0} \rangle} = \frac{\langle a_5 \rangle}{\langle a_4 \rangle} = 1. \tag{5.22}$$

Here although we do not discuss the complex structure moduli explicitly, we anticipate that the two-field analysis will continue to hold after fixing those moduli. Now given that dilaton s > 0, only the positive solution of (5.22) is physical.

Note that we have simply collected the coefficients (5.21) for the scalar potential in eq. (5.20) where it automatically turned out that  $a_4 = a_5$  for the quadratic coefficients of  $c_0$  and s irrespective of whether the complex structure moduli are at their minimum or not. This two-field analysis implies that masses of the universal axion  $c_0$  and the dilaton s remain exactly the same. Moreover, given the fact that both fields are part of the same chiral variable, namely S, and their source of potential is the same, it is not surprising

that a mass hierarchy cannot be realised in this flux scenarios. This challenge was first observed for 3-form flux backgrounds in [88] and was subsequently generalised for nongeometric models having two pairs of the S-dual fluxes, namely the  $(F_3, H_3)$  fluxes and the non-geometric (Q, P) fluxes in [89].

Mass splitting via the BBHL correction. Thus far, we ignored the  $(\alpha')^3$ -effects which lead to a mass splitting between  $c_0$  and s. Indeed, we can consider our generic form for the GVW scalar potential as given in eq. (5.13) with induced dilaton dependence through  $\mathcal{Y}(s)$  where  $\mathcal{Y}(s) = \mathcal{V} + \frac{1}{2}\hat{\xi}$  and  $\hat{\xi} = s^{3/2}\xi$ . While the extremisation condition for  $c_0$  still results in a linear polynomial, the one for the dilaton results in a degree 13 polynomial in swhich cannot be solved analytically. However, we can make progress by using the possible expansions, for example in the large volume limit  $\mathcal{V} \gg \hat{\xi}$ .

Nevertheless it turns out that the generic BBHL corrected GVW potential (5.13) can still be expressed in the form as given in eq. (5.20), where the coefficients  $a_i$ 's will however develop a dilaton dependence along with the complex structure moduli. The new set of  $a_i$ parameters are

$$a_1(s) = \frac{e^{\mathbb{K}} a_0}{2\left(\mathcal{V} + \frac{1}{2}\hat{\xi}\right)^2}, \quad a_5(s) = a_4 + \frac{3\,\hat{\xi}\,|w_H|^2}{a_0\,(\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi})}, \tag{5.23}$$

with all other  $a_i$  as in (5.21). Now the extremisation of the  $c_0$  axion remains the same, the dilaton VEV is changed giving rise to

$$\langle c_{0} \rangle : \quad \langle c_{0} \rangle = -\frac{\langle a_{2} \rangle}{2 \langle a_{4} \rangle}$$

$$\langle s \rangle : \quad \langle a_{1} \rangle \left( 1 - \frac{\langle a_{2} \rangle^{2}}{4 \langle a_{4} \rangle} - \langle s \rangle^{2} \langle a_{5} \rangle \right)$$

$$= \langle a_{1} \rangle \langle s \rangle^{3} \langle \partial_{s} a_{5} \rangle + \langle s \rangle \left( 1 - \frac{\langle a_{2} \rangle^{2}}{4 \langle a_{4} \rangle} + \langle s \rangle \langle a_{3} \rangle + \langle s \rangle^{2} \langle a_{5} \rangle \right) \langle \partial_{s} a_{1} \rangle,$$

$$\langle V \rangle : \quad \langle V \rangle = \frac{\langle a_{1} \rangle}{\langle s \rangle} \left( 1 - \frac{\langle a_{2} \rangle^{2}}{4 \langle a_{4} \rangle} + \langle s \rangle \langle a_{3} \rangle + \langle s \rangle^{2} \langle a_{5} \rangle \right),$$

$$\langle V_{ij} \rangle : \quad \langle V_{ij} \rangle = \text{Diag} \left\{ \frac{2 \langle a_{1} \rangle \langle a_{4} \rangle}{\langle s \rangle}, \frac{2 \langle a_{1} \rangle \langle a_{5} \rangle}{\langle s \rangle} + V_{ss}^{corr} \right\},$$

$$\text{where} \quad V_{ss}^{corr} = \langle V \rangle \left( \frac{2 \langle \partial_{s} a_{1} \rangle}{\langle s \rangle \langle a_{1} \rangle} - \frac{2 \langle \partial_{s} a_{1} \rangle^{2}}{\langle a_{1} \rangle^{2}} + \frac{\langle \partial_{ss} a_{1} \rangle}{\langle a_{1} \rangle} \right) + \langle a_{1} \rangle \left( 4 \langle \partial_{s} a_{5} \rangle + \langle s \rangle \langle \partial_{ss} a_{5} \rangle \right).$$

For knowing the dilaton VEV one would need to solve the corresponding polynomial expressed in the second relation of (5.24). We notice immediately that now there is a possibility of generating a mass-splitting between the masses of  $c_0$  and s due to  $a_4 \neq a_5$ . The ratio of the Hessian eigenvalues is

$$\frac{\langle V_{ss} \rangle}{\langle V_{c_0 c_0} \rangle} = \frac{\langle a_5 \rangle}{\langle a_4 \rangle} + \frac{\langle s \rangle}{2 \langle a_1 \rangle \langle a_4 \rangle} \langle V_{ss}^{\text{corr}} \rangle$$
(5.25)

which can be expanded as

$$\frac{\langle V_{ss} \rangle}{\langle V_{c_0c_0} \rangle} = 1 + \left\{ \frac{\langle \hat{\xi} \rangle}{\mathcal{V}} \times \frac{15 \left[ 28 \langle a_4 \rangle \langle s \rangle^2 + \langle a_0 \rangle \left( \langle a_2 \rangle^2 - 4 \langle a_4 \rangle (1 + \langle a_3 \rangle \langle s \rangle + \langle a_4 \rangle \langle s \rangle^2) \right) \right]}{32 \langle a_0 \rangle \langle a_4 \rangle^2 \langle s \rangle^2} \right\} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\mathcal{V}^2}\right).$$
(5.26)

This shows the possibility of a mass-splitting being developed between the masses of the universal axion  $(c_0)$  and the dilaton (s) due to  $(\alpha')^3$  corrections. However, one has to provide the VEVs of the complex structure moduli and the dilaton in order to get the  $\langle a_i \rangle$ 's in the above estimates. Moreover, in realistic models, one also needs to take the dynamics of all other moduli into account in order to gauge the effects of the off-diagonal mixing terms in the mass matrix, especially for the cases when the superpotential depends on the  $T_{\alpha}$ -moduli. Nevertheless, given that we have evaded the no-go result of the two-field analysis using  $(\alpha')^3$  corrections, this is quite a significant step via an analytical approach.

## 6 Analysing the scalar potential for $W = W(U^i, S, T_{\alpha})$

In this section, we study different scenarios involving superpotentials of the form  $W = W(U^i, S, T_\alpha)$ . The associated scalar potentials explicitly depend on the NS-NS axions  $b^a$ , while the shift symmetry of the R-R axions  $c^a$  remains intact. We derive an expression for the Hessian of the  $b^a$  which reduces to the results of [44] in the SUSY case, while improving upon previous approximate estimates of [11] for non-SUSY minima.

## 6.1 General remarks on moduli stabilisation

From our above observations, one could be tempted to conclude that the axionic shift symmetry of  $b^a$  remains unbroken simply because the  $G^a$  are not explicitly featured in the superpotential. In this section, we show that this is actually not the case, and after including a  $T_{\alpha}$ -moduli dependence in the superpotential, the  $b^a$  axions can indeed receive a contribution in the scalar potential. This makes odd moduli rather special<sup>13</sup> as compared to other moduli.

Let us consider a superpotential of the form

$$W = W_0(U^i, S) + W_1(U^i, S, T_\alpha).$$
(6.1)

The second piece of the superpotential can be generated by non-perturbative effects [52, 90–93] with an exponential  $T_{\alpha}$ -moduli dependence or in the presence of S-dual pair of (Q, P) non-geometric fluxes [28, 29, 32, 33, 55] inducing a polynomial dependence on the  $T_{\alpha}$ -moduli. Subsequently, from eq. (4.5) we obtain,

$$V = V_{\rm cs} + e^{\mathcal{K}} \left[ |W|^2 + W_S K^{S\overline{S}} \overline{W}_{\overline{S}} + (W_1)_{T_{\alpha}} K^{T_{\alpha}\overline{T}_{\beta}} \overline{(W_1)}_{\overline{T}_{\beta}} - 4 s \operatorname{Im} \left[ W \overline{W}_{\overline{S}} \right] - 4 \left( \operatorname{Im} T_{\alpha} \right) \operatorname{Im} \left[ W \overline{(W_1)}_{\overline{T}_{\alpha}} \right] + 2 K^{S\overline{T}_{\alpha}} \operatorname{Re} \left[ W_S \overline{(W_1)}_{\overline{T}_{\alpha}} \right] \right],$$

$$(6.2)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>Recall that usually the partners of the R-R axions in the complexified chiral variables are called 'saxions', but the partner of R-R  $C_2$ -axions  $c^a$  appearing in the  $G^a$  multiplet are also axions, namely the  $b^a$  axions.

or equivalently using the master formula in eq. (4.7) this can be written as,

$$V = e^{\mathcal{K}} \left[ \frac{4l - 3\tilde{\xi}}{l - 3\tilde{\xi}} |W|^2 + W_{U^i} K^{U^i \overline{U^j}} \overline{W}_{\overline{U^j}} + W_S K^{S\overline{S}} \overline{W}_{\overline{S}} + (W_1)_{T_{\alpha}} K^{T_{\alpha} \overline{T}_{\beta}} \overline{(W_1)}_{\overline{T}_{\beta}} \right. \\ \left. + 2 K^{S\overline{T}_{\alpha}} \operatorname{Re}[W_S \overline{(W_1)}_{\overline{T}_{\alpha}}] - 2 u^i \left( 2 + \frac{9\tilde{\xi}}{l - 3\tilde{\xi}} \right) \operatorname{Im}[W \overline{W}_{\overline{U^j}}] \right.$$

$$\left. - 4 s \operatorname{Im}[W \overline{W}_{\overline{S}}] - 4 (\operatorname{Im}T_{\alpha}) \operatorname{Im}[W \overline{(W_1)}_{\overline{T}_{\alpha}}] \right],$$

$$(6.3)$$

From the inverse Kähler metric components in eq. (3.20), we find that, in contrast to the previous case where  $K^{S\overline{S}}$  is independent of odd moduli, the components  $K^{S\overline{T}_{\alpha}}$  and  $K^{T_{\alpha}\overline{T}_{\beta}}$  do indeed depend on the  $B_2$ -axions  $b^a$ , but not on the  $C_2$ -axions  $c^a$ . Also notice that with our definition of the chiral variable we have  $\text{Im}[T_{\alpha}] = \frac{1}{2}(s \hat{k}_{\alpha} - k_{\alpha})$  (recall eq. (2.5)), and therefore one can consider the following two approaches for odd moduli stabilisation:

• If we define a set of real moduli as  $\tau_{\alpha} = -\operatorname{Im}[T_{\alpha}]$  and try to eliminate all the  $t^{\alpha}$  dependence in terms of  $\tau_{\alpha}$  and  $b^{a}$ , then subsequently the scalar potential (6.2) can receive  $b^{a}$  dependence through the inverse Kähler metric components; e.g. via replacing  $k_{\alpha} = 2\tau_{\alpha} + s \hat{k}_{\alpha}$ . In this case, there would be no  $b^{a}$  dependence arising from the superpotential  $W \equiv W(U^{i}, \operatorname{Re}(T_{\alpha}), \operatorname{Im}(T_{\alpha})) = W(U^{i}, \tau_{\alpha}, \tilde{\rho}_{\alpha})$  where  $\tilde{\rho}_{\alpha}$  is the collection of all R-R axions. Moreover due to the need for replacing  $k_{\alpha} = 2\tau_{\alpha} + s \hat{k}_{\alpha}$  in the inverse metric components, some additional  $b^{a}$  dependences would also be introduced in the scalar potential.

However after looking at the inverse Kähler metric components, one observes that, apart from eliminating  $k_{\alpha}$  in favour of  $\tau_{\alpha}$ , there remain pieces of the type  $k_{\alpha\beta}$  and  $\hat{k}_{ab}$  with linear dependence on the 2-cycle volumes  $t^{\alpha}$ . This can be a key obstacle when writing down the scalar potential as an explicit function of  $\{\tau_{\alpha}, b^a\}$  only.

• If we define  $\tau_{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2}k_{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2}k_{\alpha\beta\gamma}t^{\beta}t^{\gamma}$  as the usual geometric volume of the fourcycles of the CY threefold, then we need to replace  $\operatorname{Im}[T_{\alpha}] = \frac{s}{2}\hat{k}_{\alpha} - \tau_{\alpha}$ . Then, some explicit  $b^{a}$  dependence will be introduced through the Kähler potential as well as the superpotential despite it not depending on the odd moduli  $G^{a}$ . However, in this case one can stabilise moduli working in the basis  $\{t^{\alpha}, b^{a}\}$  and therefore there would be no need to make the conversion  $t^{\alpha} \to \tau_{\alpha}$ .

Let us note that for both approaches, there is no scalar potential piece induced for the  $c^a$  axions through the superpotential.<sup>14</sup> The second approach of working in the basis  $\{t^{\alpha}, b^a\}$  works well for arbitrary number of moduli, and hence is usually preferred. However, limitations arise when computing the mass matrix for which a combination of Hessian components and the inverse Kähler metric has to be considered. Thus, either of the two approaches might not be always be applicable for generic CY orientifolds.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>In this statement, we use that the  $C_4$ -axions only enter through the combination  $\tilde{\rho}_{\alpha}$  as defined in (2.6) which serves as a single variable to avoid fictitious dependence on  $c_0, b^a$  and  $c^a$  axions.

As the problem is inherited from the fact that it is hard to convert  $t^{\alpha}$  into the  $\tau_{\alpha}$ , it is more convenient to consider the scalar potential as a function of the 2-cycle volumes  $t^{\alpha}$  and the axions  $b^{a}$  for many moduli stabilisation or minimisation purposes. While this approach is not fully established yet in the literature, it has already been proposed in [47]. For that purpose, we rewrite the scalar potential (6.2) as

$$V = V_0 + V_1 \,, \tag{6.4}$$

in terms of  $V_0$  and  $V_1$  defined in (4.28). Here  $V_0$  can have an explicit  $b^a$  dependence only through the superpotential piece  $W_1$  (recall that  $\gamma_1, \gamma_2, k_\alpha$  as well as the metric  $\mathcal{G}_{\alpha\beta}$  are independent of the  $b^a$  axions). Further, the pieces  $V_1$  and  $V_2$  may have an explicit  $b^a$ dependence also through the Kähler metric.<sup>15</sup> However, given that the moduli dependence of the superpotential is

$$W_1 \equiv W_1(U^i, S, T_\alpha) = W_1(u^i, v^i, c_0, s, k_\alpha, \hat{k}_\alpha, \tilde{\rho}_\alpha)$$

$$(6.5)$$

where  $\tilde{\rho}_{\alpha}$  is again some collection of all R-R axions, the form of (4.28) suggests that the  $b^a$  dependence of the scalar potential can always be collected as

$$V(b^a) \equiv V(\hat{k}_{\alpha}, K_{\alpha a\beta b}) \tag{6.6}$$

where

$$K_{\alpha a\beta b} = \hat{k}_{\alpha a} \hat{k}_{\beta b} \,. \tag{6.7}$$

## 6.2 Non-perturbative superpotentials

Another commonly studied scenario is that of a non-perturbative superpotential induced by E3-instantons or D7 gaugino condensation. In this case, we write

$$W_0 = w_F(U^i) + Sw_H(U^i), \quad W_1(U^i, S, T_\alpha) = \sum_{\alpha=1}^{h_+^{1,1}} A_\alpha(U^i, S) e^{-ia^\alpha T_\alpha}.$$
(6.8)

Here, the Pfaffian prefactors  $A_{\alpha}(U^i, S)$  is associated with the partition function of the D3-brane wrapping a certain divisor D in the orientifold. As argued recently in [93], for many CY orientifolds the  $A_{\alpha}(U^i, S)$  can be treated as constant numbers, so-called *Pfaffian* numbers, since the divisor D becomes a pure rigid divisor in the F-theory uplift. Thus, we set  $A_{\alpha}(U^i, S) = A_{\alpha}$  in the subsequent discussion which is commonly used in the literature. We note, however, that our general expressions in eq. (6.2) and eq. (6.3) make it straight forward to include such corrections systematically.

Plugging (6.8) into (6.2), we write the scalar potential as

$$V = V^{\text{pert}} + V^{\text{np1}} + V^{\text{np2}} \tag{6.9}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>Recall that  $\mathcal{G}^{ab}$  only has an explicit dependence on the  $t^{\alpha}$  moduli, but not the  $b^{a}$  axions.

where the individual terms are given by

$$V^{\text{pert}} = V_{\text{cs}} + e^{\mathcal{K}} \left( |W_0|^2 - 4s \operatorname{Im} [W_0 \overline{w}_H] + w_H \gamma_1 \overline{w}_H \right)$$

$$V^{\text{np1}} = e^{\mathcal{K}} \sum_{\alpha=1}^{h_+^{1,1}} \left[ 2(1 + a^{\alpha}(k_{\alpha} - s\hat{k}_{\alpha})) \operatorname{Re} \left[ (w_F + c_0 w_H) \overline{A}_{\alpha} e^{ia^{\alpha} \overline{T}_{\alpha}} \right] + (2s + a^{\alpha}(k_{\alpha}(\gamma_2 - 2s) + \hat{k}_{\alpha}(\gamma_1 + 2s^2))) \operatorname{Im} [w_H \overline{A}_{\alpha} e^{ia^{\alpha} \overline{T}_{\alpha}}] \right]$$

$$(6.10)$$

$$V^{\text{np2}} = e^{\mathcal{K}} \sum_{\alpha,\beta=1}^{h_{+}^{+}} A_{\alpha} \bar{A}_{\beta} e^{-ia^{\alpha}T_{\alpha} + ia^{\beta}\overline{T}_{\beta}} \left[ 1 + a^{\alpha}(k_{\alpha} - s\hat{k}_{\alpha}) + a^{\beta}(k_{\beta} - s\hat{k}_{\beta}) + a^{\alpha}a^{\beta} \left( \frac{4\mathcal{Y}^{2}\mathcal{G}_{\alpha\beta}}{9} + \frac{\gamma_{2}^{2}k_{\alpha}k_{\beta}}{4\gamma_{1}} + s\mathcal{G}^{ab}\hat{k}_{\alpha a}\hat{k}_{\beta b} + \frac{\gamma_{1}}{4}\hat{k}_{\alpha}\hat{k}_{\beta} + \frac{\gamma_{2}}{4}(k_{\alpha}\hat{k}_{\beta} + k_{\beta}\hat{k}_{\alpha}) \right) \right].$$

This generalises the master formula of [47] in the presence of odd moduli and without enforcing the SUSY stabilisation of the axio-dilaton S. Clearly, the shift symmetry of  $b^a$ is broken by the presence of terms  $\sim \hat{k}_{\alpha}$  etc. due to the way the chiral variables  $T_{\alpha}$  and  $G^a$ are coupled in the Kähler potential eq. (3.14).

Finally, we solve the stationary point conditions for the axions in the exact scalar potential.<sup>16</sup> To this end, we set for the complex parameters

$$w_F = |w_F| e^{i\lambda_F}, \quad w_H = |w_H| e^{i\lambda_H}, \quad A_\alpha = |A_\alpha| e^{i\lambda_\alpha}$$
(6.11)

which allows us to determine that a solution to  $\partial_{c_0} V = 0$  and  $\partial_{\tilde{\rho}_{\alpha}} V = 0$  is

$$\langle c_0 \rangle = 0, \quad \lambda_F - \lambda_H = \frac{\pi}{2}, \quad a^{\alpha} \langle \tilde{\rho}_{\alpha} \rangle - \lambda_{\alpha} + \lambda_F = \pi.$$
 (6.12)

At this minimum, we have

$$\operatorname{Re}\left[(w_{F}+c_{0}w_{H})\bar{A}_{\gamma}e^{ia^{\gamma}\overline{T}_{\gamma}}\right] = -|w_{F}||A_{\gamma}|e^{-a^{\gamma}\sigma_{\gamma}},$$

$$\operatorname{Im}\left[w_{H}\bar{A}_{\gamma}e^{ia^{\gamma}\overline{T}_{\gamma}}\right] = -|w_{H}||A_{\gamma}|e^{-a^{\gamma}\sigma_{\gamma}},$$

$$\operatorname{Re}\left[A_{\gamma}\overline{A}_{\alpha}e^{-ia^{\gamma}T_{\gamma}+ia^{\alpha}\overline{T}_{\alpha}}\right] = |A_{\gamma}||A_{\alpha}|e^{-a^{\gamma}\sigma_{\gamma}-a^{\alpha}\sigma_{\alpha}}.$$
(6.13)

Similarly, it is easy to see that  $\partial_{b^a} V = 0$  is solved by (see also section 6.4)

$$\langle \hat{k}_{\alpha a b} b^b \rangle = 0 \tag{6.14}$$

which is again solved for e.g.  $\langle b^a \rangle = 0 \ \forall a$ . Below, we derive an exact expression for the Hessian at these non-SUSY minima for the NS-NS axions  $b^a$ . By studying the simplest LVS set-up with an arbitrary number of odd moduli, we show that tachyons can be avoided in most instances which needs to be contrasted with the tachyonic no-go of [44] for SUSY minima.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>While this is a self consistent class of solutions, there can be other sets of solutions for the axions  $\tilde{\rho}_{\alpha}$ .

## 6.3 A tree level superpotential from the non-geometric fluxes

At tree level, there can be several possibilities to induce the Kähler moduli dependent pieces in the scalar potential, especially after including non-geometric fluxes [25, 26, 29, 32, 33, 55]. To illustrate the form of the axionic potential  $V(b^a)$  let us consider a superpotential of the following form,

$$W_0 = w_F(U^i) + S w_H(U^i), \quad W_1 = \mathcal{Q}^{\alpha}(U^i) T_{\alpha},$$
 (6.15)

where  $Q^{\alpha}$  can generically depend on the complex structure or axio-dilaton moduli, but we ignore this dependence subsequently. Such a superpotential with a linear dependence on the  $T_{\alpha}$ -moduli naturally arises in non-geometric flux compactifications [26, 29, 31, 55, 57], and their *S*-dual completions can also induce some  $(ST_{\alpha})$ -type superpotential couplings [27, 32, 55, 56, 89]. Plugging the superpotential into (6.2), the *F*-term scalar potential reads

$$V = V_{cs} + e^{\mathcal{K}} \left[ |w_F + S w_H + T_{\alpha} \mathcal{Q}^{\alpha}|^2 + \gamma_1 |w_H|^2 + (\gamma_1 \hat{k}_{\alpha} + \gamma_2 k_{\alpha}) \operatorname{Re}[w_H \overline{\mathcal{Q}}^{\alpha}] + \mathcal{Q}^{\alpha} \left( \frac{4}{9} \mathcal{Y}^2 \mathcal{G}_{\alpha\beta} + s \mathcal{G}^{ab} \hat{k}_{\alpha a} \hat{k}_{\beta b} + \frac{(\gamma_1 \hat{k}_{\alpha} + \gamma_2 k_{\alpha}) (\gamma_1 \hat{k}_{\beta} + \gamma_2 k_{\beta})}{4 \gamma_1} \right) \overline{\mathcal{Q}}^{\beta}$$

$$- 4 s \operatorname{Im}[(w_F + S w_H + T_{\alpha} \mathcal{Q}^{\alpha}) \overline{w}_H] - 4 \operatorname{Im}(T_{\alpha}) \operatorname{Im}[(w_F + S w_H + T_{\beta} \mathcal{Q}^{\beta}) \overline{\mathcal{Q}}^{\alpha}] \right],$$
(6.16)

The extremisation conditions for the  $b^a$  are given as,

$$\frac{\partial V}{\partial b^{c}} = e^{\mathcal{K}} \left[ 2(\gamma_{1} - 2s^{2}) \hat{k}_{\alpha c} \operatorname{Re}[w_{H} \overline{\mathcal{Q}}^{\alpha}] + \mathcal{Q}^{\alpha} \left( s \,\mathcal{G}^{ab} \left( \hat{k}_{\alpha ac} \,\hat{k}_{\beta b} + \hat{k}_{\alpha a} \,\hat{k}_{\beta bc} \right) \right. \\ \left. + \frac{\hat{k}_{\alpha c} (\gamma_{1} \,\hat{k}_{\beta} + \gamma_{2} \,k_{\beta}) + (\gamma_{1} \,\hat{k}_{\alpha} + \gamma_{2} \,k_{\alpha}) \,\hat{k}_{\beta c}}{2} \right) \overline{\mathcal{Q}}^{\beta} \\ \left. - 4s \,\hat{k}_{\alpha c} \operatorname{Im} \left[ (w_{F} + S \,w_{H} + T_{\beta} \mathcal{Q}^{\beta}) \,\overline{\mathcal{Q}}^{\alpha} \right] - 4s \operatorname{Im}(T_{\alpha}) \hat{k}_{\beta c} \operatorname{Re} \left[ \mathcal{Q}^{\beta} \,\overline{\mathcal{Q}}^{\alpha} \right] \right]. \quad (6.17)$$

Hence,  $\hat{k}_{\alpha a} = 0$  is always a solution and, in particular,  $b^a = 0$ . Although there can be other extrema, finding those analytically is a challenging task without specifying a particular model. At the above stationary points, one finds that the Hessian<sup>17</sup>

$$e^{-\mathcal{K}} \partial_{b^{d}} \partial_{b^{c}} V|_{b^{a}=0} = \hat{k}_{\gamma cd} \Big( 2s \operatorname{Im} \big[ \mathcal{Q}^{\gamma} (\overline{w}_{F} + c_{0} \overline{w}_{H}) \big] + 2(\gamma_{1} - 3s^{2}) \operatorname{Re} \big[ \mathcal{Q}^{\gamma} \overline{w}_{H} \big] \\ + (2s + \gamma_{2}) k_{\alpha} \operatorname{Re} \big[ \mathcal{Q}^{\gamma} \overline{\mathcal{Q}}^{\alpha} \big] \Big) + 2s \hat{k}_{\gamma ec} \mathcal{G}^{ef} \hat{k}_{\alpha fd} \mathcal{Q}^{\gamma} \overline{\mathcal{Q}}^{\alpha} .$$
(6.18)

From this expression, we deduce that the presence of tachyons is determined by the intersection numbers  $\hat{k}_{\gamma cd}$  which are highly model dependent. Once an explicit model is specified, eq. (6.18) is readily applicable to derive the mass contribution to the  $b^a$  axions. Again, our analysis shows that, in order to (partially) fix the odd moduli, in particular the  $b^a$  axions, a superpotential dependence on  $G^a$ -moduli is no prerequisite and the presence of  $T_{\alpha}$  moduli could do the job.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>The expression (6.18) can easily be determined from our general expression (6.23) for the Hessian to be derived below.

## 6.4 Tachyons in SUSY and non-SUSY odd moduli stabilisation

An imperative question concerns the stabilisation of NS-NS axions  $b^a$  in the absence of a  $G^a$ -dependent superpotential. It is a well-known fact that each unfixed axion in a SUSY AdS minimum comes with a tachyonic superpartner [44]. The situation for non-SUSY minima is far from clear, see however [11] for earlier attempts. Below, we derive a general expression for the Hessian for  $b^a$ -axions for general  $T_{\alpha}$ -dependent superpotentials which is afterwards applied to two separate set-ups, namely SUSY AdS minima reproducing [44] and non-SUSY minima from non-perturbative superpotentials of section 6.2.

In what follows, we work in the basis of  $\{t^{\alpha}, b^{a}, \tilde{\rho}_{\alpha}, \hat{c}^{a}\}$  so that e.g.  $\partial_{b^{a}}\mathcal{K} = 0$ . Further, we assume that the superpotential is of the form (6.1) ignoring the  $U^{i}$  and S dependence in  $W_{1} = W_{1}(T_{\alpha})$  for simplicity. Since the  $b^{a}$  dependence in V is given as in (6.6), we can write

$$\partial_{b^c} V = 2\hat{k}_{\gamma c} \,\partial_{\hat{k}_{\gamma}} V + \left(\hat{k}_{\gamma ec}\hat{k}_{\delta f} + \hat{k}_{\gamma e}\hat{k}_{\delta fc}\right) \partial_{K_{\gamma e\delta f}} V \,. \tag{6.19}$$

Clearly,  $\hat{k}_{\gamma c} = 0$  is a solution of  $\partial_{b^c} V = 0$  which can be solved for  $b^a = 0$ . Then we obtain for the Hessian

$$\partial_{b^{d}}\partial_{b^{c}}V = 2\hat{k}_{\gamma cd} \partial_{\hat{k}_{\gamma}}V + 4\hat{k}_{\gamma c}\hat{k}_{\delta d} \partial_{\hat{k}_{\delta}}\partial_{\hat{k}_{\gamma}}V + 2\hat{k}_{\gamma cd}(\partial_{b^{d}}K_{\lambda e\delta f}) \partial_{\hat{k}_{\gamma}}\partial_{K_{\lambda e\delta f}}V + \left(\hat{k}_{\gamma ec}\hat{k}_{\delta fd} + \hat{k}_{\gamma ed}\hat{k}_{\delta fc}\right) \partial_{K_{\gamma e\delta f}}V + (\partial_{b^{c}}K_{\gamma e\delta f})(\partial_{b^{d}}K_{\lambda g\rho h})\partial_{K_{\lambda g\rho h}}\partial_{K_{\gamma e\delta f}}V + 2\hat{k}_{\lambda d}(\partial_{b^{c}}K_{\gamma e\delta f})(\partial_{\hat{k}_{\lambda}}\partial_{K_{\gamma e\delta f}}V)$$

$$(6.20)$$

At the minimum  $\hat{k}_{\alpha a} = 0$ , we are left with

$$\partial_{b^d}\partial_{b^c}V|_{\hat{k}_{\alpha a}=0} = 2\hat{k}_{\gamma cd}\,\partial_{\hat{k}_{\gamma}}V|_{\hat{k}_{\alpha a}=0} + 2s\mathrm{e}^{\mathcal{K}}\hat{k}_{\gamma e(c|}\hat{k}_{\delta f|d)}\mathcal{G}^{ef}(W_1)_{T_{\gamma}}(\overline{W}_1)_{\overline{T}_{\delta}}|_{\hat{k}_{\alpha a}=0}\,.\tag{6.21}$$

To continue, we use (2.5) to find

$$T_{\alpha} = \tilde{\rho}_{\alpha} + \frac{i}{2} \left( s \, \hat{k}_{\alpha} - k_{\alpha} \right) \quad \Rightarrow \quad \partial_{\hat{k}_{\gamma}} W = \frac{is}{2} \partial_{T_{\gamma}} W \,. \tag{6.22}$$

Using our result (6.4), the Hessian can be written as

$$e^{-\mathcal{K}} \partial_{b^{d}} \partial_{b^{c}} V|_{\hat{k}_{\alpha a}=0} = \hat{k}_{\gamma cd} \Biggl\{ 2s \operatorname{Im} \left[ (W_{1})_{T_{\gamma}} \overline{W} \right] + 2(\gamma_{1} - 2s^{2}) \operatorname{Re} \left[ (W_{1})_{T_{\gamma}} \overline{(W_{0})}_{\overline{S}} \right] + (2s + \gamma_{2}) k_{\alpha} \operatorname{Re} \left[ (W_{1})_{T_{\gamma}} \overline{(W_{1})}_{\overline{T}_{\alpha}} \right] - 2s \left( \frac{4\mathcal{Y}^{2} \mathcal{G}_{\alpha\beta}}{9} + \frac{\gamma_{2}^{2} k_{\alpha} k_{\beta}}{4 \gamma_{1}} \right) \operatorname{Im} \left[ (W_{1})_{T_{\alpha} T_{\gamma}} \overline{(W_{1})}_{\overline{T}_{\beta}} \right] - 2s k_{\alpha} \operatorname{Re} \left[ W \overline{(W_{1})}_{\overline{T}_{\alpha} \overline{T}_{\gamma}} \right] + s \gamma_{2} k_{\alpha} \operatorname{Im} \left[ (W_{0})_{S} \overline{(W_{1})}_{\overline{T}_{\alpha} \overline{T}_{\gamma}} \right] \Biggr\} + 2s \hat{k}_{\gamma e(c]} \hat{k}_{\delta f|d} \mathcal{G}^{ef} (W_{1})_{T_{\gamma}} \overline{(W_{1})}_{\overline{T}_{\delta}} .$$

$$(6.23)$$

Up to this point, we have not made any assumptions about the VEVs for the other moduli which typically cannot be solved for analytically. Nonetheless, we can apply (6.23) to special scenarios that allow us to fix certain subsets of fields exactly.

**SUSY minima.** As a first test of our result, we look at the supersymmetric case where for  $\langle W \rangle \neq 0$ 

$$W_{T_{\alpha}} = -K_{T_{\alpha}}W, \quad W_S = -K_SW, \quad K_{G^a} = 0.$$
 (6.24)

Then, one verifies that

$$-2s\left(\frac{4\mathcal{Y}^{2}\mathcal{G}_{\alpha\beta}}{9} + \frac{\gamma_{2}^{2}k_{\alpha}k_{\beta}}{4\gamma_{1}}\right)\operatorname{Im}\left[\left(W_{1}\right)_{T_{\alpha}T_{\gamma}}\overline{\left(W_{1}\right)}_{\overline{T}_{\beta}}\right] = 2sk_{\alpha}\operatorname{Re}\left[W\overline{\left(W_{1}\right)}_{\overline{T}_{\alpha}\overline{T}_{\gamma}}\right] \qquad (6.25)$$
$$-s\gamma_{2}k_{\alpha}\operatorname{Im}\left[\left(W_{0}\right)_{S}\overline{\left(W_{1}\right)}_{\overline{T}_{\alpha}\overline{T}_{\gamma}}\right]$$

The remaining terms in (6.23) simplify to

$$\langle \partial_{b^d} \partial_{b^c} V \rangle_{\text{SUSY}} = 2|W|^2 e^{\mathcal{K}} \left\{ \hat{k}_{cd} \left[ \frac{3s}{2\mathcal{Y}} - 3\left( 1 - \frac{\hat{\xi}}{2\mathcal{Y}} \right) \frac{\gamma_2}{4\mathcal{Y}} + \gamma_2 \frac{3\mathcal{V}}{4\mathcal{Y}^2} \right] + \hat{k}_{ec} \hat{k}_{fd} \frac{s\mathcal{G}^{ef}}{4\mathcal{Y}^2} \right\}$$
$$= -\frac{16s}{9} \mathcal{G}_{cd} |m_{BF}|^2 \tag{6.26}$$

in terms of the Breitenlohner-Freedman bound<sup>18</sup> [94]

$$|m_{BF}|^2 = \frac{9}{4}|W|^2 e^{\mathcal{K}}.$$
(6.27)

Since  $\mathcal{G}_{cd}$  is positive definite, we find  $h_{-}^{1,1}$  tachyonic directions in agreement with [44]. This is because each unstabilised axion, here  $\hat{c}^a$ , comes with a tachyonic superpartner in a SUSY AdS vacuum. Clearly, this no-go result is generically avoided once non-perturbative effects in  $\mathcal{K}$  are included that lift the flat directions. Similarly, explicit  $G^a$ -dependent superpotentials lead to a potential for  $\hat{c}^a$  that break the continuous shift symmetry as discussed in section 7.

Non-SUSY minima for non-perturbative superpotentials. For SUSY breaking minima, making any statements for general superpotentials seems impossible. To continue, we make the convenient ansatz (6.8) for non-perturbative E3/D7 superpotentials treating the  $A_{\alpha}$  again as constant numbers. In this case, we obtain

$$2\hat{k}_{\gamma cd} \partial_{\hat{k}_{\gamma}} V|_{\hat{k}_{\alpha a}=0} = e^{\mathcal{K}} a^{\gamma} \hat{k}_{\gamma cd} \left\{ 2s \left[ -1 + a^{\gamma} k_{\gamma} \right] \operatorname{Re} \left[ (w_{F} + c_{0} w_{H}) \bar{A}_{\gamma} e^{ia^{\gamma} \overline{T}_{\gamma}} \right] \right.$$

$$\left. - \left( 2s^{2} \left( 1 + a^{\gamma} k_{\gamma} \right) + s\gamma_{2} \left( 2 + a^{\gamma} k_{\gamma} \right) \right) \operatorname{Im} \left[ w_{H} \bar{A}_{\gamma} e^{ia^{\gamma} \overline{T}_{\gamma}} \right] \right.$$

$$\left. + 2sa^{\gamma} a^{\alpha} \left( \frac{4\mathcal{Y}^{2} \mathcal{G}_{\gamma \alpha}}{9} + \frac{\gamma_{2}^{2} k_{\gamma} k_{\alpha}}{4\gamma_{1}} \right) \operatorname{Re} \left[ A_{\gamma} \overline{A}_{\alpha} e^{-ia^{\gamma} T_{\gamma} + ia^{\alpha} \overline{T}_{\alpha}} \right] \right.$$

$$\left. + \left( -2s \left( 1 + a^{\gamma} k_{\gamma} - a^{\alpha} k_{\alpha} \right) + \gamma_{2} k_{\alpha} a^{\alpha} \right) \operatorname{Re} \left[ A_{\alpha} \overline{A}_{\gamma} e^{-ia^{\alpha} T_{\alpha} + ia^{\gamma} \overline{T}_{\gamma}} \right] \right\}.$$

$$\left. + \left( -2s \left( 1 + a^{\gamma} k_{\gamma} - a^{\alpha} k_{\alpha} \right) + \gamma_{2} k_{\alpha} a^{\alpha} \right) \operatorname{Re} \left[ A_{\alpha} \overline{A}_{\gamma} e^{-ia^{\alpha} T_{\alpha} + ia^{\gamma} \overline{T}_{\gamma}} \right] \right\}.$$

$$m^2 > \frac{D-1}{2(D-2)} \kappa_D^2 \langle V \rangle \xrightarrow{D=4} \frac{3}{4} \kappa_4^2 \langle V \rangle = -\frac{9\kappa_4^2}{4} e^{\mathcal{K}} |W|^2 \,.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>More generally, the Breitenlohner-Freedman bound asserts stability of the AdS vacuum provided fluctuations of scalar fields satisfy

Using the VEVs (6.12) for the  $c_0$  and  $\tilde{\rho}_{\alpha}$  axions, the Hessian can be written as

$$\langle \mathrm{e}^{-\mathcal{K}} \partial_{b^{d}} \partial_{b^{c}} V \rangle_{\mathrm{axions}} = -sa^{\gamma} \hat{k}_{\gamma c d} |A_{\gamma}| \mathrm{e}^{-a^{\gamma} \sigma_{\gamma}} \left\{ 2 \left[ -1 + a^{\gamma} k_{\gamma} \right] |w_{F}| \right. \\ \left. - \left( 2s \left( 1 + a^{\gamma} k_{\gamma} \right) + \gamma_{2} \left( 2 + a^{\gamma} k_{\gamma} \right) \right) |w_{H}| \right\} \right. \\ \left. + a^{\gamma} \left\{ 2 \hat{k}_{\gamma c d} sa^{\gamma} a^{\alpha} \left( \frac{4 \mathcal{Y}^{2} \mathcal{G}_{\gamma \alpha}}{9} + \frac{\gamma_{2}^{2} k_{\gamma} k_{\alpha}}{4 \gamma_{1}} \right) \right. \\ \left. + \hat{k}_{\gamma c d} \left( - 2s \left( 1 + a^{\gamma} k_{\gamma} - a^{\alpha} k_{\alpha} \right) + \gamma_{2} k_{\alpha} a^{\alpha} \right) \right. \\ \left. + 4sa^{\alpha} \hat{k}_{\gamma e (c|} \mathcal{G}^{ef} \hat{k}_{\alpha f|d)} \right\} |A_{\gamma}| \left. |A_{\alpha}| \right. \mathrm{e}^{-a^{\gamma} \sigma_{\gamma} - a^{\alpha} \sigma_{\alpha}}$$
(6.29)

where  $\langle \ldots \rangle_{\text{axions}}$  implies setting the axions to their VEVs. This exact result determines the Hessian for the  $b^a$ -axions, thereby generalising the approximate expression in [11]. Notice that we have not made any assumptions about the minimum of the  $t^{\alpha}$  or s which typically need to be determined numerically.

Simplest LVS set-up with arbitrary  $h_{-}^{1,1}$ . To extract more information from (6.29), we look at the simplest set-up with  $h_{+}^{1,1} = 2$  and arbitrary  $h_{-}^{1,1}$  and restrict to the leading order contributions in a volume expansion. For the volume at the minimum  $\hat{k}_{\alpha a} = 0$  for the  $b^a$  axions, we can write

$$\mathcal{V} = \frac{1}{6} \left( \kappa_{111} (t^1)^3 + \kappa_{222} (t^2)^3 \right) = d_1 \tau_1^{3/2} - d_2 \tau_2^{3/2}$$
(6.30)

in terms of

$$d_1 = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{3\sqrt{\kappa_{111}}}, \quad d_2 = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{3\sqrt{\kappa_{222}}}.$$
 (6.31)

One then obtains the following relations

$$\tau_2 = \frac{\partial \mathcal{V}}{\partial t^2} = \frac{1}{2}k_2, \quad t^2 = -\sqrt{\frac{2\tau_2}{\kappa_{222}}}, \quad k_{22} = \kappa_{222}t^2 = -\frac{2\sqrt{\tau_2}}{3d_2}.$$
 (6.32)

Recall from (5.18) that the leading order SUSY conditions for S imply

$$4\langle s \rangle^2 |w_H|^2 = |W_0|^2 = 4|w_F|^2.$$
(6.33)

Clearly,  $\langle s \rangle$  is corrected by terms suppressed in the volume which we ignore for the moment. In the limit  $\epsilon_2 = \frac{1}{4a_2\tau_2} \ll 1$  and  $\mathcal{V} \gg 1$ , the minimum for the Kähler moduli is determined by [5]

$$\mathcal{V} = \frac{3d_2\sqrt{\tau_2}\left(1 - 4\epsilon_2\right)}{4a_2(1 - \epsilon_2)} \frac{|W_0|}{|A_2|} e^{a_2\tau_2} \simeq \frac{3d_2\sqrt{\tau_2}}{4a_2} \frac{|W_0|}{|A_2|} e^{a_2\tau_2} , \qquad (6.34)$$

$$\frac{\hat{\xi}}{2} = \frac{d_2(1-4\epsilon_2)}{(1-\epsilon_2)^2} \tau_2^{3/2} \simeq d_2 \tau_2^{3/2} \,. \tag{6.35}$$

Altogether, (6.29) becomes, after ignoring terms  $\sim \gamma_2$  as well as taking care of the last term in the last line,<sup>19</sup>

$$\partial_{b^{d}}\partial_{b^{c}}V|_{\hat{k}_{\alpha a}=0} = \hat{k}_{2cd} \ \frac{3d_{2}\sqrt{\tau_{2}}|W_{0}|^{2}\mathrm{e}^{\mathbb{K}}}{4\mathcal{V}^{3}} \begin{cases} 2[1+a_{2}\tau_{2}] + \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-1}) & \hat{k}_{1ab} = 0 \ \forall a, b \\ [1+2a_{2}\tau_{2}] + \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-1/3}) & \hat{k}_{1ab} \neq 0 . \end{cases}$$
(6.36)

To identify potential tachyons at the vacuum, we recall that

$$\mathcal{G}_{cd} = -\frac{\hat{k}_{1cd}t^1 + \hat{k}_{2cd}t^2}{4\,\mathcal{Y}} \tag{6.37}$$

must be positive definite as a proper metric where  $t^1 > 0$  and  $t^2 < 0$ . In general, we thus expect:

- if  $\hat{k}_{1cd} = 0$  for all c, d, then  $\hat{k}_{2cd} > 0$  is positive definite and hence no tachyons.
- if  $\hat{k}_{1cd} \neq 0$  for some c, d, then  $\hat{k}_{2cd} > 0$  and  $\hat{k}_{2cd} < 0$  are allowed since there is no restriction coming from demanding  $\mathcal{G}_{cd} > 0$ . In this case, tachyons can appear depending on the model's intersection structure with their number being determined by the number of negative eigenvalues of  $\hat{k}_{2cd}$ .

As a final comment, we stress that the statements and results derived in this section are applicable specifically to  $AdS_4$  vacua considering only *F*-term contributions. Thus far, we neglected both uplifting contributions to  $dS_4$  minima as well as *D*-term scalar potentials. Generically, at least the former are independent of odd axions  $\hat{c}^a$  and  $b^a$  when written in terms of volume moduli which is why we expect the above analysis to easily extend to scenarios with de Sitter uplifts. In the presence of chiral matter on e.g. D7/D3-branes, the associated *D*-term contributions [19, 95] can have an induced dependence on both  $T_{\alpha}$ and  $G^a$ , see e.g. [20]. Given that such effects are highly model dependent, we refrained from adding them to our present considerations, albeit it should be straight forward once a particular background configuration has been established.

## 7 Analysing the scalar potential for $W = W(U^i, S, T_\alpha, G^a)$

In our previous considerations, the R-R axions  $c^a$  are never stabilised as no scalar potential is generated when the superpotential is independent of  $G^a$ . In such cases, the shift symmetry of the  $c^a$  axions protects the flatness. In this section, we discuss superpotentials  $W \equiv W(G^a)$  which are suitable for stabilising all moduli simultaneously. We present a form of the scalar potential which can be applied to specific models by merely giving the inputs of a superpotential depend on all moduli.

We define the superpotential

$$W = W_0(U^i, S) + W_1(U^i, S, T_\alpha, G^a)$$
(7.1)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>Similar results for the Hessian for LVS models with  $h_{\pm}^{1,1} = 2$  were previously obtained in [16]. Notice though that in the convention of [16] an additional minus sign is introduced in (6.36).

where  $W_0$  might be associated with the 3-form flux background, whereas  $W_1$  can arise from D5-instantons or fluxed E3-instantons. Depending on the microscopic details, the  $T_{\alpha}$  and  $G^a$  dependence in  $W_1$  might decouple, at least at leading order in some instanton expansion. From our master formula (4.5), we have already derived the most general expression for the *F*-term scalar potential (4.28). In the remainder of this section, we apply this result to explicit superpotentials.

## 7.1 Geometric flux superpotential

At the tree level, there can be several possibilities to induce the Kähler moduli dependence along with the odd moduli in the scalar potential, especially after including (non-)geometric fluxes [25, 26, 29, 32, 33, 55, 96]. We initially consider the following ansatz for the superpotential with an explicit dependence on the odd moduli  $G^a$ ,

$$W_1(G^a) = \mathcal{O}_a G^a \implies \frac{\partial W_1}{\partial G^a} = \mathcal{O}_a.$$
 (7.2)

where  $\mathcal{O}_a$  is quantity which depends on the metric flux,<sup>20</sup> and can generically depend on the complex structure moduli as well. However, we take  $\mathcal{O}_a$  to be some complex number for now. Subsequently the scalar potential becomes,

$$V(b^{a}, c^{a}) = e^{\mathcal{K}} \left( \frac{4l - 3\tilde{\xi}}{l - 3\tilde{\xi}} |W|^{2} + \mathfrak{O}_{a} \left( s \mathcal{G}^{ab} + \gamma_{1} b^{a} b^{b} \right) \overline{\mathfrak{O}_{b}} - 4 s b^{a} \operatorname{Im} [W\overline{\mathfrak{O}}_{a}] \right).$$
(7.3)

Therefore, the simplified scalar potential is a quadratic function of  $b^a$  and  $c^a$  moduli taking the following form,

$$V(b^a, \hat{c}^a) = 4 e^{\mathcal{K}} \left[ \hat{c}^a \mathcal{P}_{ab} \, \hat{c}^b + \hat{c}^a \, \mathcal{P}_a + \frac{1}{4} \, \gamma_1 \, b^a \mathcal{P}_{ab} \, b^b - b^a \, \mathcal{Q}_a + \mathcal{P}_0 \right], \tag{7.4}$$

where we assume that complex structure is fixed (i.e.,  $W_0 = \text{const.}$ ). We further use the redefined combination of the  $c^a$  axion  $\hat{c}^a = c^a + c_0 b^a$  (recall (2.6)), along with (setting  $\tilde{\xi} = 0$  for convenience)

All the quantities  $\mathcal{P}_{ab}, \mathcal{P}_a, \mathcal{Q}_a$  and  $\mathcal{P}_0$  are independent of the odd axions  $\{b^a, c^a\}$ . The exremisation of the potential with respect to the  $\{b^a, \hat{c}^a\}$  axions results in the following conditions,

$$\mathcal{P}_a + 2 \mathcal{P}_{ab} \,\hat{c}^b = 0, \qquad \mathcal{Q}_a - \frac{1}{2} \,\gamma_1 \mathcal{P}_{ab} \,b^b = 0, \tag{7.6}$$

 $<sup>^{20}</sup>$ Not all the components of geometric fluxes are allowed as the same are constrained by a set of quadratic flux constraints coming from the NS-NS Bianchi identities [26, 96].

which leads to

$$\langle V(b^a, \hat{c}^a) \rangle = -4 \,\mathrm{e}^{\mathcal{K}} \left[ -\frac{1}{2} \langle \hat{c}^a \rangle \,\mathcal{P}_a + \frac{1}{2} \langle b^a \rangle \,\mathcal{Q}_a - \mathcal{P}_0 \right].$$
 (7.7)

With the choice of variables  $\{b^a, \hat{c}^a\}$ , the Hessian turns out to be block diagonal, and  $V_{ij}$  evaluated at the extremum reads

$$\left\langle \frac{\partial^2 V}{\partial \hat{c}^a \partial \hat{c}^b} \right\rangle = 8 \,\mathrm{e}^{\mathcal{K}} \mathcal{P}_{ab}, \qquad \left\langle \frac{\partial^2 V}{\partial b^a \partial b^b} \right\rangle = 2 \,\gamma_1 \,\mathrm{e}^{\mathcal{K}} \mathcal{P}_{ab}.$$
 (7.8)

For the current "two-field" analysis using  $\{b^a, c^a\}$  let us have some leading order estimates for the axion decay constants so that we could have some estimates for the axionic masses as well. For that purpose we consider,

$$K_{G^{a}\overline{G^{b}}}\partial_{\mu}G^{a}\overline{\partial}^{\mu}\overline{G^{b}} = \frac{1}{2}f_{ab}\left(\partial_{\mu}\hat{b}^{a}\partial^{\mu}\hat{b}^{b} + \partial_{\mu}\hat{c}^{a}\partial^{\mu}\hat{c}^{b}\right)$$
(7.9)

where

$$\hat{b}^{a} = s \, b^{a}, \quad \hat{c}^{a} = c^{a} + c_{0} \, b^{a}, \quad f_{ab} = 2K_{G^{a}\overline{G^{b}}} = \frac{2\mathcal{G}_{ab}}{s} + \frac{9\mathcal{G}^{\alpha\beta}\hat{k}_{\alpha a}\hat{k}_{\beta b}}{2\mathcal{Y}^{2}} \simeq \frac{2\mathcal{G}_{ab}}{s}.$$
 (7.10)

This results in a leading order decay constant matrix of the following form,

$$f_{b^a b^b} = 2 s \mathcal{G}_{ab}, \qquad f_{c^a c^b} = \frac{2 \mathcal{G}_{ab}}{s}$$

$$(7.11)$$

Using (7.8) and recall that for the tree level Kähler potential  $\gamma_1 = 4 s^2$ , and subsequently the  $b^a$  axions turn out to be the massive as compared to the  $\hat{c}^a$  axions,

$$\frac{m_{b^a}^2}{m_{\tilde{c}^a}^2} = \langle s \rangle^2 = \frac{1}{g_s^2}$$
(7.12)

However, if one works with a field  $\hat{b}^a = s b^a$ , and then this two field dynamics shows that the masses of  $\hat{c}^a$  and  $\hat{b}^a$  remain the same. This is well anticipated given that the source of the shift symmetry breaking for both the axions  $\{b^a, \hat{c}^a\}$  is the same coupling in the superpotential,  $W_1 = \mathcal{O}_a G^a$ . This observation about the "no mass-splitting" for the  $\hat{c}^a$ and  $\hat{b}^a = s b^a$  fields at tree level is on the same footing in the canonical normalisation, and needs to be checked in generic scenarios when more moduli are part of the dynamics!

Similar to the two-field analysis of the axio-dilaton  $\{c_0, s\}$  in section 5.3, the BBHL correction can induce some mass-splitting among the odd axions which reads

$$\frac{m_{b^a}^2}{m_{\hat{c}^a}^2} = \frac{1}{4} \langle \gamma_1 \rangle = \frac{1}{g_s^2} \left( 1 + \frac{3\hat{\xi}}{4(\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi})} \right) \,. \tag{7.13}$$

Given that the deviation is suppressed by powers of the volume, this mechanism does not allow for mass hierarchies between the  $\hat{c}^a$  and  $\hat{b}^a$  axions. Nevertheless, let us mention that the  $b^a$  axions are always heavier than the  $c^a$  axions by the appearance of the string coupling.

## 7.2 D5-brane gaugino condensates

A second source of  $G^a$ -dependent contributions to the superpotential is generated by gaugino condensation on spacetime filling D5-branes or ED1-brane instantons wrapping internal 2-cycles [10, 16, 45, 82]. However, contrary to the case of D5/ED1-contributions to the Kähler potential, it remains unclear whether such effects can actually be generated in the superpotential since they survive the limits  $\mathcal{V} \to \infty$  and  $g_s \to 0$  contrary to general expectations [52]. Nonetheless, let us assume that such effects from D5-branes are generated in which case the superpotential is given by

$$W_1(G^a) = B e^{i n_a G^a}$$
(7.14)

where we treat B as well as  $W_0$  as some complex numbers. Then, the scalar potential becomes (setting  $\tilde{\xi} = 0$ )

$$V(b^{a}, c^{a}) = e^{\mathcal{K}} \left( 4|W|^{2} + n_{a} n_{b} \left( s \mathcal{G}^{ab} + \gamma_{1} b^{a} b^{b} \right) |W_{1}|^{2} + 4 s b^{a} n_{a} \operatorname{Re}(W\overline{W}_{1}) \right).$$
(7.15)

Assuming that  $B = |B|e^{i\lambda}$  and  $W_0 = |W_0|e^{i\theta}$  we have the following form of the scalar potential,

$$V(b^{a}, \hat{c}^{a}) = 4 e^{\mathcal{K}} \left[ |W_{0}|^{2} + |B| |W_{0}| e^{-s n_{a} b^{a}} (2 + sn_{a} b^{a}) \cos[n_{a} \hat{c}^{a} + \lambda - \theta] + |B|^{2} e^{-2 s n_{a} b^{a}} (1 + sn_{a} b^{a}) + \frac{|B|^{2}}{4} \left( s \mathcal{G}^{ab} + \gamma_{1} b^{a} b^{b} \right) n_{a} n_{b} e^{-2 s n_{a} b^{a}} \right], \quad (7.16)$$

where the  $\hat{c}^a$  axions appears as an oscillatory function, while the  $b^a$  axions also have exponentially suppressed contributions. Assuming  $|B| \neq 0$ , the two extremising conditions are given as,

(i). 
$$n_a (2 + sn_b b^b) \sin[n_b \hat{c}^b + \lambda - \theta] = 0,$$
 (7.17)  
(ii).  $\frac{n_a |W_0|}{|B| e^{-s n_b b^b}} (1 + s n_b b^b) \cos[n_c \hat{c}^c + \lambda - \theta] + n_a (1 + 2 sn_c b^c)$   
 $+ \frac{n_a}{2} \left( s (\mathcal{G}^{bc} n_b n_c) + \frac{\gamma_1}{s} (n_b b^b) (s n_c b^c - 1) \right) = 0.$ 

For  $n_a \neq 0$ , we find the solutions<sup>21</sup>

$$n_b \langle \hat{c}^b \rangle + \lambda - \theta = n\pi \tag{7.18}$$

so that

$$|B|e^{-s n_b b^b} = \frac{-4|W_0|(1+s n_b b^b)(-1)^n}{2(1+2 s n_c b^c) + (s \mathcal{G}^{ab} + \gamma_1 b^a b^b) n_a n_b - \frac{\gamma_1}{s}(n_b b^b)}.$$
 (7.19)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>We can also have e.g.  $sn_b b^b = -2$  which however leads to  $\langle \partial_{\hat{c}^c} \partial_{\hat{c}^d} V \rangle = 0$  which is not a proper minimum of the potential.

The Hessian is given by

$$\partial_{\hat{c}^{c}} \partial_{\hat{c}^{d}} V = -4n_{c}n_{d} e^{\mathcal{K}} |B| |W_{0}| e^{-s n_{a} b^{a}} (2 + sn_{a} b^{a}) \cos[n_{a} \hat{c}^{a} + \lambda - \theta],$$
  

$$\partial_{b^{c}} \partial_{b^{d}} V = -\frac{s^{3}n_{a} b^{a} \partial_{\hat{c}^{c}} \partial_{\hat{c}^{d}} V}{2 + sn_{a} b^{a}} + 4s^{2}n_{c}n_{d} e^{\mathcal{K}} |B|^{2} \Big[ 2 - 4s b^{b} n_{b} + \Big( s \mathcal{G}^{ab} + 4s^{2} b^{a} b^{b} \Big) n_{a} n_{b} \Big] e^{-2 s n_{a} b^{a}}.$$
(7.20)

At leading order ignoring  $\hat{\xi}$ , we set  $\gamma_1 = 4s^2$  in (7.19) so that

$$\langle \partial_{\hat{c}^c} \partial_{\hat{c}^d} V \rangle = n_c n_d \, \mathrm{e}^{\mathcal{K}} \, \frac{8|W_0|^2 \, (1+s \, n_b \, b^b)(2+s n_a \, b^a)}{2+(s \, \mathcal{G}^{ab}+4s^2 \, b^a \, b^b) \, n_a \, n_b} \,,$$

$$\langle \partial_{b^c} \partial_{b^d} V \rangle = \frac{s^2 \, \langle \partial_{\hat{c}^c} \partial_{\hat{c}^d} V \rangle}{[2+(s \, \mathcal{G}^{ab}+4s^2 \, b^a \, b^b) \, n_a \, n_b] \, (2+s n_a \, b^a)} \left[ 4+2s \mathcal{G}^{ab} n_a n_b -6s b^a n_a +s b^a n_a \left(4s^2 b^b b^c +s \mathcal{G}^{bc}\right) n_b n_c \right]$$

$$(7.21)$$

where in both expressions  $\langle \ldots \rangle$  for the VEVs is implicitly used for s and  $b^a$ . Hence

$$\frac{\langle \partial_{b^c} \partial_{b^d} V \rangle}{\langle \partial_{\hat{c}^c} \partial_{\hat{c}^d} V \rangle} = s^2 \left[ 1 - \frac{8s \, b^b \, n_b (1 + sb^a n_a)}{\left[ 2 + \left( s \, \mathcal{G}^{ab} + 4s^2 \, b^a \, b^b \right) \, n_a \, n_b \right] (2 + sb^a n_a)} \right]. \tag{7.22}$$

At  $b^a = 0$ , the r.h.s. reduces to  $s^2$  as expected, though  $b^a = 0$  generically does not solve the condition (7.19). Away from  $b^a = 0$ , the mass splitting is at most polynomial in  $b^a$ . Including the BBHL correction systematically as in section 5.3 leads to additional corrections which are, however, suppressed by additional powers of the volume. For convenience, we neglected any  $T_{\alpha}$ -dependence in the superpotential which contributes further terms to  $\partial_{b^c} \partial_{b^d} V$  as previously determined in (6.29). Even though this certainly induces a mass splitting between the  $b^a$  and  $\hat{c}^a$  axions, it is unclear whether this is always sufficient to engineer mass hierarchies, though this has been observed in many instances via suitable arrangements of the  $n_a$  [16, 82, 97].

Before we continue, we collect a final formula including an even moduli dependence as in (6.8). Indeed, a general superpotential will include non-perturbative sources from D7-, D5- and D3-branes in which case

$$W = w_F + Sw_H + \sum_{\alpha=1}^{h_+^{1,1}} A_{\alpha} e^{-ia^{\alpha}T_{\alpha}} + \sum_{a=1}^{h_-^{1,1}} B_a e^{in_a G^a}$$
(7.23)

As discussed in section 6.2, we ignore any  $U^i$  or S dependence in both prefactors  $A_{\alpha}$  and  $B_a$ . Plugging (7.23) into (4.5), we find

$$V = V^{\text{pert}} + V^{\text{np1}} + V^{\text{np2}} + V^G$$
(7.24)

where  $V^{\text{pert}}, V^{\text{np1}}, V^{\text{np2}}$  are defined in (6.10) and where

$$V^{G} = e^{\mathcal{K}} \sum_{a=1}^{h_{-1}^{1,1}} \left\{ 2\left(1 + 2sb^{a}n_{a}\right) \operatorname{Re}\left[\left(w_{F} + c_{0}w_{H}\right)\bar{B}_{a}e^{-in_{a}\overline{G}^{a}}\right] - 2\left[s + b^{a}n_{a}\left(2s^{2} + \gamma_{1}\right)\right] \operatorname{Im}\left[w_{H}\bar{B}_{a}e^{-in_{a}\overline{G}^{a}}\right]$$

$$+ \sum_{b=1}^{h_{-1}^{1,1}} B_{a}\overline{B}_{b}e^{in_{a}G^{a} - in_{b}\overline{G}^{b}} \left(1 + 2s(b^{a}n_{a} + b^{b}n_{b}) + n_{a}n_{b}\left[s\mathcal{G}^{ab} + \gamma_{1}b^{a}b^{b}\right]\right)$$

$$+ \sum_{\alpha=1}^{h_{+1}^{1,1}} \left(2(1 + a^{\alpha}(k_{\alpha} - s\hat{k}_{\alpha})) + 4sb^{a}n_{a} - a^{\alpha}n_{a}\left[2s\mathcal{G}^{ab}\hat{k}_{\alpha b} + (\gamma_{1}\hat{k}_{\alpha} + \gamma_{2}k_{\alpha})b^{a}\right]\right)\operatorname{Re}\left[A_{\alpha}\overline{B}_{a}e^{-ia^{\alpha}T_{\alpha} - in_{a}\overline{G}^{a}}\right]\right\}.$$

$$(7.25)$$

Again, the scalar potential is known exactly without resorting to any small coupling or large volume expansion. Given the way the  $\hat{c}^a$  enter the potential, we notice that (6.12) still provides a solution of the stationary point conditions for  $c_0$  and  $\tilde{\rho}_{\alpha}$  provided

$$B_a = |B_a| e^{i\theta_a}, \quad n_a \langle \hat{c}^a \rangle + \theta_a + \lambda_F = \pi.$$
(7.26)

However, solving the stationary point conditions for the NS-NS axions  $b^a$  analytically is challenging as can already be seen from the simplified situation (7.19) above. This is similar to determining the VEVs for the 4-cycle volumes in LVS for which analytic solutions can only be obtained in the large volume limit.

## 7.3 Fluxed E3-instanton superpotential

Another possibility to induce an explicit  $G^a$  dependence in the scalar potential is through non-perturbative effects arising from the fluxed E3-instantons or via gaugino-condensation effects with magnetised-branes [13, 45, 46]. By modularity arguments, the non-perturbative superpotential from fluxed D3/D7-instantons wrapping divisors  $D_E$  needs to have the following form [45]

$$W_{np}(S, G^{a}, T_{\alpha}) = \sum_{E} A_{E} \Theta_{E}(S, G^{a}) e^{-i n_{E}^{\alpha} T_{\alpha}}.$$
 (7.27)

Here,  $A_E$  denotes the 1-loop determinant for fluctuations around the instanton, which only depends on the complex structure moduli and the *D*7-brane deformations. Further, we can write the modular function as

$$\Theta_E(S, G^a) = \sum_{\mathcal{F}_E} e^{i\beta_E S} e^{iq_{Ea}G^a}$$
(7.28)

in terms of the flux dependent quantities

$$q_{Ea} = \hat{k}_{\alpha ab} a_E^{\alpha} \mathcal{F}_E^b, \quad \beta_E = \frac{1}{2} \left[ q_{Ec} \mathcal{F}_E^c + 2\pi \int_{D_E} \mathcal{F}_E^v \wedge \mathcal{F}_E^v \right].$$
(7.29)

The gauge flux  $\mathcal{F}_E$  is separated into the components  $\mathcal{F}_E^a$  from pulling back bulk 2-forms onto the brane and variable flux  $\mathcal{F}_E^v$  supported only on 2-cycles inside  $D_E$  [46]. The sum over admissible gauge flux in (7.28) is such that the functions  $\Theta_E(S, G^a)$  become appropriate holomorphic Jacobi forms which can be computed in particular limits in moduli space [45].

It is straight forward to plug the superpotential into the scalar potential (4.28) which will be analysed in an upcoming publication [98]. Here, we simply point out that the form of  $\Theta_E$  in (7.28) is such that contributions to the mass of R-R axions  $\hat{c}^a$  are exponentially suppressed by  $e^{-\beta_E s}$ . At small string coupling  $g_s = \langle s \rangle^{-1}$ , one thus expects to obtain mass hierarchies between the  $\hat{c}^a$  and  $b^a$  axions since the later receive further mass contributions from the inverse Kähler metric as computed in (6.29); a fact that has already been appreciated in [10]. This observation motivates further exploring the phenomenological implications of such scenarios which potentially open up new avenues towards inflation in string theory.

## 8 Phenomenological implications

Axions are ubiquitous in string compactifications borrowing their shift symmetries from the gauge redundancies of *p*-form fields in the higher-dimensional theories. Generic models are expected to contain of  $\mathcal{O}(10 - 100)$  axionic fields [24, 99–101] making them highly attractive for model building purposes. In fact, the rich cosmology of axions [102] makes them the perfect target for the study of phenomenological implications of string theory, see e.g. [10, 103–108].

The results of the previous sections provide a systematic approach to computing the exact F-term scalar potentials for general  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  CY orientifold compactifications and arbitrary superpotentials. From a phenomenological point of view, this is desirable because it enables us to derive simple conditions for stabilising moduli and for avoiding tachyonic directions that, whenever analytic methods cease to work, can easily be implemented on a computer. Further, the precise notion of sub-leading terms in the volume and string coupling is necessary to have proper control over inflationary potentials. This is of particular relevance for models of fibre inflation [86] or poly-instanton inflation [109, 110] where the scalar potential pieces determining the minimum are suppressed by  $\mathcal{V}^{-\kappa}$  with  $\kappa > 3$ .

In our analysis, we were mostly concerned with the general dependence of scalar potentials on odd axions  $b^a$  and  $\hat{c}^a$ , especially due to their outstanding role in cosmological model building such as in axion monodromy [6, 7]. The basic idea in axion monodromy is the breaking of the discrete shift symmetry of axions by branes or fluxes in order to obtain a sequence of non-periodic branches. Despite initial efforts in describing moduli stabilisation in these set-ups [7], a systematic understanding still remains a key challenge where our results provide the golden opportunity to make significant progress in future endeavours [98]. More generally, a variety of inflationary models could benefit from our novel insights such as those based on alignment and hierarchical mixing of odd axions [15, 16, 82, 97] or more recent set-ups like harmonic hybrid inflation [18]. On top of that, the plethora of potentially ultra-light axion-like particles in our set-ups may have direct applications to stringy realisations of Dark Matter [111], Dark Radiation [112–115], Dark Energy [116–121], as well as astrophysics [122, 123]. We hope to come back to these questions in the near future.

#### 9 Conclusions and future directions

The quest for fully reliable string constructions with all moduli stabilised in well-controlled de Sitter minima in synergy with realistic particle phenomenology and cosmology remains to large extent unfulfilled. A key obstacle is the systematic derivation of vacuum structures from  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  scalar potentials including (non-)perturbative corrections as well as additional discrete parameters such as fluxes and triple intersection numbers. In this article, we made substantial progress in this direction by computing explicit and exact expressions for  $\alpha'$ - and  $g_s$ -corrected F-term scalar potentials without having to utilise any additional 4D approximation. Further, we revisited several issues pertaining to the stabilisation of odd moduli for which our observations provide a much sought after unifying framework.

The main results of this paper are the three master formulae for  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  *F*-term scalar potentials derived in section 4.1 which are perfectly suited for stabilising closed string moduli in general type IIB CY orientifold compactifications. These were obtained from exact identities for derivatives of the Kähler potential and, in particular, for the inverse Kähler metric at higher order in the  $\alpha'$  expansion using the tree level  $(\alpha')^3$  effects of [38]. Further, we touched upon higher order corrections in the closed string loop and non-perturbative Dinstanton expansion. Both are dictated by  $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$  invariance of the 10D Einstein frame action through appropriate modular forms where in orientifold backgrounds a subgroup  $\Gamma_S \subset SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$  is expected to survive as a symmetry of the 4D effective action [45]. We showed that even in this case, closed expressions for the inverse Kähler metric can be obtained giving rise to a compact formula for the *F*-term scalar potential.

The remainder of this paper was concerned with studying the nature of the scalar potential for a variety of different superpotentials. In the simplest case of the GVW superpotential  $W(U^i, S)$  depending only on complex structure moduli  $U^i$  and the axio-dilaton S, we showed explicitly that the scalar potential is independent of the  $b^a$  axions. This is of course expected in the absence of non-perturbative effects where the axionic shift symmetries are left untouched. In addition, we briefly elaborated on splitting the masses of the universal axion  $c_0$  and the dilaton s through the BBHL correction.

In the presence of an explicit  $T_{\alpha}$  dependence in the superpotential  $W(U^i, S, T_{\alpha})$ , the NS-NS axions  $b^a$  are explicitly featured in the scalar potential. We derived a general form of the *F*-term scalar potential for both non-perturbative effects from D3-/D7-branes generalising the results of [47] and non-geometric fluxes. We illustrated the effectiveness of our results by deriving closed expressions for the Hessian for  $b^a$  axions. For SUSY minima, we reproduced the results of [44] where each unfixed R-R axion  $\hat{c}^a$  has an associated tachyonic superpartner  $b^a$ . In the non-SUSY case, we formulated conditions on the intersection structure determining the presence and number of potential tachyonic directions.

Subsequently, we provided all the necessary tools to extract the *F*-term scalar potential for arbitrary superpotentials  $W(U^i, S, T_\alpha, G^a)$ . This is of paramount importance for advancing our understanding of moduli stabilisation in generic set-ups with  $h_{-}^{1,1} \neq 0$ . In this context, our results have direct applications to inflationary models based on odd axions, in particular axion monodromy [6, 7]. We derived explicit expressions for geometric flux and non-perturbative D5-gaugino superpotentials. A particularly promising class of superpotentials from fluxed D3/D7-branes capable of inducing mass hierarchies between the NS-NS and R-R axions will be discussed in a forthcoming publication [98].

In the present work, we restricted mostly to perturbative corrections to the Kähler potential arising from tree level  $(\alpha')^3$ -effects in 10D. Hence, the stabilisation of the  $C_2$ axions has been sourced by superpotential contributions only. However, there is another possibility of stabilising odd moduli via worldsheet-instanton corrections to the Kähler potential [124]. The modular completion of such corrections results in a modified expression for the volume  $\mathcal{Y}$  featured in the Kähler potential (2.11) given by [45]

$$\mathcal{Y} = \mathcal{V} + \frac{\zeta}{4} f_0(S, \overline{S}) - 4 g(S, \overline{S}, G^a, \overline{G}^a) \,. \tag{9.1}$$

Here  $f_0(S, \overline{S})$  is defined in (3.28) and

$$g(S, \overline{S}, G^{a}, \overline{G}^{a}) = \sum_{\substack{\beta \in H_{2}^{-}(X, \mathbb{Z}) \\ (n,m) \neq (0,0)}} n_{\beta}^{0} \frac{s^{3/2}}{|n+mS|^{3}} \cos\left[(n+S\,m)\frac{k_{a}^{\beta}(G^{a}-\overline{G}^{a})}{S-\overline{S}} - mk_{a}^{\beta}G^{a}\right]$$
(9.2)

in terms of integer genus zero Gopakumar-Vafa invariants  $n_{\beta}^{0}$  [69, 70] and  $k_{a}^{\beta} = \int_{\beta} \nu^{a}$  for a basis  $\nu^{a} \in H^{2}_{-}(X,\mathbb{Z})$ . Thus far, we limited ourselves to considering the  $f_{0}(S,\overline{S})$  piece without including the (modular completed version of the) worldsheet and D1-instanton effects encoded in  $g(S, \overline{S}, G^{a}, \overline{G}^{a})$ . Similarly, given that worldsheet instantons such as the one in (3.4) have received a lot of attention recently, see in particular [93, 125], it would be desirable to add these corrections in our general formalism. As in the case of  $f_{0}$ , there exist closed expressions for the derivatives of polylogarithms which should allow for a straight forward generalisation of our framework.

Further, we focussed on analysing large complex structure pre-potentials which are commonly studied in the literature due their relevance in the context of mirror symmetry. However, the precise structure of pre-potentials highly depends on the monodromy symmetries and the additional data of the asymptotic regime in moduli space around which the periods are being expanded, see in particular [64]. Recently, it was also suggested in [126] that other types of boundaries in moduli space can lead to small flux superpotentials with large mass hierarchies. It would thus be instructive to extend our general results to other classes of pre-potentials.

Finally, let us stress again that we studied mostly  $AdS_4$  vacua ignoring additional uplifting sources, *D*-terms as well as open string moduli. Clearly, these effects are critical for the construction of fully explicit models including Standard Model sectors [127] and de Sitter vacua from e.g. T-brane backgrounds [128]. Along the lines of [129–132], it would also be interesting to explore the option of getting de Sitter from the sources already discussed throughout the paper. Treating such contributions notoriously remains challenging, but our results build a solid foundation towards finding de Sitter minima with fully stabilised moduli in string theory.

## Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Nicole E. Bollan and Fernando Quevedo for initial collaboration on this project. We also thank Veronica Guidetti and Francisco Pedro for useful discussions. AS acknowledges support by the German Academic Scholarship Foundation and by DAMTP through an STFC studentship. PS is grateful to Paolo Creminelli, Atish Dabholkar and Fernando Quevedo for their support, and also would like to thank the INFN-Bologna for hospitality during the initial stage of the work.

#### Α Useful relations for intermediate computations

In section 3, we use the following identities

/

$$\partial_S t^{\alpha} = \frac{i}{4} \hat{k}_{\beta} k^{\alpha\beta} , \quad \partial_{G^a} t^{\alpha} = -\frac{i}{2} k^{\alpha\beta} \hat{k}_{\beta a} , \quad \partial_{T_{\beta}} t^{\alpha} = \frac{i}{2} k^{\alpha\beta}$$
(A.1)

to compute the derivatives of the Kähler potential. Using the explicit expressions of the Kähler derivatives in eq. (3.17) and of the inverse Kähler metric in eqs. (3.20)–(3.21), we find the following useful relations,

$$\begin{split} K_{S} K^{S\overline{S}} &= \frac{i s \left(4 \mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) \left(2 \mathcal{V} + 4 \hat{\xi} - \hat{k}_{0} s\right)}{2 \left(\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) \left(2 \mathcal{V} + \hat{\xi}\right)} = -K_{\overline{S}} K^{\overline{S}S} ,\\ K_{G^{a}} K^{G^{a}\overline{S}} &= \frac{i \hat{k}_{0} s^{2} \left(4 \mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right)}{\left(\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) \left(2 \mathcal{V} + \hat{\xi}\right)} = -K_{\overline{G}^{a}} K^{\overline{G}^{a}S} ,\\ K_{T_{\alpha}} K^{T_{\alpha}\overline{S}} &= \frac{i s \left(\hat{k}_{0} s \left(\hat{\xi} - 4 \mathcal{V}\right) - 18 \hat{\xi} \mathcal{V}\right)}{2 \left(\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) \left(2 \mathcal{V} + \hat{\xi}\right)} = -K_{\overline{T}_{\alpha}} K^{\overline{T}_{\alpha}S} ,\\ K_{S} K^{S\overline{G}^{b}} &= -\frac{i s b^{b} \left(4 \mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) \left(\hat{k}_{0} s - 2 \left(2 \hat{\xi} + \mathcal{V}\right)\right)}{2 \left(\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) \left(2 \mathcal{V} + \hat{\xi}\right)} = -K_{\overline{G}^{a}} K^{\overline{G}^{a}G^{b}} ,\\ K_{G^{a}} K^{G^{a}\overline{G}^{b}} &= \frac{i s b^{b} \left(\hat{k}_{0} s \left(4 \mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right)\right)}{\left(\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) \left(2 \mathcal{V} + \hat{\xi}\right)} - 2 i s b^{b} = -K_{\overline{G}^{a}} K^{\overline{G}^{a}G^{b}} ,\\ K_{T_{\alpha}} K^{T_{\alpha}\overline{G}^{b}} &= -\frac{i s b^{b} \left(4 \hat{\xi}^{2} + \hat{k}_{0} s \left(4 \mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) - 8 \mathcal{V}^{2} + 22 \hat{\xi} \mathcal{V}\right)}{2 \left(\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) \left(2 \mathcal{V} + \hat{\xi}\right)}} = -K_{\overline{T}_{\alpha}} K^{\overline{T}_{\alpha}G^{b}} ,\\ K_{S} K^{S\overline{T}_{\beta}} &= \frac{i \left(4 \hat{\xi} - \hat{k}_{0} s + 2 \mathcal{V}\right) \left(\hat{\xi} \left(3 k_{\beta} - s \hat{k}_{\beta}\right) + 4 s \mathcal{V} \hat{k}_{\beta}\right)}{2 \left(\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) \left(2 \mathcal{V} + \hat{\xi}\right)}} = -K_{\overline{G}^{a}} K^{\overline{G}^{a}T_{\beta}} ,\\ K_{G^{a}} K^{G^{a}\overline{T}_{\beta}} &= \frac{i s \hat{k}_{0} \left(\hat{\xi} \left(3 k_{\beta} - s \hat{k}_{\beta}\right) + 4 s \mathcal{V} \hat{k}_{\beta}\right)}{2 \left(\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) \left(2 \mathcal{V} + \hat{\xi}\right)} - 2 i s \hat{k}_{\beta} = -K_{\overline{G}^{a}} K^{\overline{G}^{a}T_{\beta}} ,\\ K_{T_{\alpha}} K^{T_{\alpha}\overline{T}_{\beta}} &= -\frac{i s k^{b}_{0} \left(\hat{\xi} \left(3 k_{\beta} - s \hat{k}_{\beta}\right) + 4 s \mathcal{V} \hat{k}_{\beta}\right)}{2 \left(\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) \left(2 \mathcal{V} + \hat{\xi}\right)} - 2 i s \hat{k}_{\beta} = -K_{\overline{G}^{a}} K^{\overline{G}^{a}T_{\beta}} ,\\ K_{T_{\alpha}} K^{T_{\alpha}\overline{T}_{\beta}} &= -\frac{i s k^{b}_{0} \left(\hat{\xi} \left(3 k_{\beta} - s \hat{k}_{\beta}\right) + 4 s \mathcal{V} \hat{k}_{\beta}\right)}{2 \left(\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) \left(2 \mathcal{V} + \hat{\xi}\right)} - 2 i s \hat{k}_{\beta} = -K_{\overline{G}^{a}} K^{\overline{G}^{a}T_{\beta}} ,\\ K_{T_{\alpha}} K^{T_{\alpha}\overline{T}_{\beta}} &= -\frac{i s k^{b}_{0} \left(8 \xi^{2} + \hat{k}_{0} \left(4 \mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) - 16 \mathcal{V}^{2} + 26 \hat{\xi} \mathcal{V}\right) \right] = -K_{\overline{T}_{\alpha}} K^{\overline{T}_{\alpha}T_{\beta}} . \quad (A.2)$$

In addition, one verifies that

$$K_{S} K^{S\overline{S}} K_{\overline{S}} = \frac{\left(4 \mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) \left(4 \hat{\xi} - \hat{k}_{0} s + 2 \mathcal{V}\right)^{2}}{4 \left(\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) \left(\hat{\xi} + 2 \mathcal{V}\right)^{2}}, \qquad (A.3)$$

$$K_{S} K^{S\overline{G}^{a}} K_{\overline{G}^{a}} = \frac{\hat{k}_{0} s \left(4 \mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) \left(4 \hat{\xi} - \hat{k}_{0} s + 2 \mathcal{V}\right)}{2 \left(\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) \left(\hat{\xi} + 2 \mathcal{V}\right)^{2}} = K_{G^{a}} K^{G^{a}\overline{S}} K_{\overline{S}}, \qquad (A.3)$$

$$K_{S} K^{S\overline{T}_{\alpha}} K_{\overline{T}_{\alpha}} = -\frac{\left(4 \hat{\xi} - \hat{k}_{0} s + 2 \mathcal{V}\right) \left(\hat{k}_{0} s \left(4 \mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) + 18 \hat{\xi} \mathcal{V}\right)}{4 \left(\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) \left(\hat{\xi} + 2 \mathcal{V}\right)^{2}} = K_{T_{\alpha}} K^{T_{\alpha}\overline{S}} K_{\overline{S}}, \qquad (A.3)$$

$$K_{G^{a}} K^{G^{a}\overline{G}^{b}} K_{\overline{G}^{b}} = \frac{\hat{k}_{0} s \left(\hat{k}_{0} s \left(4 \mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) - 4 \mathcal{V}^{2} + 2 \hat{\xi} \left(\hat{\xi} + \mathcal{V}\right)\right)}{\left(\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) \left(\hat{\xi} + 2 \mathcal{V}\right)^{2}}, \qquad (A.3)$$

$$K_{G^{a}} K^{G^{a}\overline{G}^{b}} K_{\overline{G}^{b}} = \frac{\hat{k}_{0} s \left(\hat{k}_{0} s \left(4 \mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) - 4 \mathcal{V}^{2} + 2 \hat{\xi} \left(\hat{\xi} + \mathcal{V}\right)\right)}{\left(\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) \left(\hat{\xi} + 2 \mathcal{V}\right)^{2}}, \qquad (A.3)$$

$$K_{G^{a}} K^{G^{a}\overline{G}^{a}} K_{\overline{G}^{b}} = \frac{\hat{k}_{0} s \left(\hat{k}_{0} s \left(4 \mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) - 4 \mathcal{V}^{2} + 2 \hat{\xi} \left(\hat{\xi} + \mathcal{V}\right)\right)}{2 \left(\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) \left(\hat{\xi} + 2 \mathcal{V}\right)^{2}} = K_{T_{\alpha}} K^{T_{\alpha}\overline{G}^{a}} K_{\overline{G}^{a}}, \qquad (A.3)$$

$$K_{T_{\alpha}} K^{T_{\alpha}\overline{T}_{\beta}} K_{\overline{T}_{\beta}} = \frac{\hat{k}_{0}^{2} s^{2} \left(4 \mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) + 4 \hat{k}_{0} s \left(2 \hat{\xi}^{2} - 4 \mathcal{V}^{2} + 11 \hat{\xi} \mathcal{V}\right) + 12 \mathcal{V} \left(4 \hat{\xi}^{2} + 4 \mathcal{V}^{2} + \hat{\xi} \mathcal{V}\right)}{4 \left(\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) \left(\hat{\xi} + 2 \mathcal{V}\right)^{2}}.$$

Note that we utilised the shorthand notations given in eq. (3.15). Also we used  $k_0 = k_{\alpha} t^{\alpha} = 6\mathcal{V}$  and  $\hat{k}_{\alpha} t^{\alpha} = \hat{k}_0 = -4\mathcal{Y}\mathcal{G}_{ab} b^a b^b$  following from the definitions of moduli space metrics in eq. (3.18).

In the context of two-step moduli stabilisation schemes, like KKLT and LVS, in which the complex structure moduli  $(U^i)$  and the axio-dilaton (S) are stabilised at the leading order, while the Kähler and odd moduli  $(T_{\alpha} \text{ and } G^a)$  are stabilised at subleading order, the following identities are commonly used

$$K_{A'} K^{A'\overline{B'}} K_{\overline{B'}} = \frac{3 \mathcal{V} \left(4 \hat{\xi}^2 + 4 \mathcal{V}^2 + \hat{\xi} \mathcal{V}\right)}{\left(\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) \left(\hat{\xi} + 2 \mathcal{V}\right)^2} + \frac{\hat{k}_0^2 s^2 \left(4 \mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) - 36 \hat{k}_0 \hat{\xi} s \mathcal{V}}{4 \left(\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) \left(\hat{\xi} + 2 \mathcal{V}\right)^2},$$
  
$$K_{A'} K^{A'\overline{B'}} K_{\overline{B'}} - 3 = \frac{3 \hat{\xi} \left(\mathcal{V}^2 + 7\hat{\xi} \mathcal{V} + \hat{\xi}^2\right)}{\left(\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) \left(\hat{\xi} + 2 \mathcal{V}\right)^2} + \frac{\hat{k}_0^2 s^2 \left(4 \mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) - 36 \hat{k}_0 \hat{\xi} s \mathcal{V}}{4 \left(\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}\right) \left(\hat{\xi} + 2 \mathcal{V}\right)^2}.$$
 (A.4)

Here, the sum over indices A' and B' runs over the  $\{T_{\alpha}, G^a\}$  chiral variables without the axio-dilaton (S).

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

## References

- M. Dine and N. Seiberg, Is the Superstring Weakly Coupled?, Phys. Lett. B 162 (1985) 299 [INSPIRE].
- [2] C. Vafa, The String landscape and the swampland, hep-th/0509212 [INSPIRE].
- [3] E. Palti, The Swampland: Introduction and Review, Fortsch. Phys. 67 (2019) 1900037 [arXiv:1903.06239] [INSPIRE].
- [4] S. Kachru, R. Kallosh, A.D. Linde and S.P. Trivedi, de Sitter vacua in string theory, Phys. Rev. D 68 (2003) 046005 [hep-th/0301240] [INSPIRE].
- [5] V. Balasubramanian, P. Berglund, J.P. Conlon and F. Quevedo, Systematics of moduli stabilisation in Calabi-Yau flux compactifications, JHEP 03 (2005) 007 [hep-th/0502058]
   [INSPIRE].
- [6] E. Silverstein and A. Westphal, Monodromy in the CMB: Gravity Waves and String Inflation, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 106003 [arXiv:0803.3085] [INSPIRE].
- [7] L. McAllister, E. Silverstein and A. Westphal, Gravity Waves and Linear Inflation from Axion Monodromy, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 046003 [arXiv:0808.0706] [INSPIRE].
- [8] D. Lüst, S. Reffert, E. Scheidegger, W. Schulgin and S. Stieberger, Moduli Stabilization in Type IIB Orientifolds (II), Nucl. Phys. B 766 (2007) 178 [hep-th/0609013] [INSPIRE].
- [9] D. Lüst, S. Reffert, E. Scheidegger and S. Stieberger, Resolved Toroidal Orbifolds and their Orientifolds, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 12 (2008) 67 [hep-th/0609014] [INSPIRE].
- T.W. Grimm, Axion inflation in type-II string theory, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 126007 [arXiv:0710.3883] [INSPIRE].
- [11] K. Hristov, Axion Stabilization in Type IIB Flux Compactifications, JHEP 01 (2009) 046
   [arXiv:0810.3329] [INSPIRE].
- [12] R. Flauger, L. McAllister, E. Pajer, A. Westphal and G. Xu, Oscillations in the CMB from Axion Monodromy Inflation, JCAP 06 (2010) 009 [arXiv:0907.2916] [INSPIRE].
- [13] X. Gao and P. Shukla, F-term Stabilization of Odd Axions in LARGE Volume Scenario, Nucl. Phys. B 878 (2014) 269 [arXiv:1307.1141] [INSPIRE].
- [14] C. Long, L. McAllister and P. McGuirk, Aligned Natural Inflation in String Theory, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 023501 [arXiv:1404.7852] [INSPIRE].
- [15] X. Gao, T. Li and P. Shukla, Combining Universal and Odd RR Axions for Aligned Natural Inflation, JCAP 10 (2014) 048 [arXiv:1406.0341] [INSPIRE].
- [16] I. Ben-Dayan, F.G. Pedro and A. Westphal, Towards Natural Inflation in String Theory, Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) 023515 [arXiv:1407.2562] [INSPIRE].
- [17] E. McDonough and S. Alexander, Observable Chiral Gravitational Waves from Inflation in String Theory, JCAP 11 (2018) 030 [arXiv:1806.05684] [INSPIRE].
- [18] F. Carta, N. Righi, Y. Welling and A. Westphal, Harmonic hybrid inflation, JHEP 12 (2020) 161 [arXiv:2007.04322] [INSPIRE].
- [19] R. Blumenhagen, V. Braun, T.W. Grimm and T. Weigand, GUTs in Type IIB Orientifold Compactifications, Nucl. Phys. B 815 (2009) 1 [arXiv:0811.2936] [INSPIRE].

- [20] M. Cicoli, S. Krippendorf, C. Mayrhofer, F. Quevedo and R. Valandro, *D-Branes at del Pezzo Singularities: Global Embedding and Moduli Stabilisation*, *JHEP* 09 (2012) 019 [arXiv:1206.5237] [INSPIRE].
- M. Cicoli, S. Krippendorf, C. Mayrhofer, F. Quevedo and R. Valandro, D3/D7 Branes at Singularities: Constraints from Global Embedding and Moduli Stabilisation, JHEP 07 (2013) 150 [arXiv:1304.0022] [INSPIRE].
- [22] M. Cicoli, S. Krippendorf, C. Mayrhofer, F. Quevedo and R. Valandro, The Web of D-branes at Singularities in Compact Calabi-Yau Manifolds, JHEP 05 (2013) 114 [arXiv:1304.2771] [INSPIRE].
- [23] X. Gao and P. Shukla, On Classifying the Divisor Involutions in Calabi-Yau Threefolds, JHEP 11 (2013) 170 [arXiv:1307.1139] [INSPIRE].
- [24] F. Carta, J. Moritz and A. Westphal, A landscape of orientifold vacua, JHEP 05 (2020) 107 [arXiv:2003.04902] [INSPIRE].
- [25] I. Benmachiche and T.W. Grimm, Generalized N = 1 orientifold compactifications and the Hitchin functionals, Nucl. Phys. B 748 (2006) 200 [hep-th/0602241] [INSPIRE].
- [26] D. Robbins and T. Wrase, D-terms from generalized NS-NS fluxes in type-II, JHEP 12 (2007) 058 [arXiv:0709.2186] [INSPIRE].
- [27] P. Shukla, On modular completion of generalized flux orbits, JHEP 11 (2015) 075 [arXiv:1505.00544] [INSPIRE].
- [28] P. Shukla, Implementing odd-axions in dimensional oxidation of 4D non-geometric type IIB scalar potential, Nucl. Phys. B 902 (2016) 458 [arXiv:1507.01612] [INSPIRE].
- [29] R. Blumenhagen et al., A Flux-Scaling Scenario for High-Scale Moduli Stabilization in String Theory, Nucl. Phys. B 897 (2015) 500 [arXiv:1503.07634] [INSPIRE].
- [30] R. Blumenhagen, A. Font and E. Plauschinn, Relating double field theory to the scalar potential of N = 2 gauged supergravity, JHEP 12 (2015) 122 [arXiv:1507.08059] [INSPIRE].
- [31] P. Shukla, A symplectic rearrangement of the four dimensional non-geometric scalar potential, JHEP 11 (2015) 162 [arXiv:1508.01197] [INSPIRE].
- [32] P. Shukla, Reading off the nongeometric scalar potentials via the topological data of the compactifying Calabi-Yau manifolds, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 086003 [arXiv:1603.01290]
   [INSPIRE].
- [33] P. Shukla, Revisiting the two formulations of Bianchi identities and their implications on moduli stabilization, JHEP 08 (2016) 146 [arXiv:1603.08545] [INSPIRE].
- [34] E. Plauschinn, Non-geometric backgrounds in string theory, Phys. Rept. **798** (2019) 1 [arXiv:1811.11203] [INSPIRE].
- [35] P. Shukla, Dictionary for the type-II nongeometric flux compactifications, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 086009 [arXiv:1909.07391] [INSPIRE].
- [36] T.W. Grimm and J. Louis, The Effective action of N = 1 Calabi-Yau orientifolds, Nucl. Phys. B 699 (2004) 387 [hep-th/0403067] [INSPIRE].
- [37] S.B. Giddings, S. Kachru and J. Polchinski, *Hierarchies from fluxes in string compactifications*, *Phys. Rev. D* 66 (2002) 106006 [hep-th/0105097] [INSPIRE].
- [38] K. Becker, M. Becker, M. Haack and J. Louis, Supersymmetry breaking and alpha-prime corrections to flux induced potentials, JHEP 06 (2002) 060 [hep-th/0204254] [INSPIRE].

- [39] O. DeWolfe and S.B. Giddings, Scales and hierarchies in warped compactifications and brane worlds, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 066008 [hep-th/0208123] [INSPIRE].
- [40] R. D'Auria, S. Ferrara and M. Trigiante, C-map, very special quaternionic geometry and dual Kähler spaces, Phys. Lett. B 587 (2004) 138 [hep-th/0401161] [INSPIRE].
- [41] R. D'Auria, S. Ferrara and M. Trigiante, Homogeneous special manifolds, orientifolds and solvable coordinates, Nucl. Phys. B 693 (2004) 261 [hep-th/0403204] [INSPIRE].
- [42] T.W. Grimm, The Effective action of type-II Calabi-Yau orientifolds, Fortsch. Phys. 53 (2005) 1179 [hep-th/0507153] [INSPIRE].
- [43] S. Gukov, C. Vafa and E. Witten, CFT's from Calabi-Yau four folds, Nucl. Phys. B 584 (2000) 69 [Erratum ibid. 608 (2001) 477] [hep-th/9906070] [INSPIRE].
- [44] J.P. Conlon, The QCD axion and moduli stabilisation, JHEP 05 (2006) 078
   [hep-th/0602233] [INSPIRE].
- [45] T.W. Grimm, Non-Perturbative Corrections and Modularity in N = 1 Type IIB Compactifications, JHEP 10 (2007) 004 [arXiv:0705.3253] [INSPIRE].
- [46] T.W. Grimm, M. Kerstan, E. Palti and T. Weigand, On Fluxed Instantons and Moduli Stabilisation in IIB Orientifolds and F-theory, Phys. Rev. D 84 (2011) 066001 [arXiv:1105.3193] [INSPIRE].
- [47] S. AbdusSalam, S. Abel, M. Cicoli, F. Quevedo and P. Shukla, A systematic approach to Kähler moduli stabilisation, JHEP 08 (2020) 047 [arXiv:2005.11329] [INSPIRE].
- [48] X.G. Wen and E. Witten, World Sheet Instantons and the Peccei-Quinn Symmetry, Phys. Lett. B 166 (1986) 397 [INSPIRE].
- [49] M.T. Grisaru, W. Siegel and M. Roček, Improved Methods for Supergraphs, Nucl. Phys. B 159 (1979) 429 [INSPIRE].
- [50] M. Dine and N. Seiberg, Nonrenormalization Theorems in Superstring Theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 57 (1986) 2625 [INSPIRE].
- [51] C.P. Burgess, C. Escoda and F. Quevedo, Nonrenormalization of flux superpotentials in string theory, JHEP 06 (2006) 044 [hep-th/0510213] [INSPIRE].
- [52] E. Witten, Nonperturbative superpotentials in string theory, Nucl. Phys. B 474 (1996) 343
   [hep-th/9604030] [INSPIRE].
- [53] J. Shelton, W. Taylor and B. Wecht, Nongeometric flux compactifications, JHEP 10 (2005) 085 [hep-th/0508133] [INSPIRE].
- [54] J. Shelton, W. Taylor and B. Wecht, Generalized Flux Vacua, JHEP 02 (2007) 095 [hep-th/0607015] [INSPIRE].
- [55] G. Aldazabal, P.G. Cámara, A. Font and L.E. Ibáñez, More dual fluxes and moduli fixing, JHEP 05 (2006) 070 [hep-th/0602089] [INSPIRE].
- [56] A. Guarino and G.J. Weatherill, Non-geometric flux vacua, S-duality and algebraic geometry, JHEP 02 (2009) 042 [arXiv:0811.2190] [INSPIRE].
- [57] R. Blumenhagen, X. Gao, D. Herschmann and P. Shukla, Dimensional Oxidation of Non-geometric Fluxes in Type II Orientifolds, JHEP 10 (2013) 201 [arXiv:1306.2761]
   [INSPIRE].

- [58] V.A. Novikov, M.A. Shifman, A.I. Vainshtein, M.B. Voloshin and V.I. Zakharov, Supersymmetry Transformations of Instantons, Nucl. Phys. B 229 (1983) 394 [INSPIRE].
- [59] V.A. Novikov, M.A. Shifman, A.I. Vainshtein and V.I. Zakharov, Instanton Effects in Supersymmetric Theories, Nucl. Phys. B 229 (1983) 407 [INSPIRE].
- [60] S. Ferrara, L. Girardello and H.P. Nilles, Breakdown of Local Supersymmetry Through Gauge Fermion Condensates, Phys. Lett. B 125 (1983) 457 [INSPIRE].
- [61] S. Hosono, A. Klemm, S. Theisen and S.-T. Yau, Mirror symmetry, mirror map and applications to Calabi-Yau hypersurfaces, Commun. Math. Phys. 167 (1995) 301 [hep-th/9308122] [INSPIRE].
- [62] S. Hosono, A. Klemm, S. Theisen and S.-T. Yau, Mirror symmetry, mirror map and applications to complete intersection Calabi-Yau spaces, Nucl. Phys. B 433 (1995) 501 [hep-th/9406055] [INSPIRE].
- [63] D.A. Cox and S. Katz, Mathematical Surveys and Monographs. Vol. 68: Mirror symmetry and algebraic geometry, AMS Press, New York U.S.A. (1999).
- [64] B. Bastian, T.W. Grimm and D. van de Heisteeg, Modeling General Asymptotic Calabi-Yau Periods, arXiv:2105.02232 [INSPIRE].
- [65] D.R. Morrison, Picard-Fuchs equations and mirror maps for hypersurfaces, AMS/IP Stud. Adv. Math. 9 (1998) 185 [hep-th/9111025] [INSPIRE].
- [66] S. Hosono, A. Klemm and S. Theisen, Lectures on mirror symmetry, Lect. Notes Phys. 436 (1994) 235 [hep-th/9403096] [INSPIRE].
- [67] P. Mayr, Phases of supersymmetric D-branes on Kähler manifolds and the McKay correspondence, JHEP 01 (2001) 018 [hep-th/0010223] [INSPIRE].
- [68] T.W. Grimm, T.-W. Ha, A. Klemm and D. Klevers, Computing Brane and Flux Superpotentials in F-theory Compactifications, JHEP 04 (2010) 015 [arXiv:0909.2025] [INSPIRE].
- [69] R. Gopakumar and C. Vafa, *M theory and topological strings*. 1, hep-th/9809187 [INSPIRE].
- [70] R. Gopakumar and C. Vafa, M theory and topological strings. 2, hep-th/9812127 [INSPIRE].
- [71] K. Bobkov, Volume stabilization via alpha-prime corrections in type IIB theory with fluxes, JHEP 05 (2005) 010 [hep-th/0412239] [INSPIRE].
- [72] R. Minasian, T.G. Pugh and R. Savelli, *F*-theory at order  $\alpha'^3$ , *JHEP* **10** (2015) 050 [arXiv:1506.06756] [INSPIRE].
- [73] M.B. Green, M. Gutperle and P. Vanhove, One loop in eleven-dimensions, Phys. Lett. B 409 (1997) 177 [hep-th/9706175] [INSPIRE].
- [74] D. Robles-Llana, M. Roček, F. Saueressig, U. Theis and S. Vandoren, Nonperturbative corrections to 4D string theory effective actions from SL(2,Z) duality and supersymmetry, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **98** (2007) 211602 [hep-th/0612027] [INSPIRE].
- [75] M. Berg, M. Haack and B. Körs, String loop corrections to Kähler potentials in orientifolds, JHEP 11 (2005) 030 [hep-th/0508043] [INSPIRE].
- [76] M. Cicoli, J.P. Conlon and F. Quevedo, Systematics of String Loop Corrections in Type IIB Calabi-Yau Flux Compactifications, JHEP 01 (2008) 052 [arXiv:0708.1873] [INSPIRE].

- [77] D.J. Gross and E. Witten, Superstring Modifications of Einstein's Equations, Nucl. Phys. B 277 (1986) 1 [INSPIRE].
- [78] M.B. Green and J.H. Schwarz, Supersymmetrical Dual String Theory. 3. Loops and Renormalization, Nucl. Phys. B 198 (1982) 441 [INSPIRE].
- [79] M.B. Green and M. Gutperle, Effects of D instantons, Nucl. Phys. B 498 (1997) 195 [hep-th/9701093] [INSPIRE].
- [80] J.T. Liu and R. Minasian, Higher-derivative couplings in string theory: five-point contact terms, Nucl. Phys. B 967 (2021) 115386 [arXiv:1912.10974] [INSPIRE].
- [81] P. Shukla, Rigid nongeometric orientifolds and the swampland, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 086010 [arXiv:1909.10993] [INSPIRE].
- [82] I. Ben-Dayan, F.G. Pedro and A. Westphal, *Hierarchical Axion Inflation*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 113 (2014) 261301 [arXiv:1404.7773] [INSPIRE].
- [83] A. Cole, A. Schachner and G. Shiu, Searching the Landscape of Flux Vacua with Genetic Algorithms, JHEP 11 (2019) 045 [arXiv:1907.10072] [INSPIRE].
- [84] S. Krippendorf, R. Kroepsch and M. Syvaeri, *Revealing systematics in phenomenologically viable flux vacua with reinforcement learning*, arXiv:2107.04039 [INSPIRE].
- [85] M. Cicoli, C.P. Burgess and F. Quevedo, Anisotropic Modulus Stabilisation: Strings at LHC Scales with Micron-sized Extra Dimensions, JHEP 10 (2011) 119 [arXiv:1105.2107]
   [INSPIRE].
- [86] M. Cicoli, C.P. Burgess and F. Quevedo, Fibre Inflation: Observable Gravity Waves from IIB String Compactifications, JCAP 03 (2009) 013 [arXiv:0808.0691] [INSPIRE].
- [87] D. Gallego, M.C.D. Marsh, B. Vercnocke and T. Wrase, A New Class of de Sitter Vacua in Type IIB Large Volume Compactifications, JHEP 10 (2017) 193 [arXiv:1707.01095]
   [INSPIRE].
- [88] R. Blumenhagen, D. Herschmann and E. Plauschinn, The Challenge of Realizing F-term Axion Monodromy Inflation in String Theory, JHEP 01 (2015) 007 [arXiv:1409.7075] [INSPIRE].
- [89] X. Gao and P. Shukla, Dimensional oxidation and modular completion of non-geometric type IIB action, JHEP 05 (2015) 018 [arXiv:1501.07248] [INSPIRE].
- [90] M. Bianchi, A. Collinucci and L. Martucci, Freezing E3-brane instantons with fluxes, Fortsch. Phys. 60 (2012) 914 [arXiv:1202.5045] [INSPIRE].
- [91] M. Bianchi, A. Collinucci and L. Martucci, Magnetized E3-brane instantons in F-theory, JHEP 12 (2011) 045 [arXiv:1107.3732] [INSPIRE].
- [92] R. Blumenhagen, X. Gao, T. Rahn and P. Shukla, A Note on Poly-Instanton Effects in Type IIB Orientifolds on Calabi-Yau Threefolds, JHEP 06 (2012) 162 [arXiv:1205.2485] [INSPIRE].
- [93] M. Demirtas, M. Kim, L. McAllister, J. Moritz and A. Rios-Tascon, Small cosmological constants in string theory, JHEP 12 (2021) 136 [arXiv:2107.09064] [INSPIRE].
- [94] P. Breitenlohner and D.Z. Freedman, Stability in Gauged Extended Supergravity, Annals Phys. 144 (1982) 249 [INSPIRE].
- [95] R. Blumenhagen, S. Moster and E. Plauschinn, Moduli Stabilisation versus Chirality for MSSM like Type IIB Orientifolds, JHEP 01 (2008) 058 [arXiv:0711.3389] [INSPIRE].

- [96] M. Graña, J. Louis and D. Waldram, SU(3) × SU(3) compactification and mirror duals of magnetic fluxes, JHEP 04 (2007) 101 [hep-th/0612237] [INSPIRE].
- [97] M. Berg, E. Pajer and S. Sjors, *Dante's Inferno*, *Phys. Rev. D* 81 (2010) 103535
   [arXiv:0912.1341] [INSPIRE].
- [98] M. Cicoli, F. Quevedo, A. Schachner and P. Shukla, *String inflation with odd axions*, work in progress.
- [99] M. Demirtas, C. Long, L. McAllister and M. Stillman, The Kreuzer-Skarke Axiverse, JHEP 04 (2020) 138 [arXiv:1808.01282] [INSPIRE].
- [100] V.M. Mehta, M. Demirtas, C. Long, D.J.E. Marsh, L. McAllister and M.J. Stott, Superradiance in string theory, JCAP 07 (2021) 033 [arXiv:2103.06812] [INSPIRE].
- [101] I. Broeckel, M. Cicoli, A. Maharana, K. Singh and K. Sinha, Moduli stabilisation and the statistics of axion physics in the landscape, JHEP 08 (2021) 059 [Addendum ibid. 01 (2022) 191] [arXiv:2105.02889] [INSPIRE].
- [102] D.J.E. Marsh, Axion Cosmology, Phys. Rept. 643 (2016) 1 [arXiv:1510.07633] [INSPIRE].
- [103] J.E. Kim, H.P. Nilles and M. Peloso, Completing natural inflation, JCAP 01 (2005) 005 [hep-ph/0409138] [INSPIRE].
- [104] P. Svrček and E. Witten, Axions In String Theory, JHEP 06 (2006) 051 [hep-th/0605206]
   [INSPIRE].
- [105] A. Arvanitaki, S. Dimopoulos, S. Dubovsky, N. Kaloper and J. March-Russell, String Axiverse, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 123530 [arXiv:0905.4720] [INSPIRE].
- [106] M. Cicoli, M. Goodsell and A. Ringwald, The type IIB string axiverse and its low-energy phenomenology, JHEP 10 (2012) 146 [arXiv:1206.0819] [INSPIRE].
- [107] E. Pajer and M. Peloso, A review of Axion Inflation in the era of Planck, Class. Quant. Grav. 30 (2013) 214002 [arXiv:1305.3557] [INSPIRE].
- [108] D. Baumann and L. McAllister, Inflation and String Theory, Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, U.K. (2015), [arXiv:1404.2601] [INSPIRE].
- [109] M. Cicoli, F.G. Pedro and G. Tasinato, Poly-instanton Inflation, JCAP 12 (2011) 022 [arXiv:1110.6182] [INSPIRE].
- [110] R. Blumenhagen, X. Gao, T. Rahn and P. Shukla, Moduli Stabilization and Inflationary Cosmology with Poly-Instantons in Type IIB Orientifolds, JHEP 11 (2012) 101
   [arXiv:1208.1160] [INSPIRE].
- [111] L. Hui, J.P. Ostriker, S. Tremaine and E. Witten, Ultralight scalars as cosmological dark matter, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 043541 [arXiv:1610.08297] [INSPIRE].
- [112] M. Cicoli, J.P. Conlon and F. Quevedo, Dark radiation in LARGE volume models, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 043520 [arXiv:1208.3562] [INSPIRE].
- [113] T. Higaki and F. Takahashi, Dark Radiation and Dark Matter in Large Volume Compactifications, JHEP 11 (2012) 125 [arXiv:1208.3563] [INSPIRE].
- [114] A. Hebecker, P. Mangat, F. Rompineve and L.T. Witkowski, Dark Radiation predictions from general Large Volume Scenarios, JHEP 09 (2014) 140 [arXiv:1403.6810] [INSPIRE].

- [115] M. Cicoli and F. Muia, General Analysis of Dark Radiation in Sequestered String Models, JHEP 12 (2015) 152 [arXiv:1511.05447] [INSPIRE].
- [116] N. Kaloper and L. Sorbo, Of PNGB quintessence, JCAP 04 (2006) 007 [astro-ph/0511543] [INSPIRE].
- [117] N. Kaloper and L. Sorbo, Where in the String Landscape is Quintessence, Phys. Rev. D 79 (2009) 043528 [arXiv:0810.5346] [INSPIRE].
- [118] S. Panda, Y. Sumitomo and S.P. Trivedi, Axions as Quintessence in String Theory, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 083506 [arXiv:1011.5877] [INSPIRE].
- [119] M. Cicoli, F.G. Pedro and G. Tasinato, Natural Quintessence in String Theory, JCAP 07 (2012) 044 [arXiv:1203.6655] [INSPIRE].
- [120] J. Blåbäck, U. Danielsson and G. Dibitetto, Accelerated Universes from type IIA Compactifications, JCAP 03 (2014) 003 [arXiv:1310.8300] [INSPIRE].
- [121] G. D'Amico, N. Kaloper and A. Lawrence, Strongly Coupled Quintessence, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 103504 [arXiv:1809.05109] [INSPIRE].
- [122] M. Cicoli, J.P. Conlon, M.C.D. Marsh and M. Rummel, 3.55 keV photon line and its morphology from a 3.55 keV axionlike particle line, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 023540 [arXiv:1403.2370] [INSPIRE].
- [123] M. Cicoli, V.A. Diaz, V. Guidetti and M. Rummel, The 3.5 keV Line from Stringy Axions, JHEP 10 (2017) 192 [arXiv:1707.02987] [INSPIRE].
- [124] D. Robles-Llana, M. Roček, F. Saueressig, U. Theis and S. Vandoren, Nonperturbative corrections to 4D string theory effective actions from SL(2, Z) duality and supersymmetry, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **98** (2007) 211602 [hep-th/0612027] [INSPIRE].
- [125] M. Demirtas, M. Kim, L. Mcallister and J. Moritz, Vacua with Small Flux Superpotential, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124 (2020) 211603 [arXiv:1912.10047] [INSPIRE].
- [126] B. Bastian, T.W. Grimm and D. van de Heisteeg, Engineering Small Flux Superpotentials and Mass Hierarchies, arXiv:2108.11962 [INSPIRE].
- [127] M. Cicoli, I.G. Etxebarria, F. Quevedo, A. Schachner, P. Shukla and R. Valandro, The Standard Model quiver in de Sitter string compactifications, JHEP 08 (2021) 109 [arXiv:2106.11964] [INSPIRE].
- [128] M. Cicoli, F. Quevedo and R. Valandro, de Sitter from T-branes, JHEP 03 (2016) 141 [arXiv:1512.04558] [INSPIRE].
- [129] V. Balasubramanian and P. Berglund, Stringy corrections to Kähler potentials, SUSY breaking, and the cosmological constant problem, JHEP 11 (2004) 085 [hep-th/0408054]
   [INSPIRE].
- [130] A. Westphal, de Sitter string vacua from Kähler uplifting, JHEP 03 (2007) 102 [hep-th/0611332] [INSPIRE].
- S.S. AbdusSalam, J.P. Conlon, F. Quevedo and K. Suruliz, Scanning the Landscape of Flux Compactifications: Vacuum Structure and Soft Supersymmetry Breaking, JHEP 12 (2007) 036 [arXiv:0709.0221] [INSPIRE].
- [132] J. Blåbäck, D. Roest and I. Zavala, de Sitter Vacua from Nonperturbative Flux Compactifications, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 024065 [arXiv:1312.5328] [INSPIRE].